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Forward-looking statements (the “Statements”) contained in this Annual 
Report (the “Report”) relating to the forecast business plans, prospects, 
financial forecasting, and growth strategies of Strong Petrochemical 
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the 
“Group”). These Statements are based on information currently available 
to the Group and are stated herein on the basis of the outlook at the time 
of this Report. They are based on certain expectations, assumptions and 
premises, some of which are subjective or beyond our control. These 
Statements may prove to be incorrect and may not be realised in 
future. Underlying these Statements are a large number of risks 
and uncertainties. In light of the risks and uncertainties, the 
inclusion of the Statements in this Report should not be 
regarded as representations by the board of directors of 
the Company or the Company that the plans and 
objectives will be achieved, and investors should 
not place undue reliance on such Statements.
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of Strong Petrochemical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the last five financial years is set out below:

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
      

Results (HK$’000)

Revenue 923,115 810,612 6,572,314 17,356,253 22,810,604
      

Profit (loss) before taxation 13,562 13,920 (65,120) 124,125 8,227

Income tax expense (7,828) (7,696) (19,294) 57 (776)
      

Profit (loss) for the year 5,734 6,224 (84,414) 124,182 7,451
      

Assets and Liabilities (HK$’000)

Total assets 1,478,578 1,628,476 1,747,967 3,872,982 3,663,110

Total liabilities (82,449) (189,615) (326,339) (2,365,018) (2,289,159)
      

Total equity 1,396,129 1,438,861 1,421,628 1,507,964 1,373,951
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To all shareholders,

It is my pleasure to present the audited consolidated financial results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the 
“year”).

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022 was approximately Hong Kong (“HK”) dollar (“HK$”) 923.1 million (2021: 
approximately HK$810.6 million). Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year was approximately HK$6.2 
million (2021: approximately HK$6.2 million).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
Trading of Commodities
After cautious consideration about the limited opportunities in the market, the Group has decided not to perform trading 
transactions for crude oil commodities in year 2022. Instead, the Group has concentrated its available fundings and taken 
initiative to develop and maintain the trading businesses of petroleum products, petrochemicals and coal during the year.

As a trader of commodities with certain storage businesses, we remained judicious and careful in our trading business in view 
of the development of the energy trading market. In early 2022, the international oil price was hit by international military 
conflicts and the fears that global economic recession would dent demand of oil related commodities. However, oil price rose 
significantly in March 2022 in response to the United States of America (the “US”)’s ban on Russian fossil fuel exports, and 
then dropped by mid-March amid worries over demand after the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), the world’s largest 
oil importer, implemented new COVID-19 lockdowns. In June 2022, oil price gradually rebounded to above United States 
dollar (“US$”) 100 per barrel (“BBL”) on supply concerns after the European Union and other countries joined the US to 
impose extended sanctions on Russian oil imports, together with the anticipated rebound of demand from the PRC. Oil price 
fluctuated extraordinarily throughout the year due to the numerous conflicting factors of supply and demand of oil. Thus, the 
Group decided to remain the adoption of a conservative approach on the trading of commodities.

2022 was another challenging year to the Group. In view of the volatile commodities market condition with uncertain price 
trend, our trading teams focused on back-to-back trade arrangement instead of keeping inventories so as to minimise the 
inventory risk. Facing the economic uncertainty, we strove to maintain business relationships with our key customers, and 
looked for new business opportunities simultaneously. In view of the recovered demand in the PRC, we made every endeavor 
to strengthen domestic trading network and explore our sales channels in the PRC for the trading of petrochemicals. During 
the year, our coal team has sustained every effort to develop and boost its coal business in the markets of Vietnam and 
achieved satisfactory results.

Storage and Other Ancillary Services for Petroleum Products and Petrochemicals and Leases
Strong Petrochemical (Nantong) Logistics Company Ltd. (“Strong Nantong”), our indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, operates 
its storage facilities with 21 storage tanks and a capacity of 139,000 cubic meters in Jiangsu Province, the PRC. During the 
year, Strong Nantong continued to develop business relationship with long-term core customers. Thanks to the higher service 
fee premium and higher utilisation rate of storage tanks, Strong Nantong reported record high results in storage revenue and 
net profit in the year. We are optimistic that Strong Nantong can maintain its profitability in the coming years and secure a 
stable revenue stream for the Group.

Prospects
For the investment in SH Energy Fund 1 (“SH Energy”), the Group expects that it can benefit from diversifying its revenue 
stream through investments in oil and gas assets and companies which demonstrate a strong performance record, which will 
in turn broaden the Group’s revenue base in the future. In 2022, the Tianjin oil fields project of SH Energy continued to be 
profitable and generated positive cash flows. We believe that there is a good prospect for the performance of SH Energy with 
the continual increase in production output of such oil fields and the steady rise of international oil price due to the improved 
demand of oil and oil related commodities.
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Quality Global Holdings Limited (“Quality Global”), our indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, acquired the entire share capital of 
Copower Properties Investments Company Limited (“Copower Properties”) which owns properties in Hong Kong Special 
Administrative Region of the PRC (“Hong Kong”) in August 2020. Considering the latest ease of COVID-19 restrictions in the 
PRC and Hong Kong, it is expected that Hong Kong’s commercial leasing and investment markets will recover gradually. 
Simultaneously, the Group expects that the properties will generate a sufficiently good and recurrent lease income for the 
Group.

Fujian Hong Kong Petrochemical Limited (“Fujian Petrochemical”), our indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, was established in 
Quanzhou City, Fujian Province, the PRC in April 2019 with principal activities of manufacturing and trading of 
petrochemicals. Fujian Petrochemical is setting up a petrochemicals manufacturing plant (the “Fujian Plant”) in Fujian 
Province of the PRC. Due to delay in construction progress affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, the expected 
commencement date of operation of the Fujian Plant will be deferred to the fourth quarter of 2023. Fujian Petrochemical is 
currently developing a two phases production project for a petrochemical product named Styrene Ethylene Butylene Styrene 
Thermoplastic Elastomer (the “SEBS Project”), with expected annual production scale of 50,000 metric tons (“MT”). The SEBS 
Project has been listed as one of the PRC’s local provincial key projects. With the strong and solid support from the local 
government, we are positive and optimistic about the development of the SEBS Project and future product sales.

The Hong Kong Government has been promoting sustainable finance and environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) 
policies and regulations to corporations in recent years. Investors start to place more emphasis on factors other than simply 
investment returns such as environmental impact and social responsibility. Companies that are concerned about ESG and 
green investments have become more watchful in the fluctuating market conditions in this pandemic period, thus prompting 
investors to pay extra attention to investing in issues such as ESG. To further diversify its businesses, the Group has made an 
entrance to the new energy industry by exploring the solar energy market in Hong Kong cautiously and looking for 
investment opportunities for the initiation of the solar energy business which focuses on installation of solar energy systems. 
Renewable energy such as solar energy is getting more popular in recent years. However, solar energy still accounts for only a 
very small percentage of the total electricity generation in Hong Kong. To promote the reduction of carbon emissions, the 
number of solar energy systems installations is expected to grow steadily in the coming years. We remain positive about the 
growth of our solar energy business and strive to overcome major difficulties such as the increasing installation costs, supplies 
of premises, land availability and grid connection. Looking forward, the Group is optimistic about the value growth of solar 
energy market and expects that the investment in solar energy business will generate a stable and sustainable revenue for the 
Group in the long run.

As we stand firm at the new starting point and step aboard on our new journey, we will forge ahead despite obstacles and 
difficulties, remain undaunted and make every effort to bring quality development to the Group. Looking ahead to the 
challenging year, we will try our very best to closely monitor changes in the macro economic environment and formulate 
appropriate business strategies to develop our businesses and diversify risks. We will continue to look for new opportunities 
to maximise our shareholders’ return.

APPRECIATION
Finally, on behalf of the board of directors of the Company (“Directors”, collectively, the “Board”), I would like to take this 
opportunity to deliver my heartfelt thanks to our shareholders and business partners for their understanding and continued 
support to the Group. My gratitude also goes to our fellow colleagues and Directors for their courage, commitment and 
contribution.

Wang Jian Sheng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 March 2023
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BUSINESS REVIEW
Trading of Commodities
The fade out of prolonged effects of COVID-19 pandemic, reduction of international military conflicts intensity and the 

expectation of economic restart casted positive impacts on the Group’s trading activities. In response to the current market 

condition, for the sake of a more prudent and cautious decision-making approach in the trading of commodities, the Group 

continued to focus on back-to-back trade arrangement and keep a low level of inventories to minimise inventory risk. We 

strove to maintain business relationships with our key customers, and looked for new business opportunities in the meantime. 

During the year, the Group did not conduct trades for crude oil as it adopted a conservative approach and chose to stay calm 

during this undetermined period and keep an eye on profitable trading opportunities. The major cause of increase in revenue 

generated from trading of petrochemicals was due to the recovered demand in the PRC market and strengthened 

cooperation with state-owned enterprises and new customers. As a result, the trading volume of petrochemicals recorded an 

increase. The trading volume of coal increased slightly mainly because of the recovered demand from the Vietnam power 

plants under the fade out of the pandemic. The decreases in revenue and trading volume of petroleum products were due to 

the low profit margin in back-to-back trade. Therefore, we have shifted our focus to petrochemicals trading business.

Storage and Other Ancillary Services for Petroleum Products and Petrochemicals and Leases
Strong Nantong, our indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, provides storage services with 21 storage tanks and a capacity of 

139,000 cubic meters. Strong Nantong is principally engaged in providing storage services for gas oil and diesel fuel. The 

total throughput increased from approximately 1,919,000 MT in 2021 to approximately 1,979,000 MT in 2022. During the 

year, Strong Nantong has achieved record high result in both revenue and profit before taxation due to its ability to charge 

for higher service fee premium and the increase in utilisation rate of storage tanks. By increasing the percentage of long-term 

lease storage, reducing temporary storage lease, and by introducing new customers and expanding customer base, Strong 

Nantong continued to generate higher income from the storage business.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue
Trading of commodities

The Group is principally engaged in the trading of commodities. The revenue from trading business of the Group was 
approximately HK$879.9 million (2021: approximately HK$772.1 million) for the year. Approximately 68% (2021: 58%) of 
the Group’s revenue from trading business was generated from trading of petrochemicals for the year, while the revenue 
generated from trading of petroleum products was approximately 4% (2021: 15%). Revenue generated from trading of coal 
was approximately 28% (2021: 27%).

Analysis of revenue in percentage to total revenue from trading business by types of commodities:

2022 2021

4%

68%

28%

15%

58%

27%

Trading of petroleum products

Trading of petrochemicals

Trading of coal

Trading of petroleum products

Trading of petrochemicals

Trading of coal
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Due to our shift in focus to petrochemicals, the trading volume of petroleum products decreased significantly from 14,701 
MT last year to 3,660 MT for the year. The trading volume of petrochemicals increased from 78,632 MT last year to 93,878 
MT for the year since the demand in the PRC market recovered. The trading volume of coal increased slightly from 312,735 
MT last year to 341,926 MT for the year.

Year ended 31 December

2022 2021

Products Unit
Number of

contracts
Sales

quantity
Revenue
HK$’000

Number of
contracts

Sales
quantity

Revenue
HK$’000

        

Trading of commodities
Petroleum products MT 2 3,660 31,386 4 14,701 118,300
Petrochemicals MT 187 93,878 602,587 225 78,632 448,981
Coal MT 11 341,926 245,880 9 312,735 204,787
        

Total 200 879,853 238 772,068
        

Storage and other ancillary services for petroleum products and petrochemicals and leases

Revenue generated from the provision of general storage and other ancillary services for petroleum products and 
petrochemicals was approximately HK$31.0 million for the year (2021: approximately HK$26.0 million). Approximately 74% 
(2021: 63%) of the Group’s revenue from storage business was generated from general storage services. Other ancillary 
services, such as pipeline transmission, waste treatment and vehicle loading, accounted for approximately 26% (2021: 37%) 
of the Group’s revenue from storage business.

Revenue generated from leases was approximately HK$12.2 million (2021: approximately HK$12.6 million) for the year.

Fair Value Changes on Derivative Financial Instruments

The Group has established trading teams to manage the overall physical cargo price exposure and controls it through 
offsetting oil derivative contracts according to the Group’s risk management policies. As part of our stringent control process, 
a daily reporting system is adopted for all physical and derivative contracts. Such risk control system enables effective and 
timely management of the Group’s market risk exposure.

During the year, the Group reported an aggregate gain on fair value changes on derivative financial instruments of 
approximately HK$21.8 million (2021: approximately HK$72.0 million).

Gross Profit
The overall gross profit of the Group for the year decreased to approximately HK$33.4 million (2021: approximately HK$38.4 
million). The slight decrease in gross profit was mainly due to the adverse economic environment.

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company
Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year was approximately HK$6.2 million (2021: approximately HK$6.2 
million).
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Properties Held for Investment
As at 31 December 2022, the Group held properties in Hong Kong with address of Penthouse and Car Parking Space Nos. 13 
& 14 on 2/F, Overseas Trust Bank Building, No. 160 Gloucester Road, Hong Kong. The investment properties were used for 
office purpose since the acquisition in August 2020. The investment properties have been leased on a term of three years in 
June 2021 to generate operating lease income which amounted to approximately HK$3.2 million for the Group during the 
year (2021: approximately HK$1.9 million). No impairment loss on investment properties was made during the year (2021: 
approximately HK$24.9 million).

Liquidity and Financial Resources
The Group generally finances its daily operations from internally generated cash flows (the “Internal Funds”) and banking 
facilities. As at 31 December 2022, the Group had deposits placed with brokers, pledged bank deposit and bank balances 
and cash of approximately HK$123.2 million (2021: approximately HK$176.3 million), approximately HK$26.6 million (2021: 
Nil) and approximately HK$288.0 million (2021: approximately HK$158.2 million) respectively. The total of deposits placed 
with brokers, pledged bank deposit and bank balances and cash (collectively, the “Liquidity Resources”) were approximately 
HK$437.8 million (2021: approximately HK$334.5 million). Most of the Liquidity Resources were denominated in US$.

The equity attributable to owners of the Company decreased by approximately HK$42.4 million to approximately HK$1,396.5 
million as at 31 December 2022 (2021: approximately HK$1,438.9 million).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no bank borrowings (2021: Nil). As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s gearing 
ratio was 0% (2021: 0%). The gearing ratio is calculated as the Group’s total borrowings divided by total assets.

The Group aims to use the Internal Funds to repay all the due debts and relevant interests. In case of any shortfalls, the Group 
will consider to avail itself of new loans by utilising unused banking facilities to finance the repayment of the principal and 
interest in a timely manner.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has banking facilities of US$38.0 million and Renminbi (“RMB”) 17.0 million (equivalent 
to approximately HK$315.4 million in total) from several banks. Save as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial 
statements, the Group did not have any other charges on asset as at 31 December 2022.

The majority of the Group’s sales and purchases are denominated in US$. The Group considers its foreign currency exposure 
mainly arising from the exposure of exchange between US$ and HK$ with limited exposure to Singapore Dollar and RMB. 
Since the exchange rate of US$ against HK$ is relatively stable during the year, the exposure on foreign exchange is 
insignificant.

Pledge of Group Assets
As at 31 December 2022, right-of-use assets of approximately HK$15.3 million (2021: approximately HK$17.1 million) and 
pledged bank deposits of approximately HK$26.6 million (2021: Nil) had been pledged to secure certain banking facility 
granted to the Group.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.
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Litigation
Litigation against Shandong Shengxing Chemical Co., Ltd. for unpaid trade debts

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 11 December 2020, Strong Petrochemical Limited (Macao 
Commercial Offshore) (“Strong Macao”), the Company’s indirect wholly-owned subsidiary which was closed last year, has 
instituted legal proceedings against Shandong Shengxing Chemical Co., Ltd. (山東勝星化工有限公司) (“Shandong 
Shengxing”) in Dongying Intermediate People’s Court of Shandong Province of the People’s Republic of China (中華人民共和
國山東省東營市中級人民法院) (the “Dongying Court”) in relation to unpaid trade debts which were due and payable to 
Strong Macao (the “Shandong Shengxing Legal Proceedings”).

According to the long-term trading cooperation agreements signed by Strong Macao and Shandong Shengxing on 24 August 
2017 and 6 December 2019 respectively, Strong Macao agreed to sell crude oil to Shandong Shengxing and Shandong 
Shengxing agreed to purchase crude oil from Strong Macao.

Shandong Shengxing defaulted on its payment of the price of the crude oil payable to Strong Macao (the “Shandong 
Shengxing Default”) in the total sum of approximately US$91.5 million (equivalent to approximately HK$713.7 million) (the 
“Shandong Shengxing Outstanding Sum”). During the period from 1 June 2020 to 22 July 2020, Shandong Shengxing has 
made partial repayments of the Shandong Shengxing Outstanding Sum in a total sum of US$8.5 million (equivalent to 
approximately HK$66.3 million). As at 16 November 2020 and 31 December 2020, the unsettled Shandong Shengxing 
Outstanding Sum amounted to approximately US$83.0 million (equivalent to approximately HK$647.4 million) (the 
“Shandong Shengxing Unsettled Outstanding Sum”). Strong Macao filed a Writ for the commencement of the Shandong 
Shengxing Legal Proceedings to claim for the Shandong Shengxing Unsettled Outstanding Sum on 16 November 2020, which 
was accepted by the Dongying Court on the same day.

Pursuant to a ruling made by the Dongying Court on 21 December 2020 (the “Dongying Court Ruling”), the Shandong 
Shengxing Default constituted a breach of contract. It was adjudged that Shandong Shengxing should bear the payment 
responsibility and compensate the economic loss of Strong Macao resulting from the Shandong Shengxing Default. Shandong 
Shengxing was therefore liable for the payment of Shandong Shengxing Unsettled Outstanding Sum. During the year ended 
31 December 2021, the Group received partial payments from Shandong Shengxing of approximately US$17.4 million 
(equivalent to approximately HK$135.7 million). In December 2021, a debt renegotiation plan has been reached by the Group 
with Shandong Shengxing in which Shandong Shengxing agreed to repay the Shandong Shengxing Unsettled Outstanding 
Sum in full by instalments with accrued interest before December 2024 (the “Shandong Shengxing Agreement”). During the 
year ended 31 December 2022, Shandong Shengxing paid approximately US$30.5 million (equivalent to approximately 
HK$237.9 million in total) as partial settlement of the Shandong Shengxing Unsettled Outstanding Sum in accordance with 
the Shandong Shengxing Agreement. In December 2022, the Group and Shandong Shengxing has reached another 
agreement on the repayment schedule that Shandong Shengxing has to repay the Shandong Shengxing Unsettled 
Outstanding Sum in full by instalments before 30 June 2024 and the accrued interest before 31 December 2024 (the 
“Shandong Shengxing Supplemental Agreement”). The Group reserves the right to enforce the Dongying Court Ruling if 
Shandong Shengxing delays to settle or default any of the repayment instalments. Subsequent to the year end, Shandong 
Shengxing has paid approximately US$7.3 million (equivalent to approximately HK$57.0 million) as partial settlement of the 
Shandong Shengxing Unsettled Outstanding Sum up to the date of this report in accordance with the Shandong Shengxing 
Supplemental Agreement.

Considering the availability of securities held by the Group including the share charge in relation to 68% equity interest of 
Shandong Shengxing, the Board considers that the Shandong Shengxing Legal Proceedings will not have any material adverse 
impact on the overall operation and financial condition of the Company, and thus, no provision of impairment on trade 
receivables from Shangdong Shengxing is made. The Group will continue to proactively recover the Shandong Shengxing 
Unsettled Outstanding Sum.
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Capital Commitments
Save as disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group did not have any other significant capital 
commitments as at 31 December 2022.

Significant Investment
The Group held a significant investment in SH Energy as at 31 December 2022, which represented over 5% of the Group’s 
total assets and a significant portion in the net assets of the Group as at 31 December 2022.

Set below are the brief description of the business, performance and prospect of SH Energy.

As announced on 7 August 2020 and 14 August 2020, Strong New Energy Global Limited (“Strong New Energy”), an 
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has agreed to make a capital commitment to subscribe for up to 2.5 
million participating shares in SH Energy, the cost of such investment is US$25.0 million (equivalent to approximately 
HK$195.0 million), approximately 99% shares held in the investment. SH Energy is managed by a fund manager and seeks to 
achieve its investment objective by investing in privately held oil and gas assets and companies in the explorative and/or 
production stage, as well as assets and companies involved in the upstream and/or downstream oil and gas production 
processes. By investing in SH Energy, it is expected that the Group can benefit from diversifying its revenue stream through 
investments in oil and gas assets and companies which demonstrate a strong performance record, which will in turn broaden 
the Groups revenue base in the future. As at 31 December 2022, the accumulated investment made by the Group in SH 
Energy amounted to US$25.0 million (equivalent to approximately HK$195.0 million) (2021: US$21.5 million (equivalent to 
approximately HK$167.7 million)). The fair value of SH Energy was approximately US$19.6 million (equivalent to 
approximately HK$152.6 million) as at 31 December 2022 (2021: approximately US$25.3 million (equivalent to approximately 
HK$197.5 million)), which represented approximately 10% (2021: 12%) of the Group’s total assets. During the year, fair 
value loss on investment in SH Energy of approximately US$5.7 million (equivalent to approximately HK$44.9 million) (2021: 
fair value gain on investment in SH Energy of approximately US$0.3 million (equivalent to approximately HK$2.5 million) was 
recognised as a result of the change in fair value. During the year, a dividend of US$3.5 million (equivalent to approximately 
HK$27.3 million) (2021: Nil) was declared from SH Energy, while the dividend amount was offset against the payable for the 
outstanding investment commitment of US$3.5 million (equivalent to approximately HK$27.3 million).

Save as disclosed above, there were no other significant investments held by the Group as at 31 December 2022.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals, and Future Plans for Material Investments
The realisation of the expected synergies, cost control, and growth opportunities and potentials upon integration of the 
acquired businesses are important to the Group’s success. The Group focuses on its core business and cautiously expands the 
scale and geographical spread of its business through organic growth and investment in selective acquisitions with great 
potential. Failure to operate the acquired businesses successfully and thereby not achieving the expected financial benefits, 
may adversely affect the Group’s financial position and results.

Fujian Petrochemical is in the process of setting up the Fujian Plant in Fujian Province of the PRC. The expected completion 
date of the Fujian Plant will be in late 2023 and the expected commencement date of operation will be the fourth quarter of 
2023.
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It is part of the Group’s business in developing, constructing and operating solar energy systems. Through the operation and 
management of solar energy systems projects installed on the rooftops of premises and buildings, the Group expects to have 
contractual right to a guaranteed portion of the electricity revenue arising from the sale of electricity to the power companies 
in Hong Kong generated by the solar energy systems under the Feed-in Tariff Scheme of the Hong Kong government. With 
the cooperation with and support from potential property and land owners for solar energy systems projects, the Group 
envisions to become a leading solar energy systems operator in Hong Kong in the future.

Save as disclosed above and in notes 17 and 40 to the consolidated financial statements, there were no other plans for 
material investments of capital assets as at the date of this report, nor other material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries 
during the year.

Employees
The number of employees of the Group is 93 as at 31 December 2022 (2021: 93). The Group’s remuneration packages are 
maintained at competitive level and are determined on the basis of performance, qualification and experience of individual 
employee.

We recognise the importance of a good relationship with our employees by providing competitive remuneration packages 
which commensurate with the prevailing market practice to our employees, including provident fund, life and medical 
insurances, discretionary bonus, share options, and training for human resources upskilling.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. WANG Jian Sheng (“Mr. Wang”), aged 69, is an executive Director and the chairman of the Company (the 
“Chairman”) since 1 February 2008. He has been a member of the remuneration committee of the Company (the 
“Remuneration Committee”) and the chairman of the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination 
Committee”) since 28 November 2008 and 16 March 2012 respectively. In October 2000, Mr. Wang invested in the Group 
and acted as a substantial shareholder. At the same time, he joined the Group as a supervisor. He graduated from Henan 
University of Science and Technology, previously known as Luoyang Industrial College, with a bachelor degree in metallic 
materials and heat process. He is responsible for overseeing the function of the Board, formulating major corporate and 
business strategies, and identifying business goals and the related business plan at the high level. Mr. Wang owns the entire 
issued share capital of Sino Century Holdings Limited (“Sino Century”) which in turn holds 50% shareholding in Forever 
Winner International Ltd. (“Forever Winner”), a shareholder of the Company holding 1,041,746,000 shares of the Company. 
Separately, Mr. Wang owns the entire issued share capital of Speed Success Group Limited (“Speed Success”) which in turn 
holds 50,576,000 shares of the Company. Furthermore, since Mr. Wang and Mr. Yao Guoliang (“Mr. Yao”) jointly control 
Forever Winner which in turn holds 1,041,746,000 shares of the Company, Mr. Wang and Mr. Yao are deemed as parties 
acting in concert. Therefore, as Mr. Yao currently beneficially owns approximately 5.89% equity interest in the Company, Mr. 
Wang shall be deemed to hold the same equity interest in the Company.

Mr. YAO Guoliang, aged 57, is an executive Director and the chief executive officer of the Company (the “CEO”) since 1 
February 2008. In November 1999, Mr. Yao founded the Group, and has been a Director and a trader of the Group since 
then. He graduated from University of International Business and Economics with a bachelor degree in economics. He has 
more than 30 years of experience in handling crude oil trading and associated hedging activities. Leveraging on his extensive 
experience in the oil industry, Mr. Yao is responsible for formulating our corporate and business strategies, business 
development and management, trade solicitation as well as hedging implementation. In addition to being the direct and 
beneficial owner of 124,984,000 shares of the Company, Mr. Yao also owns the entire issued share capital of Jin Yao 
Holdings Ltd. (“Jin Yao”) which in turn holds 50% shareholding in Forever Winner, a shareholder of the Company holding 
1,041,746,000 shares of the Company. Furthermore, since Mr. Wang and Mr. Yao jointly control Forever Winner which in 
turn holds 1,041,746,000 shares of the Company, Mr. Wang and Mr. Yao are deemed as parties acting in concert. Therefore, 
as Mr. Wang indirectly owns approximately 2.38% equity interest in the Company, Mr. Yao shall be deemed to hold the 
same equity interest in the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. CHEUNG Siu Wan (“Ms. Cheung”), aged 56, is an independent non-executive director of the Company (an “INED”) 
since 1 January 2012. Ms. Cheung has been the chairman of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) 
and a member of the Nomination Committee since 1 January 2012 and 16 March 2012 respectively. Ms. Cheung graduated 
from City University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Arts in Business Studies in 1988, Hong Kong University of Science and 
Technology with a Master of Science in Accounting in 1995 and Lingnan University of Hong Kong with a Master of Arts in 
Practical Philosophy in 2017. Ms. Cheung has extensive experience in China tax services. Ms. Cheung joined KPMG Hong 
Kong in 1996, and from 2004 to 2011, she was a partner of KPMG China. Ms. Cheung served as a member of Steering 
Team of Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA”) Southern China from May 2008 to March 2017, of which 
from May 2009 to April 2011, as the chairman of Steering Team of ACCA Southern China. Ms. Cheung was also a member 
of Steering Team of ACCA Shanghai from March 2010 to March 2013 and a member of the China Expert Forum of ACCA 
China since 2016. From April 2009 to March 2013, Ms. Cheung acted as a member of the Accountancy Training Board of 
Vocational Training Council and became a member of the Working Group of Seminars of the Accountancy Training Board 
from April 2013 onwards. Ms. Cheung is a member of the Customer Liaison Group for SMEs of the Trade and Industry 
Department from 2017 to 2022. Ms. Cheung is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
and the ACCA. Ms. Cheung has been an independent non-executive director of Activation Group Holdings Limited (stock 
code: 9919) whose shares are listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKEx”) since 19 
December 2019.
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Professor CHAN Yee Kwong (“Prof. Chan”), aged 60, is an INED since 1 July 2017. Prof. Chan has been the chairman of 
the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee since 1 July 2017. Prof. Chan earned his BBA, MBA 
and PhD (business administration) degrees from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He further earned his bachelor’s and 
master’s degrees in Law from the University of London and acquired his Barrister qualification from the Honourable Society of 
the Middle Temple. Prof. Chan is currently head and professor of the Department of Marketing of Auckland University of 
Technology. He is also serving as an executive member for the Hong Kong New Zealand Business Association. Moreover, Prof. 
Chan has been ranked as one of the top 2% scientists across all the disciplines in the world by Elsevier BV/Stanford University 
since 2020. He was also appointed as a subject specialist (Marketing) for the Hong Kong Council for Accreditation of 
Academic and Vocational Qualifications from 2008 to 2021.

Mr. DENG Heng (“Mr. Deng”), aged 53, is an INED since 1 January 2018. Mr. Deng has been a member of the Audit 
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee since 1 January 2018. Mr. Deng graduated from 
China Agricultural University with a Bachelor of Science in 1992 and Beijing Jiaotong University with a Master of Business 
Administration. He currently serves as the Overseas Committee Member of All-China Federation of Returned Overseas 
Chinese and the Secretary General of Cross-Strait China Culture Communication Foundation. Mr. Deng has extensive 
experience in corporate management and social activities. He had worked at COFCO Corporation (“COFCO”) from 1996 to 
2008, including serving as the managing director of a member company within COFCO in London for more than 7 years.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. ZHUANG Jia (“Mr. Zhuang”), aged 57, is the deputy general manager of the Group. He is responsible for the trading, 
shipping and business development of the Group and overseeing the petrochemicals trading business. He is also a trader of 
the Group. His duties include negotiating with suppliers and customers on terms and pricing of trades, considering and 
executing hedging strategies, and monitoring open positions of derivative financial instruments of the Group. Mr. Zhuang 
obtained his bachelor of engineering degree from East China University of Science and Technology, previously known as East 
China Institute of Chemical Technology, in the PRC, majoring in petroleum processing in 1988. He has more than 30 years of 
experience in the oil industry. After university graduation, he joined Sinochem Shanghai as a salesman in the petroleum 
department and was involved in the hedging activities from April 1993 to February 1994. During the period from March 
1994 to January 1997, he was seconded to SCHECO (Hong Kong) Co., Limited, an overseas branch of Sinochem Shanghai, 
as trading manager and later promoted to deputy general manager. After the secondment, he returned to Sinochem 
Shanghai and accepted the position as a manager in the import department until March 1998. Prior to joining the Group in 
March 2007, he had been the trading manager for ICC Chemical Corporation (Shanghai Office) for more than 8 years and 
was responsible for trading petrochemicals.

Mr. Francis TAN Boon Chye (“Mr. Tan”), aged 69, is the general manager and a director of Strong Petroleum Singapore 
Private Ltd. (“Strong Singapore”). Mr. Tan is a member of the Institute of Petroleum (London) since 1984. Mr. Tan has over 
35 years of experience in the oil industry from cargo and blending operations, shipping and chartering, oil broking (middle 
distillates) to oil trading. Mr. Tan is responsible for the overall oil operations of Strong Singapore since he joined the Group in 
2009.

Ms. KUANG Tingting (“Ms. Kuang”), aged 52, is the managing director of Strong Singapore. Ms. Kuang obtained a 
Master of International Business Management from University of Hamburg, Germany, and she has more than 25 years of 
trading experience in the oil industry, both in crude oil and oil products. Her working experience in Sinochem and Equinor 
provided her with global perspective, and she had led the crude oil trading business of Equinor Asia Pacific from 2013 to mid-
2018. Ms. Kuang joined the Group in July 2018 and is responsible for the trading activities of Strong Singapore.
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The Board has pleasure to present the Corporate Governance Report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022. 
The Company is committed to strict adherence to the high corporate governance standards. The Board believes it is 
fundamental and essential to fulfill public and corporate responsibilities, develop the Group sustainably, enhance 
shareholders’ value and safeguard interests of stakeholders. The Company has applied the principles of the Corporate 
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in Part 2 of Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The 
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) on the Company’s corporate governance structure and operation 
in the manner as stated in this annual report.

The Company has fully complied with the CG Code and met the code provisions set out in Part 2 of Appendix 14 to the 
Listing Rules during the year, with the exception of deviation that Mr. Yao Guoliang, the executive Director, was unable to 
attend the annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”) held on 26 May 2022 due to other prior business engagement. 
When Directors are unable to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity 
to make their views known to the Chairman prior to the meeting. Ms. Cheung Siu Wan, the INED who took the chair of the 
AGM, together with other members of the Board who attended the AGM, were of sufficient calibre and competence for 
answering questions at the AGM. Views expressed by the shareholders of the Company at general meetings are recorded 
and circulated for discussion by all Directors regardless of attendance.

THE BOARD
Responsibilities
The Board is responsible for the overall management, which assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of the 
Company, and the Directors are collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing and 
supervising its affairs, overseeing the achievement of strategic plans, and monitoring its long term performance to enhance 
shareholders’ value. The management of the Group (the “Management”) is delegated with authority and responsibility for 
the day-to-day operations of the Group under the leadership of the Board.

The role of the Chairman, Mr. Wang Jian Sheng, is separated from that of the CEO, Mr. Yao Guoliang. Their respective 
responsibilities are clearly defined and segregated to reinforce their independence and accountability.

The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership and governance to the Board and ensuring that the Board and its 
committees function effectively. He approves strategies and policies of the Group and supervises the Management on their 
implementation to ensure value creation and maximisation for shareholders. He takes part in cultivating and maintaining good 
relationships with strategic associates and creating a favorable environment for the development of the Group’s businesses.

The CEO is responsible for leading the day-to-day operations of the Group’s businesses to achieve its business and financial 
targets. Acting as the principal manager, he develops operating plans and strategies to the Board and ensures the effective 
implementation of the strategies and policies adopted and prioritised by the Board supported with effective and competent 
Management built and maintained by him. He maintained ongoing dialogue with the Chairman and all Directors to keep 
them timely and appropriately informed of all major changes and business development.

Directors have full and timely access to information of the Group as the Chairman ensures that the Management will supply 
the Board and its committees with all relevant information in a timely manner, as well as the advices and services of the 
company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”), with a view to ensuring that Board procedures and all 
applicable rules and regulations are followed. The Directors may make further enquiries if in their opinion it is necessary or 
appropriate to request for further information. They also have unrestricted access to the advices and services of the Company 
Secretary, who is held responsible for providing Directors with Board papers and related materials and ensuring that all proper 
Board procedures are followed and that all applicable laws and regulations are complied with. When needed and upon 
making reasonable request to the Board, the Directors may seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense 
in assisting them to carry out their duties. Insurance cover has been appropriately arranged to the Directors in connection 
with the performance of their responsibilities.
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The presence of three INEDs is considered by the Board to be a reasonable balance between executive and non-executive 
Directors. The Board is of the opinion that such balance can provide adequate checks and balances for safeguarding the 
interests of shareholders and of the Group.

All INEDs are engaged with a fixed term of one year service with the Company and may be terminated by either party giving 
not less than one month’s prior written notice. Shareholders may propose a candidate for election as Director in accordance 
with the Company’s articles of association. All Directors appointed to fill a vacancy are subject to re-election at the first 
general meeting of shareholders after appointment in accordance with Article 86(3) of the Company’s articles of association. 
In accordance with Article 87 of the Company’s articles of association, every Director shall be subject to retirement by 
rotation at least once every three years.

The Company has received written annual confirmations from all INEDs as to their independence as required under the Listing 
Rules. All INEDs are absent from involvement in daily management of the Company or any relationships or circumstances 
which would interfere their independence.

The INEDs bring a wide range of business and financial expertise, experiences and independent judgment to the Board. 
Through active participation in Board meetings, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of interests and 
serving on Board committees, all INEDs make various contributions to the effective direction of the Company.

Diversity Policy
In order to achieve a diversity of perspectives among members of the Board, the Company has adopted the board diversity 
policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) throughout the year and has made it available on the website of the Company for better 
transparency and governance. It is the policy of the Company to consider a number of factors, including but not limited to 
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service, 
when determining the composition of the Board. The Company has one female INED, which is in compliance with Rule 13.92 
of the Listing Rules. The Board considers that the Company has achieved gender diversity at the Board level and targets to 
maintain at least the current level of female representation. In addition to gender diversity, the Nomination Committee took 
the view that the measurable objectives for Board diversity had been achieved to a large extent for the year ended 31 
December 2022.

The Company will also take into account factors based on its own business model and specific needs from time to time. The 
appointments of all members of the Board will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective 
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group. The employee gender ratio (male:female) as at 31 
December 2022 is 78:22. The Group, when hiring employees, considers a number of factors, including but not limited to 
gender, age, cultural and education background, qualification, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and 
length of service, and the Group will make sure achieving gender diversity across the workforce. The Board is satisfied that 
the Company has achieved gender diversity in its workforce.

Details on the gender ratio of the Group together with relevant data can be found in the Environmental, Social and 
Governance Report on pages 29 to 53 of this Annual Report.
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Delegation by the Board
The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company are delegated to the CEO and the senior 
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board 
prior to any significant transactions entered into by the abovementioned officers. The Board has the full support of the CEO 
and the senior management to discharge its responsibilities.

All committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, have specific 
terms of reference clearly defining the authorities and responsibilities of the respective committees. All committees are 
required by their terms of reference to report to the Board in relation to their decisions, findings or recommendations, and in 
certain specific situations, to seek the Board’s approval before taking any actions.

The Board reviews, on an annual basis, all delegations by the Board to different committees to ensure that such delegations 
are appropriate and continue to be beneficial to the Company as a whole.

BOARD COMPOSITION, BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS
As at 31 December 2022, the Board comprises two executive Directors and three INEDs. Their biographical details are set out 
in the section of this annual report headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” and are posted on 
the Company’s website. The Company has met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least 
three INEDs with at least one of whom is with appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial 
management expertise throughout the year. All Directors give sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group.

The Board meets at least four times each year and more frequently as the needs of the business demand. The Company’s 
memorandum and articles of association provide for participation at meetings via telephone and other electronic means. 
Apart from the Board meetings, the Board would from time to time devote separate sessions to consider and review the 
Group’s strategy and business activities. The attendance of the Directors at the Board meetings during the year is set out in 
the table under the section of “Meetings Held and Attendance” below.

Practices and Conduct of Meetings
The annual meeting schedule and the agenda of each meeting are made available to Directors in advance.

Notice of regular Board meetings is served to all Directors at least 14 days before the meetings, so that Directors are given an 
opportunity to include matters in the agenda for discussion. For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is given.

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda for the meeting and ensures that all applicable rules 
and regulations in connection with the meetings are observed and complied with. Papers for Board meetings or committee 
meetings together with all relevant information are sent to all Directors or committee members at least three days before 
each meeting to enable them to make informed decisions with adequate data. The Board and each Director also have direct 
and independent access to the Management whenever necessary.

According to the current Board practice, any material transaction involving a conflict of interest with a substantial shareholder 
or a Director will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting. The Company’s articles of 
association also contains provisions requiring the Directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at 
meetings for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have a material interest.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination 
Committee, to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. Specific responsibilities of each committee are described 
below. All committees have defined terms of reference which are of no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises three INEDs who possess relevant business and financial management experience. The 
Company Secretary acts as the secretary of the Audit Committee. None of the members is employed by or otherwise affiliated 
with the former or existing auditor of the Company. The Audit Committee is chaired by Ms. Cheung Siu Wan, one of the 
INEDs having professional qualifications, and accounting and financial management skills to understand financial statements 
and contribute to the corporate governance of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee has undertaken a review of all the non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor, Messrs. BDO 
Limited, during the financial year ended 31 December 2022, and is satisfied that such services would not affect the 
independence of Messrs. BDO Limited as the Company’s auditor. The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that 
Messrs. BDO Limited be nominated for reappointment as external auditor of the Company at the forthcoming AGM.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are posted on the Company’s website and include the following:

Relationships with the Company’s auditor

(i) To act as the key representative body for overseeing the Company’s relation with the external auditor, and to be 
primarily responsible for making recommendation to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the 
external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and to consider 
any questions of their resignation or dismissal.

(ii) To review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in 
accordance with applicable accounting standard, and to discuss with the auditor the nature and scope of the audit and 
reporting obligations before the audit commences.

(iii) To develop and implement policy on engaging an external auditor to supply non-audit services. For this purpose, 
“external auditor” includes any entity that is under common control, ownership or management with the audit firm or 
any entity that a reasonable and informed third party knowing all relevant information would reasonably conclude to 
be part of the audit firm nationally or internationally. The Audit Committee should report to the Board, identifying and 
making recommendations on any matters where action or improvement is needed.

Review of the Company’s financial information

(iv) To monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements and annual report and accounts, half-year report and, if 
prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and to review significant financial reporting judgments contained in them. 
In reviewing these reports before submission to the Board, the Audit Committee should focus particularly on:

(a) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(b) major judgmental areas;

(c) significant adjustments resulting from audit;

(d) the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

(e) compliance with accounting standards; and

(f) compliance with the Listing Rules and legal requirements in relation to financial reporting.
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(v) Regarding (iv) above:

(a) members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the Board and senior management and the Audit Committee 
must meet, at least twice a year, with the Company’s auditor; and

(b) the Audit Committee should consider any significant or unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected in 
the reports and accounts, it should give due consideration to any matters that have been raised by the Company’s 
staff responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function, compliance officer or auditor.

Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system, risk management and internal control systems

(vi) To review the Company’s financial controls, and unless expressly addressed by a separate risk committee, or by the 
Board itself, to review the Company’s risk management and internal control systems.

(vii) To identify the risk of the Group and decide on risk levels and risk appetite.

(viii) To approve major decisions affecting the Group’s risk profile or exposure and give such guidelines as it considers 
appropriate.

(ix) To consider the effectiveness of decision making processes in crisis and emergency situations.

(x) To discuss the risk management and internal control system with the Management to ensure that the Management has 
performed its duty to have effective systems. This discussion should include the adequacy of resources, staff 
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting 
function.

(xi) To consider major investigation findings on risk management and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or 
on its own initiative and the Management’s response to these findings.

(xii) Where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-ordination between the internal and external auditors, and to 
ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company, and 
to review and monitor its effectiveness.

(xiii) To review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices.

(xiv) To review the external auditor’s management letter, any material queries raised by the auditor to the Management 
about accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and the Management’s response.

(xv) To ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the issues raised in the external auditor’s management letter.

(xvi) To report to the Board on the matters set out herein.

(xvii) To consider other topics, as defined by the Board.

(xviii) To review arrangements employees of the Company can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible 
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters, and to ensure that proper arrangements are in 
place for fair and independent investigation of these matters and for appropriate follow-up action.
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The major work of the Audit committee for the year are as follow:

(i) Reviewed the annual financial results for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the interim financial results for the six 
months ended 30 June 2022. During the review process, the members performed sufficient and necessary 
communication with the Company’s external auditor and the management of the Company and fulfilled the 
committee’s duties in ensuring the Company’s compliance with regulations, completeness and accuracy of the financial 
results disclosed by the Company.

(ii) Reviewed and discussed the work for internal audit and risk management of the Company and considered and 
approved the 2021 internal audit report and the risk assessment report of the Company, and proposed to pay attention 
to data security. The Company should strengthen the management of audit work, and the key areas and links of 
overseas audit should be fully covered and normalized. Meanwhile, the Company should also strengthen internal audit 
training and strengthen the application of big data in audit work.

(iii) Reviewed the provision for asset impairment and the connected transactions of the Company. The Audit Committee 
required the Company to pay attention to the changes of industry environment and attach importance to the 
evaluation of investment strategy.

Regarding the re-appointment of the auditor, the Audit Committee unanimously approved the re-appointment of Messrs. 
BDO Limited as auditor of the Company for the year ending 31 December 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee held two meetings and reviewed the preliminary interim 
and annual results, the internal controls of the Group, and performed the duties and responsibilities under the terms of 
reference and as set out in the CG Code.

The Audit Committee reviews the Group’s risk management policies annually. A high level review of internal controls of the 
Group was performed at the end of the year. The Audit Committee will continue to examine the Group’s systems and policies 
for assessing and taking action to contain the different types of risks in its various operations as part of the Audit 
Committee’s ongoing review of the adequacy of the Group’s internal controls.

The Audit Committee has full access to and has co-operated with the Management and it has been given the resources 
required for it to discharge its functions properly. It has full discretion to invite any Director and executive officer to attend its 
meetings. The Audit Committee has also met with the external auditor, without the presence of the Management during the 
year.

In addition, the Audit Committee keeps under constant review changes to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards with the 
assistance of the external auditor to assess their application to the accounting policies adopted by the Group and, where 
applicable, their effective adoption by the Group.

All the recommendations of the Audit Committee to the Management and the Board were accepted and implemented.

Subsequent to the financial year end, the Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s audited consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022, including the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, 
and recommended them to the Board for approval.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises three members whereas the majority of the members must be INEDs. Currently, the 
Remuneration Committee is chaired by Prof. Chan Yee Kwong, an INED. The Company Secretary acts as the secretary to the 
Remuneration Committee.



Corporate Governance Report

S T R O N G  P E T R O C H E M I C A L  H O L D I N G S  L I M I T E D   2 0 2 2  A N N U A L  R E P O R T 21

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board a framework for the remuneration of Directors 
and key executives, and to determine the remuneration packages of executive Directors and senior management of the 
Group. The review covers all aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to Directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, 
bonuses and other benefits. The Remuneration Committee also oversees the administration of the Company’s share option 
scheme. The Remuneration Committee’s recommendations are made in consultation with the CEO and submitted for 
endorsement by the Board. No Director is involved in any decision making, in respect of any remuneration or compensation 
to be offered or granted to him or her.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are posted on the Company’s website and include the following:

(i) To make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior 
management’s remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing 
remuneration policy.

(ii) To review and approve the Management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and 
objectives.

(iii) Either:

(a) to determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and 
senior management; or

(b) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and 
senior management.

This should include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any compensation payable 
for loss or termination of their office or appointment.

(iv) To make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors.

(v) To consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions 
elsewhere in the Group.

(vi) To review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors and senior management for any loss or termination 
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive.

(vii) To review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to 
ensure that they are consistent with contractual terms and that are otherwise reasonable and appropriate.

(viii) To ensure that no Director or any of his or her associates is involved in deciding his or her own remuneration.

(ix) To review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting to review the remuneration 
package, including the treatment and the vesting recommendations for the share options granted, of the Directors and senior 
management.

None of individual Director is involved in deciding his or her own remuneration. 
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The remuneration of senior management was within the following bands:

Number of individuals

The emolument bands (in HK$) 2022 2021
   

Nil to HK$1,000,000 – –
HK$1,000,001 – HK$2,000,000 1 1
HK$2,000,001 – HK$3,000,000 1 1
HK$3,000,001 – HK$4,000,000 – –
HK$4,000,001 – HK$5,000,000 – –
Above HK$5,000,000 1 1
   

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprises the Chairman and two INEDs, and is chaired by Mr. Wang Jian Sheng, the Chairman. 
The Company Secretary acts as the secretary to the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee is guided by its terms of reference, which sets out its responsibilities. It is responsible for the 
review of candidates for nomination or re-nomination as Directors, taking into consideration each candidate’s qualifications 
and experience and how he or she can contribute to the effectiveness of the Board. The Nomination Committee is also 
responsible for recommending a framework for evaluation of the Board effectiveness, as well as evaluation of Board 
effectiveness and the contribution of each individual Director to the effectiveness of the Board.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are posted on the Company’s website and include the following:

(i) To review the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives) 
of the Board at least annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the 
Company’s corporate strategy.

(ii) To be responsible for nominating for the approval of the Board, candidates to fill Board vacancies as and where they 
arise.

(iii) Before appointment is made by the Board, evaluate the balance of skill, knowledge and experience on the Board, and, 
in the light of this evaluation prepare a description of the role and capabilities required for a particular appointment.

(iv) To identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make recommendations to the Board 
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships.

(v) To make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning 
for Directors, in particular the Chairman and the CEO.

(vi) To assess the independence of INEDs.

(vii) To review the Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives for implementing such Board Diversity Policy as may 
be adopted by the Board from time to time and to review the progress on achieving the objectives; and make disclosure 
of its review results in the Corporate Governance Report of the Company.

(viii) To do any such things to enable the Nomination Committee to discharge its duties conferred on it on by the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Nomination Committee held one meeting to review the composition of the 
Board and the suitability of Directors proposed for re-appointment at the AGM.
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For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make recommendations for the Board’s consideration and 
approval. For proposing candidates to stand for election at a general meeting, the Nomination Committee shall make 
nominations to the Board for its consideration and recommendation. A circular setting out information as required pursuant 
to the applicable laws, rules and regulations of the proposed candidates will be sent to the shareholders. The Board shall have 
the final decision on all matters relating to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any general meeting.

The Nomination Committee is also charged with the responsibility of determining annually whether a Director is independent. 
Each member of the Nomination Committee will not take part in determining his or her own re-nomination or independence.

Under the articles of association of the Company, at least one-third of the Directors are required to retire from office by 
rotation and they are eligible for re-election at the AGM. Thus, each Director must retire from office at least once every three 
years. In addition, all Directors appointed to fill a vacancy are subject to re-election at the first general meeting of 
shareholders after appointment in accordance with Article 86(3) of the Company’s articles of association.

The Nomination Committee has recommended the re-nomination of Mr. Yao Guoliang and Ms. Cheung Siu Wan for re-
election at the forthcoming AGM. The Board has accepted the Nomination Committee’s recommendation.

Meetings Held and Attendance
Details of Directors’ attendance of the Board meetings, three committees meetings and the AGM held during the year ended 
31 December 2022 are set out as follows:

Meetings attended/Meetings held
 

Name of Director Board
Audit 

Committee
Remuneration 

Committee
Nomination 
Committee

AGM held on 
26 May 2022

      

Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Jian Sheng (Chairman) 7/7 N/A 1/1 1/1 1/1
Mr. Yao Guoliang (CEO) 6/7 N/A N/A N/A 0/1
Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Cheung Siu Wan 6/7 2/2 N/A 1/1 1/1
Prof. Chan Yee Kwong 6/7 2/2 1/1 N/A 1/1
Mr. Deng Heng 6/7 2/2 1/1 1/1 1/1

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held meeting with INEDs without the presence of the other executive 
Director during the year.

Apart from the AGM held on 26 May 2022, the Company has not held any other general meetings.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The Board did not establish a corporate governance committee but has delegated its responsibility for performing corporate 
governance duties to the respective Board committees. During the year, the Board and Board committees have developed 
and reviewed the Group’s policies and practices on corporate governance and made recommendations to the Board; 
reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management; 
reviewed and monitored the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; reviewed 
and monitored the code of conduct and the compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors; and reviewed the 
Group’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as 
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding the Directors’ securities transactions. Having 
made specific enquiries by the Company, all Directors have confirmed that they had complied with the required standards set 
out in the Model Code during the year.

The Company has established written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the Model Code for dealings in the 
Company’s securities by relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information in relation to 
the Company or its securities. The Company has received written annual compliance declaration from employees to confirm 
their compliance.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company has adopted a general dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) that aims to provide dividends to shareholders of 
the Company out of the Group’s profit attributable to shareholders in any financial year, subject to the criteria set out below.

Such declaration and payment of dividends shall remain to be determined at the sole discretion of the Board and subject to 
all applicable requirements (including without limitation, restrictions on dividends declaration and payment) under the 
Companies Act, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands and the Company’s articles 
of association.

The Board shall also take into account the following factors when considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

•	 the	Group’s	actual	and	expected	financial	performance;

•	 retained	earnings	and	distributable	reserves	of	the	Company	and	each	of	the	members	of	the	Group;

•	 the	Group’s	working	capital	requirements,	capital	expenditure	requirements	and	future	expansion	plans;

•	 the	Group’s	liquidity	position;

•	 general	economic	conditions,	business	cycle	of	the	Group’s	business	and	other	 internal	or	external	factors	that	may	
have an impact on the business or financial performance and position of the Company; and

•	 other	factors	that	the	Board	deems	relevant.

The Board may propose the payment of dividends, if any, with respect to the Company’s shares on a per share basis. In 
addition to cash, dividends may be distributed in the form of shares subject to and in accordance with the procedures set out 
in the Company’s memorandum and articles of association.

Except for interim dividends, any dividends declared by the Company must be approved by an ordinary resolution of 
shareholders at the general meeting and must not exceed the amount recommended by the Board. The Board may from time 
to time pay to the shareholders such interim dividends as appear to the Directors to be justified by the profit of the Company 
available for distribution.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, 
amend and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time, and the Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding 
commitment by the Company that dividends will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the Company to 
declare dividends at any time or from time to time.
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INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS
All Directors, upon appointment to the Board, shall receive an induction package (the “Package”) designed to enhance their 
knowledge and understanding of the Group’s culture and operations by senior management. The Package usually includes a 
briefing on the Group’s structure, businesses and governance practices. Every Board member receives a memorandum on 
Director’s responsibilities upon joining the Board, which lays down the guidelines on conduct, Directors’ duties, and other key 
governance issues.

The Company provided continuous professional training and all Directors (namely, Mr. Wang Jian Sheng, Mr. Yao Guoliang, 
Ms. Cheung Siu Wan, Prof. Chan Yee Kwong and Mr. Deng Heng) received regular updates and presentations on changes 
and developments to the Group’s business and to the legislative and regulatory environments in which the Group operates to 
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. 
All Directors are also encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expense.

During the year, the Company Secretary provided all the Directors with the latest information on the Listing Rules and other 
applicable requirements, so as to update and strengthen the Directors’ awareness of the development of corporate 
governance, and maintained records of training participated by the Directors. The means of such training are as follows:

Name of Directors Reading Materials
Seminars/talks/
training courses

   

Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Jian Sheng (Chairman)  

Mr. Yao Guoliang (CEO)  

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Cheung Siu Wan  

Prof. Chan Yee Kwong  

Mr. Deng Heng  

All the Directors read materials relevant to the Company’s business or to their duties and responsibilities.

All the Directors understand the importance of continuous professional development and are committed to participating in 
any suitable training to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

COMPANY SECRETARY
The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is subject to the Board’s approval in accordance with the Company’s 
articles of association. Mr. Lau Leong Ho (“Mr. Lau”) has been appointed as the Company Secretary with effect from 14 
February 2020.

Mr. Lau is currently a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong. He has over 10 years of experience in the legal industry. He was 
admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 2008. Mr. Lau has been a partner of Tsang, Chan & Woo Solicitors & Notaries from 
December 2013 to July 2020. Mr. Lau is the principal of Lau & Co, Solicitors & Notaries, a practicing law firm in Hong Kong 
since July 2020. He graduated from City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor of laws degree in 2005 and obtained 
Postgraduate Certificate in Laws also from City University of Hong Kong in 2006. He has been an independent non-executive 
director of Affluent Foundation Holdings Limited (stock code: 1757) whose shares are listed on the main board of the HKEx. 
Mr. Lau is not an employee of the Company and he provides services to the Company as an external service provider. Mr. Lau 
has complied with the requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during the year.
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The Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board’s processes and communications among Board members, with 
shareholders and with the Management. The Company Secretary will undertake at least 15 hours of relevant professional 
training in the year ending 31 December 2023 to update his skills and knowledge.

The external service provider’s primary contact person of the Company is Ms. Kwan Pui Shan, the chief financial officer of the 
Company, in relation to any corporate secretarial matters.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of consolidated financial statements which give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. In preparing the consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair 
view, it is fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors consider that the consolidated financial statements are 
prepared on a going concern basis and appropriate accounting policies have been consistently applied. The Directors have 
also made judgments and estimates that are prudent and reasonable in the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements.

The statement of the external auditor about the reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out 
in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 62 to 67 of the annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
For the year ended 31 December 2022, auditors’ remuneration in relation to audit amounted to approximately 
HK$1,939,000. Messrs. BDO Limited, the external auditor, is refrained from engaging in non-assurance services except for 
limited tax related services or specifically approved items. The Audit Committee reviews and approves statutory audit scope 
and non-audit services of Messrs. BDO Limited.

The following remunerations were paid by the Group to its auditors:

HK$’000
  

Audit services:
 — Messrs. BDO Limited 1,700
 — Singapore subsidiary’s auditor 101
 — The PRC subsidiaries’ auditors 22
  

1,823

Non-audit services (note):
 — Messrs. BDO Limited 150
  

1,973

Disbursement charged by auditors 116
  

2,089
  

Note:  Performed an agreed-upon procedures engagement on the interim financial statements of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2022.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board has overall responsibility for the maintenance of sound and effective internal controls to safeguard the 
shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets. The Board has entrusted the Audit Committee with the responsibility to 
review, and has delegated to the Management the implementation of such systems of internal controls as well as the review 
of relevant financial, operational, and compliance controls, and risk management system.

A risk management system is in place to ensure the regular identification, evaluation and management of risks faced by the 
Group. Procedures have been set up for, inter alia, safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or disposition, controlling 
capital expenditure, maintaining proper accounting records and ensuring the reliability of financial information used for 
business and publications. The system is regularly reviewed by the Board and amended from time to time.

Formal risk management policies have been put in place to ensure the regular identification, evaluation and management of 
risks faced by the Group. The system and policies of the Group are designed to help minimise and manage business risks, 
protect the assets of the Group from misappropriation or impairment, accurately report the results and financial position of 
the Group, ensure compliance with relevant legal and regulatory requirement, and adopt appropriate recommended best 
practices. This includes taking into consideration in relation to environmental, social, and corporate governance matters.

The Management maintains and monitors the internal control systems on an ongoing basis. Risk assessment and evaluation 
are an integral part of the annual planning process. Our internal audit team performs annual review on our internal control 
system and risk assessment system and reports its recommendation to the Audit Committee. In addition, the Group’s external 
auditor, Messrs. BDO Limited, reports findings to the Audit Committee and contributes an independent perspective on 
relevant internal controls arising from the audit. The Audit Committee reports to the Board on matters in relation to the 
oversight of the financial reporting system, internal control procedures and risk management system. The Board has 
conducted a review on the effectiveness of Company’s internal control systems for the year ended 31 December 2022 by 
considering the work performed by the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee considered that there was no significant breach of limits or risk management policies during the year 
that would bring to the attention of the Board. The Board considers that both the risk management and internal control 
systems are effective and adequate. The Board, with the Management, is following up the recommendations provided by our 
review team in order to enhance the risk management frameworks and procedures of the Company.

A compliance manual has been set to summarise the principal legal, regulatory and compliance issues relating to the Group 
and its employees. It includes the definition of inside information and also establishes general policies and procedures for 
handling and dissemination of inside information. The compliance manual would be regularly reviewed and updated to keep 
abreast with the circumstance.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
The Board recognises the importance of maintaining on-going communication with shareholders. The Company promotes 
communications with shareholders through several communication channels including publication of circulars and 
announcements of key developments, interim and annual reports as prescribed under the Listing Rules which can also be 
accessed via the “Investor Relations” section of the Company’s website.

The aims of the Company are to improve its transparency, allow the stakeholders to gain more understanding and confidence 
in relation to the Group’s business developments and acquire more market recognition and support from the shareholders.
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Shareholders are encouraged to attend all general meetings of the Company. The notice of the AGM was circulated to all 
shareholders in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules and the Company’s articles of association. It is a 
standard practice to have the non-executive Directors available to answer questions relating to their roles, tenure, and the 
Board committees. The results of voting by poll are published on the websites of the HKEx and the Company after the 
meetings.

An annual review of the Company’s shareholders communication policy had been undertaken and the effectiveness of the 
policy was confirmed considering multiple channels were in place and adopted to reflect the current best practice in 
communications with shareholders.

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less 
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall 
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary general 
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be 
held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit, the Board fails to 
proceed to convene an extraordinary general meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself (themselves) may do so in the same 
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed 
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

There are no provisions under the Company’s articles of association or the Companies Act, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as 
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands regarding procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at general 
meetings other than a proposal of a person for election as director. Shareholders may follow the procedures set out above to 
convene an extraordinary general meeting for any business specified in such written requisition.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries or written requisitions as mentioned above to the Board in writing through 
Ms. Kwan Pui Shan, the chief financial officer of the Company, whose contact details are as follows:

Ms. Kwan Pui Shan
Chief Financial Officer
Strong Petrochemical Holdings Limited
Room 1604, 16th Floor, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2834 3393
Email: info@strongpetrochem.com

During the year, there had been no significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents. The Company proposed 
to amend a new set of amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of the Company at the forthcoming 
AGM to be held on 25 May 2023. The proposed amendments are subject to the passing of a special resolution by the 
shareholders of the Company.

The Company adheres the importance of the shareholders’ privacy and will not disclose such information without their 
consent, unless required by law, the HKEx, order or requirement of any court or other competent authority.
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN
To all stakeholders,

On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present the Group’s 2022 ESG Report (the “Report”).

COVID-19 continues to pose challenge to the Group’s operation. Yet, the Group stands amidst the adversities strongly and 
firmly. For the purpose of seeking to be resilient against uncertainties, the Group consistently extended its effort to seek 
improvements on sustainability.

The Board takes full responsibility to oversee and evaluate ESG performance to determine potential risks and opportunities on 
the Group’s ESG aspects. The Board regularly reviews its performance against ESG-related targets, which cover aspects of 
energy conservation and emission reduction, with the aim to align with the corporate sustainability strategy, echo with 
international vision of carbon neutrality and enhance corporate reputation.

To assist in the implementation of strategies and initiatives set by the Board, an ESG Task Force comprising of different 
operation units within the Group has been established. The ESG Task Force is responsible for collecting and analysing ESG 
data which are confirmed by department heads, monitoring and evaluating the Group’s ESG performance, ensuring 
compliance with ESG-related laws and regulations, assisting in conducting materiality assessment and preparing ESG reports. 
Additionally, the ESG Task Force plays an integral role in ensuring the effectiveness of ESG governance and enhancing 
centralised management across different departments and subsidiaries. The ESG Task Force would keep track of the progress 
with key performance indicators (“KPIs”) against relevant ESG-related goals and targets set by the Board. The review result is 
regularly monitored and reported to the Board through meeting at least once every year on their findings, decisions and 
recommendations. Through the cooperation with the ESG Task Force, ESG approaches, policies and action plans are smoothly 
implemented on group level. Where appropriate, external advisors would be engaged to provide expertise and professional 
advice for the ESG management process.

The Board believes that the identification of material ESG issues can assist the Board to govern the ESG development of the 
Group. Therefore, the Group gathers opinions from its significant internal and external stakeholders, in an effort to further 
enhance its green business strategy. Through such, stakeholders’ opinions are collected, and by integrating the material ESG 
issues in the industry, each ESG issue is rated and prioritised by level of concern. The Board and the ESG Task Force discuss 
and review the results of the assessment annually and provide their own insights to the Group’s material ESG issues.

Sustainability is important to the Group’s business continuity. The Group continues to strive towards its ESG-related goals and 
strengthen its sustainable operation practice. We remain positive about the growth of our solar energy business and will 
continue to seek opportunities in green energy.

Wang Jian Sheng
Chairman
Hong Kong, 23 March 2023
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SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY AND REPORTING
As a responsible commodity trading company, the Group does not only provide quality energy supplies and services, but also 
consider and minimise the environmental and social impacts of the business. This Report is to address the Group’s 
sustainability performance covering the period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 (“2022” or the “Reporting 
Period”), and to report the Group’s efforts on embedding sustainability into the business operation.

REPORTING SCOPE
The scope of this Report covers (i) the Group’s headquarter in Hong Kong, (ii) the Group’s three offices in Macao, Singapore 
and Quanzhou City in Fujian Province, the PRC, and (iii) the Group’s storage business, Strong Nantong, in Jiangsu Province, 
the PRC, unless otherwise specified. The data collection has been enhanced in offices in Shandong Province, Jiangsu Province 
and Hainan Province, the PRC, therefore the social data have been collected and disclosed in this Report. The environmental 
data of those operations are not included in this Report due to insignificant environmental impacts to the community. The 
Group is continuously improving the means of data collection to disclose the corresponding information in the future reports.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK
This Report is prepared in accordance with Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting 
Guide”) set out in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules on the HKEx.

The Group attaches great importance to materiality, quantitative, balance, and consistency during the preparation for this 
Report, the Group has applied these reporting principles in the aforementioned ESG Reporting Guide as the following:

Materiality: Materiality assessment was conducted to identify material ESG issues during the Reporting Period, thereby 
adopting the confirmed material issues as the focus of the Report. The materiality of ESG issues was reviewed and confirmed 
by the Board and the ESG Task Force. Please refer to the sections headed “Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality 
Assessment” for further details.

Quantitative: The standards and methodologies as well as the applicable assumptions used in the calculation of KPIs data in 
the Report were supplemented by explanatory notes.

Balance: This Report was prepared based on an objective and impartial manner to ensure that the information disclosed 
faithfully reflects the overall ESG performance of the Group.

Consistency: The statistical methodologies applied to this Report were substantially consistent with the previous year. 
Explanations will be provided regarding data if there are any changes in the scope of disclosure and calculation 
methodologies that may affect the comparisons with previous reports.

To ensure the materiality and balance of the Report, the Group has considered the material ESG topics identified by the 
Board. Following the principles of quantitative, consistency and balance, the Group also fully disclosed the KPIs which have 
been disclosed last year regardless of the performance. Information regarding corporate governance is addressed in the 
section headed “Corporate Governance Report” in this annual report according to Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
The Group is committed to meeting the expectations of stakeholders by truly understanding all the concerns of stakeholders 
and integrating these expectations through its practice. The ultimate goal shall be maximising the greater economic output 
and business value while pursuing the Group’s long-term sustainable development goals.

In order to understand and address the main concerns of different stakeholders, we have been promoting effective 
communication and maintaining ongoing relationships with them. We have established a comprehensive stakeholder 
engagement process and will continue to increase stakeholder engagement through constructive conversation to map long 
term prosperity. Stakeholders’ expectations have been taken into consideration by utilising diversified engagement methods 
as shown below:

Stakeholders Expectations and Concerns Communication Channels
   

Shareholders and investors •	 Financial	results
•	 Business	strategies	and	performance

•	 Annual	 general	meeting	 and	 other	
shareholder meetings

•	 Financial	reports
•	 Announcements	and	circulars

Directors •	 Compliant	operation
•	 Business	ethics	and	reputation

•	 ESG	reports
•	 Financial	reports
•	 Meetings

Employees •	 Career	development
•	 Occupational	health	and	safety
•	 Remuneration	and	benefits
•	 Equal	opportunities

•	 Training,	seminars,	and	briefing	sessions
•	 Team	bonding	activities
•	 Internal	meetings
•	 Regular	performance	reviews

Suppliers and service 
 providers

•	 On-time	payment
•	 Fair	and	open	procurement
•	 Business	ethics	and	reputation
•	 Sustainable	relationship

•	 Procurement	process
•	 On-site	visits
•	 Supplier	audit	and	assessment
•	 Supplier	management	meetings
•	 Emails

Customers •	 Quality	of	products	and	services
•	 Privacy	protection
•	 Business	ethics	and	reputation

•	 Customer	satisfaction	survey
•	 Customer	service	hotline	or	email
•	 Company	website

Regulatory bodies and 
 government authorities

•	 Payment	of	tax
•	 Compliant	operation

•	 Compliance	officer
•	 Legal	adviser
•	 On-site	inspections
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Stakeholders Expectations and Concerns Communication Channels
   

Media, community, 
 non-governmental 
 organisations

•	 Transparent	information	disclosure
•	 Giving	back	to	society
•	 Environmental	protection
•	 Compliant	operation

•	 Customer	service	hotline	or	email
•	 Company	website
•	 ESG	reports
•	 Community	activities
•	 Media	channels

Other	external	stakeholders •	 Compliant	operation
•	 Business	ethics	and	reputation

•	 Customer	service	hotline	or	email
•	 Company	website
•	 ESG	reports
•	 Financial	reports

We	aim	to	collaborate	with	our	 stakeholders	 to	 improve	our	ESG	performance	and	create	greater	value	 for	 the	wider	
community continuously.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT
To	 identify	 the	material	 ESG	 issues,	 the	Group	has	 collected	 the	opinions	 from	 its	 internal	 and	external	 stakeholder	
representatives	upon	the	important	topics	to	the	business.	The	Group	conducted	an	online	survey	to	engage	its	significant	
stakeholders.	The	 invited	stakeholders,	 such	as	employees,	suppliers,	 service	providers	and	customers,	provided	a	more	
comprehensive	direction	for	 the	Group’s	 long-term	sustainable	development.	The	materiality	matrix	below	pinpoints	the	
important	ESG	topics	to	the	Group.

Materiality Matrix

Compliance with Laws
and Regulations

Quality Assurance

Talent Acquisition

Supply Chain Management

Energy Efficiency Management

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emission

Talent Development

Occupational Health and Safety

Climate Risk Management

Waste ManagementCommunity Investment

Diversity and Equal
Opportunities

Privacy and Data Protection

Ethics and Integrity

Air Emission

Wastewater Discharge and
Water Management
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After	analysing	the	stakeholders’	 feedback	and	obtaining	the	consultant’s	advice,	the	Board	confirmed	and	 identified	the	
following	material	environmental	and	social	issues	associated	with	the	Group’s	business	operation:

Energy Efficiency
Management

Wastewater Discharge and
Water Management

GHG Emission

Climate Risk
Management

Environmental
Issues

Compliance with Laws
and Regulations

Quality Assurance

Ethics and Integrity

Privacy and
Data Protection

Social
Issues

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACKS
The	Group	welcomes	stakeholders’	comments	and	feedbacks	regarding	its	performance	and	practice	on	ESG	aspects	as	they	
are	valuable	to	the	Group’s	continuous	improvement	and	sustainable	development.	Stakeholders	may	at	any	time	send	their	
enquires	and	recommendations	to	the	Group:

Strong	Petrochemical	Holdings	Limited
Room	1604,	16th	Floor,	Far	East	Finance	Centre,	16	Harcourt	Road,	Admiralty,	Hong	Kong	
Tel:	(852)	2834	3393
Email:	info@strongpetrochem.com
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RESPONSIBLE OPERATIONS
To practise responsibly on the business operation, the Group strives to maintain the operation efficiency while minimising its 
environment footprints and the use of natural resources. In this regard, the Group focuses on supplier selection and 
environmental management to reduce the associated operational risks.

Supply Chain Management
Due to the business nature, maintaining stable commodities sources is vital to the Group. Realising the importance of the 
suppliers, the Group selects all its suppliers with an open and transparent procedure as stipulated under the Supplier Selection 
and Fair Treatment of Suppliers which aligns with the principles of Green Procurement Policy. In addition to the product 
quality and business ethics, the Group conducts background check for suppliers to ensure their products or services comply 
with laws and regulations. To promote a sustainable supply chain, the Group prioritises suppliers certified with international 
environmental standards such as ISO 14001. After evaluating the potential suppliers, the Group provides corresponding 
selection results and suggests improvements to both successful and unsuccessful suppliers. In order to maintain the quality of 
the supply chain, the procurement team of the Group conducts inspections and evaluations on the existing suppliers 
regularly. In order to identify and minimise environmental and social risks along the supply chain, the procurement team 
evaluates the performances of suppliers in terms of their punctuality, product quality, efficiency, environmental and ethical 
performance. If the performances of the suppliers do not meet the standard of the Group, the procurement team will provide 
suggestions and re-evaluate the suppliers. With these practices being implemented, the Group has been dealing with 
suppliers in a mutually supportive way based on the principles of impartiality, fairness and loyalty.

The sources of petroleum products and petrochemicals were defined based on the business location of suppliers while the 
sources of crude oil and coal were defined based on the actual extraction location. There was no purchase of crude oil within 
the scope of the Report during the Reporting Period. The sources of the Group’s commodities in the Reporting Period are 
shown as below:

100%100%100% PRCPRCIndonesia

Petroleum ProductsPetrochemicalsCoal

The number of suppliers by geographical region is as follows:

Geographical Region 2022 2021
   

The PRC 74 83
Hong Kong – 1
Singapore 1 3
Indonesia 3 –
   

78 87
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Quality Assurance
The Group promises to put its best effort to fulfil the needs and satisfactions of its customers and clients. Quality assurance is 
a crucial key to the promise as well as the success of its business. Due to the nature of the Group’s products and trading 
commodities, disclosures on the number of products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons and recall 
procedures are not applicable. Nevertheless, the Group is committed to providing high-quality products and services to the 
customers and clients in a safe manner. In addition to the stringent supplier selection procedure, the Group has also 
stipulated a clear storage procedure to prevent accident occurrence and supplies quality products and services. The quality 
assurance team is responsible for conducting regular on-site inspections to ensure the operation meets the Group’s standard 
on service quality and site safety. To prevent spill and sustain operation efficiency, the Group conducts comprehensive safety 
assessments on the storage tanks and pipelines regularly.

To enhance the qualities of the products and services, the Group values the feedback of its customers and clients and treats 
them as a drive for improvement. Thus, the Group has established various communication channels to understand the 
expectation of customers and clients. During the Reporting Period, the Group received zero (2021: zero) material cases of 
product or service-related complaint.

Privacy and Data Protection
The Group highly concerns its customers’ and suppliers’ privacy including personal data and business information. As a result, 
the Group has established a standard procedure to the employees to handle the sensitive data and prohibit unauthorised 
access to the confidential information. The Information Protection Policy has been established under the Compliance Manual 
and Code of Ethics to ensure the protection of proprietary and confidential information of the Group from loss, misuse or 
misappropriation. Employees are required to observe the terms of the confidentiality clause signed in the employment 
contract. A Password Policy has also been established to define the standards for the creation and frequency of changing 
passwords in order to enhance data security. During the Reporting Period, there were no substantiated incidents regarding 
invasion of customers’ and suppliers’ privacy or loss of data, and the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance 
with relevant laws and regulations including Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Personal Data Protection 
Act of Singapore, and Consumer Protection Law (Law no. 12/88/M) of Macao that had a significant impact on the Group.

Advertising and Labelling
Due to its business nature, the Group conducts limited advertising campaigns and therefore does not involve any significant 
advertising-related risks. Nevertheless, in terms of the advertisement of products and services, the Group strictly regulates and 
monitors products and services promotion to ensure that they comply with advertising and labelling related laws and 
regulations. Such marketing and promotion must accurately reflect the quality and performance of the Group’s services.

Intellectual Property Rights
Intellectual property rights are not considered a material ESG aspect to the Group due to the Group’s business nature. 
Nevertheless, to protect our intellectual property rights, we have registered or made applications to register our trademarks 
and domain names in different jurisdictions. As at 31 December 2022, the Group is registered proprietor of 2 trademarks in 
Hong Kong, 3, 4 and 2 domain names in Hong Kong, the PRC and Macao respectively and has applied for 1 trademark 
registration each in the PRC and Macao. Despite of these, litigation may be necessary to protect our intellectual property 
rights in certain circumstances. The Group will continue to monitor to ensure that its intellectual property rights are not being 
infringed upon.
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Emissions
Air Emission

The Group’s air emissions(1) are mainly generated from the fuel consumption by its vehicles.

During 2022, 17.62 kg of nitrogen oxide (“NOx”), 0.25 kg of sulphur oxide (“SOx”) and 1.45 kg of particulate matter (“PM”) 
have been emitted from the Group’s vehicles.

Note:

1. Due to enhancement of data collection in 2022, data on the Group’s air emission is disclosed for the first time. Therefore, comparison data is not 

available.

The Group has implemented measures relating to the reduction of air emissions including:

•	 perform	efficient	planning	on	driving	routes	to	minimise	the	number	of	trips	made	for	business	purpose;

•	 regularly	maintain	and	repair	the	vehicle	by	qualified	personnel	to	ensure	fuel	consumption	efficiency	and	respective	
emissions have complied with local emission standards; and

•	 switch	off	the	engine	when	the	vehicle	is	idling.

The Group reckons its oil storage business in Strong Nantong releases air pollutants such as non-methane hydrocarbon and 
methylbenzene from evaporation. As a responsible corporation, the Group is dedicated to minimising the evaporation and 
subsequent air emissions that will bring negative impacts to the air quality and public health. In regard to this, the Group has 
installed monitoring devices to prevent the leakage and the abnormal evaporation of the storage tanks. Following relevant 
guidelines and procedures, the Group is committed to conducting inspections and repairing immediately to ensure safety and 
prevent wastage. Apart from regular examination, the Group has installed inner floating roof inside the storage tanks to 
minimise the evaporation rate. Storage evaporation comes up with not only air pollution but also a wastage of resources. In 
order to improve the resource efficiency, the Group has installed oil gas facilities in Strong Nantong to reclaim the vapour 
back to the storage tanks.

The amount of air emissions generated during our operation is considered insignificant, hence no relevant targets were set. 
During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with laws and regulations relating to 
air emissions such as the Air Pollution and Prevention Control Law of the PRC, the Air Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong 
Kong, the Environmental Public Health Act of Singapore, and the Environmental Law (Law no. 2/91/M) of Macao, that had a 
significant impact on the Group.

GHG Emission

The major source of direct GHG emission (Scope 1) of the Group was transportation. Scope 2 GHG emission refers to energy 
indirect GHG emission resulting from the generation of the electricity which the Group purchased. The Group has set a target 
to achieve peak carbon emissions by 2030 to be in line with the PRC’s 14th Five-Year Plan. To achieve the target, the Group 
has taken the following measures:

•	 control	the	selection	of	vehicles;

•	 promote	the	importance	of	vehicle	maintenance	and	environmentally	friendly	driving	habits;	and

•	 adopt	the	energy-saving	measures	described	in	the	paragraph	headed	“Energy	Consumption”.
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The Group’s performance of GHG emission and its intensity is as follows:

Source of Scope 1 and 2 GHG Emission(2) Unit 2022 2021
     

Direct GHG emission 
 (Scope 1)

Offices tonnes of CO2 equivalent 
 (“tCO2e”) 40 15

Strong Nantong tCO2e 5 –
     

Total tCO2e 45 15
     

Energy indirect GHG Offices tCO2e 42 53
 emission (Scope 2) Strong Nantong tCO2e 394 382
     

Total tCO2e 436 435
     

Total GHG emission tCO2e 481 450
     

Total GHG intensity tCO2e/total floor area(3) (m2) 0.29 0.27
tCO2e/revenue(4) (HK$ million) 0.52 0.56

     

Notes:

2. GHG emission data are presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent and are based on, including but not limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A 

Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the World Resources Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable Development, 

the “Notice on the Management of Enterprise Greenhouse Gas Emissions Reporting by Power Generation Industry for 2023–2025” issued by the Ministry 

of Ecology and Environment of the PRC, the global warming potential values from the “Fifth Assessment Report” issued by Intergovernmental Panel on 

Climate Change, “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the HKEx, “Sustainability Report 

2021” released by HK Electric, “Sustainability Report 2021” by CEM of Macao and the “Electricity Grid Emissions Factors and Upstream Fugitive Methane 

Emission Factor, 2005–2021” issued by the Energy Market Authority of Singapore.

3. As at 31 December 2022, the total floor area was 1,651.33 m2 (2021: 1,651.33 m2), representing the sum of (i) gross floor area (“GFA”) of offices in 

Hong Kong headquarter, Macao, Singapore and Quanzhou City in Fujian Province, the PRC and (ii) the GFA of storage site in Strong Nantong. The data 

are also used for calculating other intensity data.

4. The Group’s revenue for 2022 was HK$923.115 million (2021: HK$810.612 million). The data are also used for calculating other intensity data.

Wastewater Discharge

The Group has placed continuous effort on wastewater management. Initial rain and sanitary sewage are the major sources 
of wastewater in Strong Nantong. In order to prevent accidents caused by spills, the Group has installed trench drains around 
the loading area to carry away the surface rainwater. Also, rain and sewage diffluence system has been equipped to recycle 
the wastewater and reuse it to cool down the incoming trucks. In addition, wastewater treatment facility is equipped to treat 
the wastewater before discharging. The sewage was tested by the monitoring system to ensure the compliance with the 
relevant laws and regulation such as the Water Law of the PRC and the Water Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong Kong.
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Waste Management

Waste management is one of the material environmental issues to the business. No hazardous wastes are generated from our 
offices whereas storage business in Strong Nantong generates harmful wastes such as scrapped storage tanks that requires a 
rigorous and careful treatment. The Group has set the following targets on hazardous waste management:

•	 For	solid	hazardous	waste,	reduce	the	waste	 intensity	 (tonnes/total	 floor	area	(m2)) by 3% by 2027 compared to the 
2022 baseline.

•	 For	 liquid	hazardous	waste,	reduce	the	waste	 intensity	 (litres/total	floor	area	(m2)) by 3% by 2027 compared to the 
2022 baseline.

In light of this, the Group has established stringent guidelines to ensure the hazardous wastes are treated properly. Specific 
waste areas are designated to sort and store the waste safely prior to disposal. Licensed waste disposal service companies are 
appointed to dispose and treat the waste appropriately.

For non-hazardous waste management, the Group has set a target to reduce the total non-hazardous waste intensity (tonnes/
total floor area (m2)) by 3% by 2027 compared to the 2022 baseline. In order to achieve this, the Group encourages general 
waste sorting and reducing waste from source. Moreover, recycling reusable materials, such as metals, is also implemented in 
Strong Nantong to reduce the generation of waste. The Group is also committed to conducting annual activities such as 
seminars to raise awareness of waste reduction among employees.

To ensure the guidelines are well implemented, the Group has assigned Environmental Health and Safety (“EHS”) Department 
of Strong Nantong to monitor the waste management practices. Corresponding departments are required to report the 
waste performance to EHS Department periodically. Under the collective effort of different departments, the Group was not 
aware of any material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations including the Solid Waste Environmental Pollution 
Prevention and Control Law of the PRC and Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong that had a significant impact on the 
Group.

Waste Discharged Unit 2022 2021
     

Hazardous waste (Solid) Discharged tonnes 2.71 1.50
Intensity tonnes/total floor area (m2) 0.0016 0.0009

tonnes/revenue (HK$ million) 0.0029 0.0019
     

Hazardous waste (Liquid) Discharged litres 1,485 3,600
Intensity litres/total floor area (m2) 0.8993 2.1801

litres/revenue (HK$ million) 1.6087 4.4411
     

Non-hazardous waste 
— Recyclable materials: 
  metal, plastic and paper(5)

Discharged

tonnes 1.70 2.26
— Disposed general waste tonnes 9.75 12.00
     

Total tonnes 11.45 14.26
     

Total non-hazardous waste Intensity tonnes/total floor area (m2) 0.007 0.009
tonnes/revenue (HK$ million) 0.0124 0.0176

     

Note:

5. Due to enhancement in data collection, the paper consumption data have been collected from offices in Hong Kong, Singapore, Macao and Fujian 

starting from 2022. Therefore, relevant data is not directly comparable with 2021.
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Use of Resources
Energy Consumption

The major sources of energy consumption are the direct consumption of fuel for vehicles and indirect consumption of 
electricity in storage business and office activities. For achieving high energy efficiency in operation, the Group has established 
a wide range of energy-saving practices such as installing LED lights in the workplace. The Group has set a target to reduce 
the total energy consumption intensity (kilowatt-hour (“kWh”)/total floor area (m2)) by 3% by 2027 compared to the 2022 
baseline. In order to ensure the efficiency of the equipment and electrical appliances, the Group conducts energy audit 
regularly to identify malfunction or abnormality. Also, the Group advocates culture of green office through executing various 
initiatives such as encouraging its staff to maintain the office temperature between 24 to 26 degrees Celsius during summer 
and switch off the idle electric appliances to reduce electricity wastage. In order to raise awareness among employees, the 
Group would encourage them to participate in awareness-building activities related to energy conservation annually.

Energy Consumption Unit 2022 2021
     

Direct energy(6) Offices kWh 148,207 N/A
Strong Nantong kWh 18,588 N/A

     

Total kWh 166,795 N/A
     

Indirect energy Offices kWh 72,217 78,375
Strong Nantong kWh 690,068 648,229

     

Total kWh 762,285 726,604
     

Total energy consumption kWh 929,080 726,604
     

Total energy intensity kWh/total floor area (m2) 563 440
kWh/revenue (HK$ million) 1,006.46 896.36

     

Note:

6. The energy conversion has been enhanced and relevant data of direct energy consumption is disclosed starting from 2022. The unit conversion method 

of energy consumption data is formulated based on the “Energy Statistics Manual” issued by the International Energy Agency.
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Water Consumption

Although water consumption is not the most material topic to the operation, the Group endeavours to improve its water 
efficiency. The Group’s water consumption was mainly attributed to the operation in Strong Nantong and it did not 
encounter any issues in water sourcing during the Reporting Period. The Group has set a target to reduce the total water 
consumption intensity (m3/total floor area (m2)) by 3% by 2027 compared to the 2022 baseline. In order to reduce the 
potable water consumption, the Group has reused the water reclaimed by the greywater recycling facilities for irrigation in 
Strong Nantong. The Group also requires its employees to turn off the water tap after using and report any water leakage or 
dripping for prompt maintenance.

Water Consumption Unit 2022 2021
    

Total water consumption m3 3,607 3,420
    

Total water intensity m3/total floor area (m2) 2.18 2.07
m3/revenue (HK$ million) 3.91 4.22

    

Use of Packaging Material

Due to the Group’s business nature, the Group’s production does not involve packaging materials, hence no respective data 
are available and no respective targets have been set.

The Environment and Natural Resources
The Group believes that corporate development should not come at the expense of the environment and natural resources, 
therefore the Group recognises the responsibility in minimising the negative environmental impacts of its business operations 
as an ongoing commitment to good corporate citizenship. The Group remains conscious of its potential impact and has 
established environmental policies and procedures to regularly assess the environmental risks of its business model, adopt 
preventive measures to reduce risks, and ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

Exploring Solar Energy

New and renewable energy, such as solar energy, is popular in recent years. However, solar energy accounts for only a very 
small percentage of the total electricity generation in Hong Kong. To promote the reduction of carbon emissions, solar energy 
systems installations are expected to show a steady growth in the coming years. During the Reporting Period, the Group has 
made an entrance to the new energy industry by exploring the solar energy market in Hong Kong cautiously. With the 
cooperation with potential property and land owners for solar energy systems projects, the Group envisions to become a 
leading solar energy systems operator in the new energy market of Hong Kong in the future.

Raising Environmental Awareness

In addition to strictly requiring employees to implement the environmental protection measures formulated by the Group, the 
Group needs to proactively promote environmental awareness among its employees to effectively enhance its environmental 
protection standards. The Group will also consider participating in more feasible and appropriate activities to help its 
employees increase their awareness of the environment and natural resources.
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Climate Change
Extreme weather, such as typhoons and rainstorms, are now more frequent and severe. The Group recognised that climate 
changes would have significant impact on its business operations and the community. Therefore, the Group has established a 
Climate Change Policy to identify, evaluate and manage climate-related issues. During the Reporting Period, the Group has 
been closely monitoring the impact of climate change to mitigate the potential risks, including the physical risk and transition 
risk.

For physical risk, increased frequency and severity of extreme weather, such as rainstorms and typhoons, can disrupt business 
operations by damaging the storage facilities and endangering the safety of employees. Therefore, the Group maintains a 
comprehensive insurance coverage to mitigate the potential loss arising from extreme weather conditions. Besides, the Group 
has developed comprehensive typhoon and rainstorm arrangements such as allowing employees to work from home to 
safeguard the safety of the employees under extreme weather conditions.

For transition risk, the Group expects the policies and reporting requirements related to climate change will be more 
stringent. As part of its efforts to achieve sustainable development, the PRC government has focused on energy transition to 
meet its 30–60 goals. Due to the reorientation of the country’s energy strategy and new demand for low-carbon energy 
products, oil companies will be facing an uncertain future and will have to explore ways to expand their core business beyond 
products related to oil. To manage the risk, the Group would incorporate sustainability into its investment strategies and 
conduct regular reviews and analysis on the reporting requirements. The Group has been trying to further diversify its 
businesses. The Group has made an entrance to the new energy industry by exploring the solar energy market in Hong Kong 
cautiously and looking for investment opportunities for the initiation of the solar energy business.

In the future, the Group will review its Climate Change Policy from time to time, and continue to enhance its resilience 
against climate-related issues.

HARMONIOUS WORKING ENVIRONMENT
The Group treats its employees as one of the most valuable assets. The Group is committed to promoting its employees’ 
health, wellness, fairness and safety in the workplace.

Talent Acquisition
With the commitment to the fair working environment, the Group forbids any forms of discrimination and harassment, and 
advocates equal-opportunity approach. As an equal opportunities employer, the Group has formulated the Equal Employment 
Opportunities Policy applicable in all aspects of our personnel activities, especially relating to recruitment, training, staff 
development and discipline. Staff who violate this policy shall be liable to disciplinary action. During the recruitment process, 
the Human Resource (“HR”) Department assesses the experience, capability and qualification of the candidates regardless of 
their gender, age, religion or other factors that are not related to their suitability to the position. In addition to the 
harmonious working environment, the Group also provides competitive compensation packages, promotion opportunities, 
reasonable working hours and rest periods to attract and retain talents. Employees are entitled to benefits specified in the 
Staff Handbook including annual medical check-up, various kinds of leave and cash allowance.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations, 
including but not limited to the Employment Ordinance and Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of Hong Kong, the 
Employment Act and the Employment of Foreign Manpower Act of Singapore, and the Labour Relations Law (Law no. 
7/2008) of Macao, that had a significant impact on the Group.
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As of 31 December 2022, the total number of employees in Hong Kong, Macao, Singapore and the PRC was 93 (as at 31 
December 2021: 93). The breakdowns of employees by gender, employee category, staff grade, employment type, age 
group, education level and geographical region are as listed below:

76%

11%

8%

5%

4%

39%

32%

25%

14%

52%

34%

99%

1%

26%

18%

56%

78%

22%

The PRC

Hong Kong

Singapore

Macao

Geographical Region
Master

Bachelor

Diploma

Others

Education Level
Below 31

31–50

Above 50

Age Group

Full-time

Part-time

Employment Type
Senior Management

Managerial / Supervisory

General Sta�

Employee Category
Male

Female

Gender

Labour Standards
During the recruitment process, the HR Department verifies identity and working permits of the candidates to prevent 
employment issues such as child labour and forced labour. To avoid forced labour, the Group strictly follows the clauses 
related to hours of work, retirement age and termination of service stipulated in the Staff Handbook. In case of any 
confirmed forced labour or misuse of child labour, the HR Department would intervene to stop the infringement actions and 
offer reasonable compensation. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with 
relevant laws and regulations, including but not limited to the Employment of Children Regulations of Hong Kong, the 
Employment Act of Singapore, and the Act on the Employment Policy and Labour Rights (Law no. 4/98/M) and Regulation on 
the Prohibition of Illegal Work (Law no. 17/2004) of Macao, that had a significant impact on the Group.
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Storage facilities of Strong Nantong

Safety training in Strong Nantong
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Emergency drills in Strong Nantong

Safety training in Fujian Petrochemical
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Occupational Health and Safety
Under the Safety Policy, it is the primary objective of the Group to ensure and provide, so far as is reasonably practicable, a 
safe and healthy working environment. We aim to exceed the minimum statutory requirements where possible. In order to 
create a safe and secure environment to the employees, the Group has developed a standardised Safety Management System 
in accordance with Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance and Law of the PRC and Occupational Safety and Health 
Ordinance of Hong Kong. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with 
relevant laws and regulations, including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance of Hong Kong, the 
Workplace Safety and Health Act of Singapore, and the General Regulation on Health and Safety in a non-industrial work 
environment (Decree-Law 37/89/M), that had a significant impact on the Group.

Adhering to the principle of “safety comes first”, the Group also has formulated Special Equipment Safety Technical 
Supervision Procedures for the Strong Nantong employees to operate the equipment safely and reduce the embedded risks. 
To monitor the safety measures’ effectiveness, the Environment, Health and Safety (“EHS”) Department is responsible for 
overseeing the implementation of the safety management system and the safety procedure:

•	 identifying,	assessing,	and	mitigating	risks	based	on	safety	standards	and	guidelines;

•	 updating	the	safety	standards	to	ensure	they	align	with	the	latest	industrial	practices	and	local	regulations;

•	 conducting	regular	on-site	inspections	and	supervisions	to	ensure	a	safe	workplace;

•	 providing	personal	protective	equipment,	such	as	safety	helmets,	safety	shoes	and	gas	masks;

•	 offering	safety	 trainings	and	emergency	drills	 to	 increase	employees’	safety	awareness	and	responsiveness	 to	 the	
accidents; and

•	 arranging	annual	occupational	health	check	to	employees	to	monitor	their	health	conditions.

Under the relentless effort of the EHS Department, there were no lost working days due to work-related injury. In each of the 
past three years including the Reporting Period, the Group did not record any work-related fatalities.

Response to COVID-19 Pandemic

In view of the continuation of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has adopted protective and preventive measures in the 
workplace. Employees are reminded of the importance of maintaining good personal hygiene by washing hands frequently 
and are provided surgical masks whenever necessary. To reduce the risk of infection, employees are encouraged to visit 
doctors whenever feeling unwell. They are also advised to defer work-related travel plans; for them being not avoidable, the 
quarantine period upon return would be considered as paid-leaves.
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Talent Development
Apart from employees’ health and safety, the Group also takes the employees’ growth into account that bring significant 
impact to the Group’s long-term development. For the purpose of promoting their skills development and potentials release, 
the HR Department has instituted a comprehensive Training Management Standard to provide the employees with trainings 
based on respective roles, positions and requirements. In order to encourage the employees to pursue external training or 
education which are beneficial to the business and their career development, the Group grants education leave and offers 
subsidies for training and education fees to motivate them, as well as easing their financial burdens.

1,461
1,304

426

242 313
204

INTERNAL TRAINING EXTERNAL TRAINING PROFESSIONAL TRAINING

Training
Hours

2022

2021

ETHICS AND INTEGRITY
Anti-corruption
Upholding the principles of integrity and fairness, the Group does not tolerate any forms of corruptive behaviours including 
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering. The Compliance Manual and Code of Ethics serves as a guide for the Group’s 
directors and employees to uphold work ethics during their discharge of duties. The guiding principles include prevention of 
money laundering and any actual or potential conflict of interest such as accepting or offering gift and entertainment during 
the course of business. In order to prevent and combat against the misconduct, the Group has stipulated a set of 
Whistleblowing Policy. Employees are encouraged to report any suspicious case to the compliance officer or the chairman of 
the Audit Committee. The compliance officer would investigate the reported case and report to the Audit Committee. In case 
of confirmed misbehaviour, the Group would report it to the Independent Commission Against Corruption and take 
corresponding legal action.

Training materials such as readings about business ethics and anti-corruption practices are sent to Directors and employees at 
least once every year to ensure they have sufficient knowledge to identify corruption issues. During the Reporting Period, 
anti-corruption training sessions of 1 hour each were provided to 4 Directors and 41 employees respectively.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with all local laws and regulations relating to anti-corruption including 
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Prevention of Corruption Act of Singapore, and the Law on Prevention 
and Suppression of Money Laundering Crimes (Law no. 2/2006) of Macao. There were no concluded legal cases regarding 
corrupt practices brought against the Group or its employees during the Reporting Period.
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COMMUNITY INVESTMENT
Upholding the ethical standards set for all senior executives and employees of the Group under the Compliance Manual and 
Code of Ethics, the Group regards social responsibility as one of the essential elements of its sustainable business 
development and is devoted to contributing to the communities in which it operates. The Group has participated in and 
sponsored various charity activities to support different non-profit organisations’ work on helping the underprivileged.

During the Reporting Period, Strong Nantong donated RMB40,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$45,000) to Red Cross of 
Nantong Economic and Technological Development Area in support of its effort in the community.

LOOKING FORWARD
The Group continues to enhance sustainability in its business operation. In addition, the Group will continue to look for 
business opportunities in the renewable energy sector to bring positive impacts for both financial, environmental and social 
aspects.

PERFORMANCE TABLE
Environmental Performance Unit 2022 2021

Water Consumption

Total water consumption m3 3,607 3,420

Total water intensity m3/total floor area (m2) 2.18 2.07

m3/revenue (HK$ million) 3.91 4.22

Waste Discharged

Hazardous waste (Solid) Discharged tonnes 2.71 1.50

Intensity tonnes/total floor area (m2) 0.0016 0.0009

tonnes/revenue (HK$ million) 0.0029 0.0019

Hazardous waste (Liquid) Discharged litres 1,485 3,600

Intensity litres/total floor area (m2) 0.8993 2.1801

litres/revenue (HK$ million) 1.6087 4.4411

Non-hazardous waste
— Recyclable materials: metal, 
  plastic and paper

— Disposed general waste

Discharged

tonnes 1.70 2.26

tonnes 9.75 12.00

Total non-hazardous waste discharged tonnes 11.45 14.26

Total non-hazardous waste intensity tonnes/total floor area (m2) 0.007 0.009

tonnes/revenue (HK$ million) 0.0124 0.0176

Energy Consumption

Direct energy Offices kWh 148,207 N/A

Strong Nantong kWh 18,588 N/A

Total kWh 166,795 N/A

Indirect energy Offices kWh 72,217 78,375

Strong Nantong kWh 690,068 648,229

Total kWh 762,285 726,604

Total energy consumption kWh 929,080 726,604
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Total energy intensity kWh/total floor area (m2) 563 440

kWh/revenue (HK$ million) 1,006.46 896.36

GHG Emission

Direct GHG emission (Scope 1) Offices tCO2e 40 15

Strong Nantong tCO2e 5 –

Total tCO2e 45 15

Energy indirect GHG emission (Scope 2) Offices tCO2e 42 53

Strong Nantong tCO2e 394 382

Total tCO2e 436 435

Total GHG emission tCO2e 481 450

Total GHG intensity tCO2e/total floor area (m2) 0.29 0.27

tCO2e/revenue (HK$ million) 0.52 0.56

Social Performance Unit 2022 2021

Total Workforce No. of people 93 93

By gender
Male No. of people 73 74

Female No. of people 20 19

By age group

<31 No. of people 13 17

31–50 No. of people 48 42

>51 No. of people 32 34

By employee category

Senior Management No. of people 24 24

Managerial/Supervisory No. of people 17 21

General Staff No. of people 52 48

By employment type
Full-time No. of people 92 93

Part-time No. of people 1 –

Employee Turnover Rate(7)

By gender
Male Percentage 11 11

Female Percentage 5 19

By age group

<31 Percentage 7 20

31–50 Percentage 9 13

>51 Percentage 12 9

By geographical region

Hong Kong Percentage 26 14

Macao Percentage – –

Singapore Percentage 35 –

The PRC Percentage 4 15
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Training

By gender

Male
Training percentage(8) 73 62

Average training hours(9) 18.1 40.2

Female
Training percentage(8) 60 42

Average training hours(9) 21.5 44.0

By employee category

Senior Management
Training percentage(8) 58 50

Average training hours(9) 34.2 37.6

Managerial/Supervisory
Training percentage(8) 29 52

Average training hours(9) 2.5 37.6

General Staff
Training percentage(8) 88 65

Average training hours(9) 37.1 43.1

Occupational Health and Safety Unit 2022 2021 2020

Lost days due to injuries Days – – –

Number of fatalities No. of people – – –

Rate of fatalities Percentage – – –

Notes:

7. Calculation of turnover rate:

Number of employees who left during the reporting period
X 100%

(Beginning+ending number of employees during the reporting period)/2

8. Calculation of percentage of employees trained by category:

Number of employees trained in the specific category during the reporting period
X 100%

Number of employees in the specific category at the end of the reporting period

9. Calculation of average training hours by category:

Training hours of employees in the specific category during the reporting period

Number of employees in the specific category at the end of the reporting period
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF THE HKEX
Mandatory Disclosure Requirements Section
  

Governance Structure Message from the Chairman; Stakeholder Engagement; Materiality Assessment
Reporting Principles Reporting Framework
Reporting Boundary Reporting Scope

Subject Areas, Aspects, 
General Disclosures 
and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
   

SUBJECT AREA (A) ENVIRONMENTAL
A1: EMISSIONS
General Disclosure Information on:

(a) the policies; and 
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a 

significant impact on the issuer 
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water 
and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Emissions

A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions
A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas 

emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. 
per unit of production volume, per facility).

GHG Emission

A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, 
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

Waste Management

A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where 
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

Waste Management

A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. GHG Emission
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are 

handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken 
to achieve them.

Waste Management

A2: USE OF RESOURCES
General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and 

other raw materials.
Use of Resources

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas 
or oil) in total (kWh in ’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production 
volume, per facility).

Energy Consumption

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production 
volume, per facility).

Water Consumption

A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to 
achieve them.

Energy Consumption

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit 
for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve 
them.

Water Consumption

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if 
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

Use of Packaging 
Material (Not applicable 
— explained)
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Subject Areas, Aspects, 
General Disclosures 
and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
   

A3: THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES
General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the 

environment and natural resources.
The Environment and 
Natural Resources

A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment 
and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

The Environment and 
Natural Resources

A4: CLIMATE CHANGE
General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related 

issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
Climate Change

A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have 
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions 
taken to manage them.

Climate Change

SUBJECT AREA (B) SOCIAL
B1: EMPLOYMENT
General Disclosure Information on:

(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a 

significant impact on the issuer 
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, 
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

Talent Acquisition

B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or 
part-time), age group and geographical region.

Talent Acquisition

B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical 
region.

Performance Table

B2: HEALTH AND SAFETY
General Disclosure Information on: 

(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a 

significant impact on the issuer 
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting 
employees from occupational hazards.

Occupational Health 
and Safety

B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the 
past three years including the reporting year.

Occupational Health 
and Safety

B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Occupational Health 
and Safety

B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and 
how they are implemented and monitored.

Occupational Health 
and Safety

B3: DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging 

duties at work. Description of training activities.
Talent Development

B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee 
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).

Performance Table

B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and 
employee category.

Performance Table
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Subject Areas, Aspects, 
General Disclosures 
and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
   

B4: LABOUR STANDARDS
General Disclosure Information on:

(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a 

significant impact on the issuer 
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

Labour Standards

B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid 
child and forced labour.

Labour Standards

B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when 
discovered.

Labour Standards

B5: SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply 

chain.
Supply Chain 
Management

B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain 
Management

B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of 
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how they are 
implemented and monitored.

Supply Chain 
Management

B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks 
along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and 
monitored.

Supply Chain 
Management

B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable 
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are 
implemented and monitored.

Supply Chain 
Management

B6: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY
General Disclosure Information on: 

(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a 

significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters 
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.

Quality Assurance, 
Privacy and Data 
Protection, Advertising 
and Labelling

B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for 
safety and health reasons.

Quality Assurance (Not 
applicable — explained)

B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how 
they are dealt with.

Quality Assurance

B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting 
intellectual property rights.

Intellectual Property 
Rights

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Quality Assurance
B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how 

they are implemented and monitored.
Privacy and Data 
Protection
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Subject Areas, Aspects, 
General Disclosures 
and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
   

B7: ANTI-CORRUPTION
General Disclosure Information on: 

(a) the policies; and 
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a 

significant impact on the issuer 
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Anti-corruption

B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought 
against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and 
the outcomes of the cases.

Anti-corruption

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, 
how they are implemented and monitored.

Anti-corruption

B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. Anti-corruption
B8: COMMUNITY INVESTMENT
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the 

communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities 
take into consideration the communities’ interests.

Community Investment

B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, 
labour needs, health, culture, sport).

Community Investment

B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community Investment
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its principal associates and subsidiaries 
are set out in notes 17 and 40 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Detailed business review as required by Schedule 5 to the new Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong 
Kong), including the particulars of important events affecting the Group, a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties 
facing the Group, an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business and an analysis of the Group’s 
performance using financial key performance indicators, is set out in the Chairman’s Statement and the Management 
Discussion and Analysis on pages 4 to 5 and pages 6 to 12 respectively.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
Environmental policies have been adopted by the Group for the implementation of environmentally friendly measures and 
practices in the operation of the Group’s businesses, which include, among others, discharging wastewater produced to 
sewage treatment plant, encouraging employees to adopt green lifestyle in office by using recycled paper and printing on 
both sides and encouraging the use of video conferencing or telephone conferencing as a substitute to business travel.

The Group has also reviewed its environmental policies and performance from time to time in order to minimise the 
environmental impacts from our operations. During the year, the Company was not aware of any non-compliance with any 
regulations related to environmental protection that had a significant impact on the Group.

Detailed environmental policies and performance of the Group are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance 
Report on pages 29 to 53.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
During the year, the Company was not aware of any non-compliance with any relevant laws and regulations that had a 
significant impact on the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
Employees
Employees are regarded as one of the most important and valuable assets of the Group. The Group strives to reward and 
recognise performing employees by providing a competitive remuneration package and implementing a sound performance 
appraisal system with appropriate incentives, and to promote career development and progression by appropriate training 
and providing opportunities within the Group for career advancement.
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Customers and Suppliers
The Group maintains stable and cooperative relationships with its customers. To ensure that our traded products remain 
competitive, the Group closely monitors market movements and collaborates with customers for new products development. 
Our traders communicate with our customers frequently to ensure different varieties of commodities the Group trades can 
meet the demands and changing requirements of customers. The Group also manages its relationship with suppliers to 
ensure reliability, stability and quality of different commodities supplied to the Group.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income on pages 68 to 69.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividends for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
The register of members of the Company will be closed from, Monday, 22 May 2023 to Thursday, 25 May 2023, both days 
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM to 
be held on 25 May 2023, all completed share transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged 
with the branch share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, 17th Floor, Far East Finance 
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 19 May 2023.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 28 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results, total assets and equity of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 3.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
The distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2022, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act, 
Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately HK$955.9 
million.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors Independent Non-executive Directors
  

Mr. Wang Jian Sheng Ms. Cheung Siu Wan
Mr. Yao Guoliang Prof. Chan Yee Kwong

Mr. Deng Heng

In accordance with Article 87 of the Company’s articles of association, Mr. Yao Guoliang and Ms. Cheung Siu Wan should 
retire at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The Directors’ biographical details are set out on pages 13 to 14.

The Company received confirmation from each of the INEDs of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. 
The Company considered all the INEDs as independent from the date of their appointment to 31 December 2022.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company 
which is not terminable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory 
compensation).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the management and administration of the whole or any 
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” of this report and note 35 to the consolidated financial 
statements, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the 
Company or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, 
subsisted at any time during the year or at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
As at the date of this report, none of the Directors, the management shareholders of the Company and their respective 
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business which causes or may cause a significant competition 
with the business of the Group and any other conflicts of interest which any such person has or may have with the Group.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
As at 31 December 2022, the interest and short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, 
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of Company’s associated corporations (within the meaning of the 
Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO”)), as recorded in the register required 
to be kept under Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the HKEx pursuant to the 
Model Code are set out below:

Long Position in Ordinary Shares of HK$0.025 Each of the Company

Name of Director Nature of interest

 Number of
ordinary 

shares held

Approximate 
percentage 

of the issued 
share capital of 

the Company 
(%)

    

Mr. Wang Jian Sheng Interest of a controlled corporation (note 1) 1,041,746,000 49.06
Interest of a controlled corporation (note 2) 50,576,000 2.38
Interest of concert parties (note 3) 124,984,000 5.89

Mr. Yao Guoliang Beneficial owner 124,984,000 5.89
Interest of a controlled corporation (note 1) 1,041,746,000 49.06
Interest of concert parties (note 4) 50,576,000 2.38

Notes:

1. Each of Sino Century and Jin Yao holds 50% of the entire issued share capital of Forever Winner. Mr. Wang holds the entire issued share capital of Sino 

Century. Mr. Yao holds the entire issued share capital of Jin Yao.

2. Mr. Wang holds the entire issued share capital of Speed Success.

3. Since Mr. Wang and Mr. Yao jointly control Forever Winner which in turn holds 1,041,746,000 shares of the Company, Mr. Wang and Mr. Yao are 

deemed as parties acting in concert. Therefore, as Mr. Yao beneficially owns approximately 5.89% equity interest in the Company as at 31 December 

2022, Mr. Wang shall be deemed to hold the same equity interest in the Company.

4. Since Mr. Wang and Mr. Yao jointly control Forever Winner which in turn holds 1,041,746,000 shares of the Company, Mr. Wang and Mr. Yao are 

deemed as parties acting in concert. Therefore, as Mr. Wang indirectly owns approximately 2.38% equity interest in the Company as at 31 December 

2022, Mr. Yao shall be deemed to hold the same equity interest in the Company.

Save for those disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had any 
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated 
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of 
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to Company and the HKEx pursuant to the Model Code.

None of the Directors or chief executive of the Company (including their spouses and children under the age of 18), during 
the year ended 31 December 2022, held any interests in or was granted any right to subscribe for the securities of Company 
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), or had exercised any such rights.
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SHARE OPTIONS
The share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was adopted on 15 May 2014 in view of the Share Option Scheme 
being able to provide the Company with more flexibility in long term planning of granting of the share options to the 
employees, Directors, consultants, advisers and shareholders of the Group in a longer period in the future so as to provide 
appropriate incentives or rewards to them for their contributions or potential contributions to the Group.

The movements in the share options of the Company under the Share Option Scheme during the year are set out as follows:

Price of share of the Company Number of share options(2)

  

Nature or category of participant
Date of grant  (1) 

(dd/mm/yy)

Exercise
price
HK$

At the
grant date

of share
options

HK$

At the
exercise date

of share
options

HK$

Outstanding
at

01/01/2022

Exercised
during

the year

Lapsed
during

the year

Outstanding
at

31/12/2022
         

Related entity participants or service
 providers with options and
 awards granted and to be
 granted in any 12-month period
 exceeding 0.1% of the relevant
 class of shares in issue(3) 05/09/14 0.78 0.77 N/A 138,000,000 – – 138,000,000
         

Total 138,000,000 – – 138,000,000
         

Notes:

1. Options granted are exercisable during the period starting from 6 September 2014 to 14 May 2024.

2. During the year, no share options of the Company were lapsed or exercised.

3. They represented advisers who had provided advisory services (mainly for business opportunity for trading of crude oil) to the Group.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements 
to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any 
other body corporate.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2022, the Directors are not aware of any other person, (other than the interests 
of the Director or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the 
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were 
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:

Long Position in Shares of the Company

Name of shareholder Nature of interest
Number of 

ordinary shares

Approximate 
percentage of 
shareholding 

(%)
    

Forever Winner Beneficial Owner (note 1) 1,041,746,000 49.06
Mr. Yao Guoliang Beneficial Owner 124,984,000 5.89
Speed Success Beneficial Owner (note 2) 50,576,000 2.38
Hongkong Hengyuan Investment Limited Beneficial Owner (note 3) 353,603,681 16.65



Directors’ Report

S T R O N G  P E T R O C H E M I C A L  H O L D I N G S  L I M I T E D   2 0 2 2  A N N U A L  R E P O R T 59

Notes:

1. Each of Sino Century and Jin Yao holds 50% of the entire issued share capital of Forever Winner. Mr. Wang holds the entire issued share capital of Sino 
Century. Mr. Yao holds the entire issued share capital of Jin Yao.

2. Mr. Wang holds the entire issued share capital of Speed Success.

3. Mr. Chang Liang holds the entire issued share capital of Hongkong Hengyuan Investment Limited.

INTERESTS OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS IN CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed below in the section of “Connected Transactions”, and in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements, 
there was no contract of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and controlling shareholders (as defined 
in paragraph 16 of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules) or any of its subsidiaries, at any time during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Shareholder Loan Agreements
On 11 December 2020, the Group entered into shareholder loan agreements with Mr. Wang Jian Sheng and Mr. Yao 
Guoliang respectively, the controlling shareholders of the Company, pursuant to which each of Mr. Wang and Mr. Yao 
agreed to provide an unsecured term loan of HK$60.0 million, in aggregate of HK$120.0 million to the Group. Each of the 
shareholder loans bore an interest of 1-month Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus 1.75% per annum. The Group shall 
repay the shareholder loans in full on 10 March 2021 or upon demand. The repayment date was extended to 10 December 
2021 as mutually agreed by the parties. The shareholder loans had been utilised by the Group to support its operating 
activities. Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 11 December 2020, 10 June 2021 and 10 September 
2021 for more details. The shareholder loans have been fully settled in December 2021. During the year ended 31 December 
2021, the shareholder loan agreements constituted connected transactions and related party transactions and the details of 
the interest expense are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

The connected transactions under the above shareholder loans are not secured by any assets of the Group and are conducted 
on normal commercial terms or better and therefore are exempted from the reporting, annual review and independent 
shareholders’ approval requirements contemplated under Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules.

Tenancy Agreement
During the year, the Group entered into a tenancy agreement with Strong Property Limited, which constituted connected 
transaction and related party transaction and the details are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

The connected transaction under the above tenancy agreement falls within the de minimis threshold under Rule 14A.76(1) of 
the Listing Rules and therefore is exempted from the reporting, annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’ 
approval requirements contemplated under the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
The Group had no continuing connected transactions during the year.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting to approximately HK$45,000 (2021: HK$50,000).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers and purchases from the five largest suppliers accounted 
for approximately 63% and approximately 64% of the total sales and purchases for the year, respectively. The Group’s 
largest customer and supplier accounted for approximately 32% and approximately 34% of the total sales and purchases for 
the year, respectively.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of 
the Company’s share capital) has a beneficial interest in these major customers or suppliers.

EMOLUMENT POLICY
The Group mainly determines staff remuneration in accordance with market terms and individual qualifications.

The Group implemented its remuneration policy, bonus and share option scheme based on the achievements and 
performance of employees.

The emoluments of the Directors will be decided by the Remuneration Committee having regard to the Group’s operating 
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics. Details of Directors’ emolument and other staff costs are set 
out in notes 11 and 10 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
Other than operating a Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme, participating in the defined contribution pension 
scheme operated by the Macao government authority, the Central Provident Fund operated by Singapore government and 
the PRC state-managed retirement benefit scheme, the Group has not operated any other retirement benefit scheme for the 
Group’s employees. Particulars of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and 
profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he or she may incur 
or sustain in or about the execution of the duties of his or her office or otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of 
the Group throughout the year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The Group had no significant events after 31 December 2022.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT
Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Options” of this report, no equity-linked agreements were entered into during 
the year or subsisted at the end of the year ended 31 December 2022.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s securities during the 
year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association, or laws of the Cayman Islands, 
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF LISTED SECURITIES
The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the shareholders by reason of their respective holding 
of the Company’s securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
As at the date of this report, based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the knowledge of the 
Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float.

AUDITOR
On 10 December 2020, Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect from 10 
December 2020 as the Company and Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu could not reach a consensus on the auditor’s 
remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2020. The Board, with the recommendation from the Audit Committee, has 
resolved to appoint Messrs. BDO Limited as the auditor of the Company with effect from 14 December 2020 to fill the casual 
vacancy following the resignation of Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and to hold office until the conclusion of the next 
AGM. Pursuant to Article 158 of the byelaws of the Company, the Board has the power to fill any casual vacancy in the office 
of auditor and to fix the remuneration of the auditor so appointed. Accordingly, no extraordinary general meeting was held 
for such purpose.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 14 December 2020 for more details.

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2020, 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022  
have been audited by Messrs. BDO Limited.

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Messrs. BDO Limited as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Wang Jian Sheng
Chairman

23 March 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of
Strong Petrochemical Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Strong Petrochemical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 68 to 154 which comprise the consolidated statement 
of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 
Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of 
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the 
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
  

Valuation of interest in an associate

We identified the valuation of the Group’s interest in an 
associate located in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), 
Sinochem Tianjin Port Petrochemical Terminal Co., Ltd. 
(“Sinochem Port”), as a key audit matter due to the significant 
estimation involved by the management of the Group in 
determining the recoverable amount of Sinochem Port.

As set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements, 
the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in Sinochem Port 
as at 31 December 2022 is HK$71,668,000. Sinochem Port is 
principally engaged in provision of crude oil and petrochemicals 
storage services in the PRC. Its financial performance is highly 
dependent on the service charges and demand for these 
storage services, which are influenced by market conditions. 
Sinochem Port performed unsatisfactorily in prior years and 
certain impairment losses have been provided. In 2022, 
Sinochem Port performs satisfactorily and the Group recognises 
its share of profit of HK$4,281,000 for the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the management of 
the Group has performed an impairment assessment on its 
interest in this associate and concluded that the recoverable 
amount of Sinochem Port exceeded its carrying value.  Thus, 
the  Group recogn ised a  reversa l  o f  impa i rment  of 
HK$4,394,000 for the year. This conclusion is based on the 
value-in-use calculation using a discounted cash flow model 
developed by the management’s expert. The model requires 
significant estimation on growth rates and gross profit margin 
which form parts of the underlying future cash flows of this 
associate and the appropriate discount rate.

Our procedures to the valuation of the Group’s interest in 
an associate included:

•	 Understanding	 the	basis	 adopted	 in	 the	 valuation	
methodology prepared by the management;

•	 Assessing	the	reasonableness	of	the	key	assumptions	
made by the management, including growth rates and 
gross profit with reference to the current market 
circumstances;

•	 Assessing	the	appropriateness	of	key	inputs	applied	by	
the management in preparing the cash flow forecast 
against historical performance, including revenue, cost 
of sales and operating expenses, and with reference to 
the future strategic plans of this associate; and

•	 Involving	our	internal	valuation	specialists	in	evaluating	
the reasonableness of the value-in-use model and 
discounted cash flow method adopted, projection 
periods, terminal growth rate, and the discount rates 
used in the impairment assessment.

  



S T R O N G  P E T R O C H E M I C A L  H O L D I N G S  L I M I T E D   2 0 2 2  A N N U A L  R E P O R T64

Independent Auditor’s Report

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
  

Recoverability of trade receivables

As set out in Note 19, as at 31 December 2022, the carrying 
value of the Group’s trade receivables amounted to 
HK$348,790,000, representing approximately 24% of total 
assets. Of which, HK$343,391,000 were past due over 365 
days based on invoice date.

To measure the expected credit losses (“ECLs”) of trade 
receivables, the Group assesses the overdue balances 
individually by reference to past default experience, current 
past due exposure of the debtors, an analysis of the debtors’ 
current financial position, and also taking into account the 
market value of the collateral held against overdue trade 
receivables, if any.

We identified the recoverability of trade receivables as a key 
audit matter due to the significance of the balance to the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, combined with 
the significant degree of judgements made by the management 
in assessing the impairment of trade receivables and 
determining the allowance for impairment losses.

Our procedures to assess the recoverability of trade 
receivables included:

•	 Obta in ing	 an	 understanding	 of 	 the	 bas i s 	 of	
management’s judgements about the recoverability of 
individual balances and evaluating the impairment 
allowances with reference to debtors’ financial 
condition, the industry in which the debtors are 
operating, historical and post year-end payment 
records, legal documents in relation to disputes with 
debtors and other relevant information obtained from 
other audit procedures;

•	 Assessing	the	assumptions	and	estimates	made	by	the	
management in development of the ECLs including 
considering the debtors’ expected payment pattern 
along with macroeconomic information; and

•	 Obtaining	 a	 summary	 of	 subsequent	 settlements	
relating to trade receivable balances as at 31 
December 2022 and inspecting underlying documents 
relating to the payments received on a sample basis.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
  

Valuation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

As set out in Note 20, as at 31 December 2022, the Group has 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss that comprise 
mainly an unlisted equity investment with a carrying value of 
HK$152,564,000. The management of the Group has assessed 
the fair value of this investment using discounted cash flow 
model. The Group recognised a fair value loss relating to the 
unlisted equity investment of HK$44,921,000 for the year. Fair 
value measurement of this investment is classified as Level 3 of 
the fair value hierarchy as set out in Note 4.

We identified the valuation of this investment as a key audit 
matter due to the significance of judgement and assumptions 
involved in the management’s assessment and the subjectivity 
in determination of the Level 3 fair value given the lack of 
availability of market-based data.

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of Level 3 
financial assets included:

•	 Reviewing	 the	 valuation	 report	 prepared	 by	 the	
management’s expert and understanding the valuation 
basis, methodology used and underlying assumptions 
applied;

•	 Evaluating	the	competency,	capabilities	and	objectivity	
of the management’s expert;

•	 Assessing	 the	 appropriateness	 of	 the	 valuation	
methodology used by the management’s expert;

•	 Considering	 the	 appropriateness	of	 the	multiples	
selected from the market comparable, the discount of 
lack of  control  and the discount for  lack of 
marketability with the assistance of our internal 
valuation specialists;

•	 Checking	the	accuracy	and	the	relevant	of	the	 input	
data used; and

• Assessing the adequacy of fair value disclosures in 
relation to the financial assets.

  

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
We have nothing to report in this regard.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but 
to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. The audit committee of the 
Company (“Audit Committee”) assists the directors in discharging their responsibilities in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This 
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do 
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify	and	assess	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain	an	understanding	of	 internal	 control	 relevant	 to	 the	audit	 in	order	 to	design	audit	procedures	 that	are	
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s 
internal control.

•	 Evaluate	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	the	reasonableness	of	accounting	estimates	and	related	
disclosures made by the directors.
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•	 Conclude	on	the	appropriateness	of	the	directors’	use	of	the	going	concern	basis	of	accounting	and,	based	on	the	audit	
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

•	 Evaluate	 the	overall	presentation,	 structure	and	content	of	 the	consolidated	 financial	 statements,	 including	 the	
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain	sufficient	appropriate	audit	evidence	regarding	the	financial	 information	of	the	entities	or	business	activities	
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Amy Yau Shuk Yuen
Practising Certificate No. P06095
Hong Kong, 23 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of
Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Revenue 5
 Goods and services 910,893 798,024
 Leases 12,222 12,588
    

923,115 810,612

Cost of sales (889,759) (772,180)
    

Gross profit 33,356 38,432
Other income 7 39,710 10,718
Other gains and losses 7 12,779 25,625
Other operating income 7 28,147 90,537
Impairment loss on other receivables 34 – (1,836)
Impairment loss on investment properties 15 – (24,910)
Reversal of impairment loss on interest in an associate 17 4,394 6,723
(Loss)/gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, net 20 (17,700) 1,669
Gain on changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments, net 21,771 72,047
Distribution, selling and operating expenses (27,642) (121,581)
Administrative expenses (84,909) (87,383)
Finance costs 8 (625) (3,497)
Share of results of associates 17 4,281 7,949
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary 29 – (573)
    

Profit before taxation 10 13,562 13,920

Income tax expense 9 (7,828) (7,696)
    

Profit for the year 5,734 6,224
    

Other comprehensive (expense)/income
 Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
  Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations (48,546) 11,475
  Reclassification of cumulative translation reserve to profit or loss 
   upon disposal of subsidiaries – 43
    

Other comprehensive (expense)/income for the year (48,546) 11,518
    

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year (42,812) 17,742
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

Consolidated Statement of
Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

2022 2021
NOTE HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to:
 Owners of the Company 6,180 6,224
 Non-controlling interests (446) –
    

5,734 6,224
    

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year attributable to:
 Owners of the Company (42,366) 17,736
 Non-controlling interests (446) 6
    

(42,812) 17,742
    

Earnings per share 13
 — basic (HK cents) 0.29 0.29
    

 — diluted (HK cents) 0.29 0.29
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

At 31 December 2022

2022 2021
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Non-current assets
 Property, plant and equipment 14 172,534 129,186
 Investment properties 15 165,984 174,400
 Right-of-use assets 25 66,840 71,216
 Other assets 16 1,792 1,828
 Trade receivables 19 119,931 310,354
 Rental deposit 19 533 214
 Interests in associates 17 71,668 68,434
 Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss 20 152,564 197,485
    

751,846 953,117
    

Current assets
 Inventories 18 35,177 –
 Trade receivables 19 228,859 232,433
 Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 19 23,127 48,075
 Income tax recoverables 839 –
 Derivative financial instruments 26 613 59,980
 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 20 338 417
 Deposits placed with brokers 21 123,219 176,302
 Pledged bank deposit 21 26,598 –
 Bank balances and cash 22 287,962 158,152
    

726,732 675,359
    

Current liabilities
 Trade payables 23 38,855 –
 Other payables and accrued charges 23 35,442 106,410
 Contract liabilities 24 2,078 1,756
 Lease liabilities 25 2,840 1,360
 Income tax payables 1,046 1,812
 Derivative financial instruments 26 514 78,054
    

80,775 189,392
    

Net current assets 645,957 485,967
    

Total assets less current liabilities 1,397,803 1,439,084
    



S T R O N G  P E T R O C H E M I C A L  H O L D I N G S  L I M I T E D   2 0 2 2  A N N U A L  R E P O R T 71

At 31 December 2022

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

2022 2021
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Non-current liabilities
 Lease liabilities 25 1,674 223
    

1,674 223
    

Net assets 1,396,129 1,438,861
    

Capital and reserves
 Share capital 28 53,084 53,084
 Reserves 1,343,411 1,385,777
    

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 1,396,495 1,438,861

Non-controlling interests (366) –
    

Total equity 1,396,129 1,438,861
    

The consolidated financial statements on pages 68 to 154 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors 
on 23 March 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Wang Jian Sheng Yao Guoliang
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Attributable to owners of the Company
 

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Special 
reserve

Legal 
reserve/

Statutory 
reserves

Share-based 
payments 

reserve
Translation 

reserve
Other 

reserve
 Retained

profits Sub-total

 Non-
controlling

interests Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note (i)) (note (ii)) (note (iii))
            

At 1 January 2021 53,084 566,111 (1,922) 49 50,391 10,206 12,295 730,911 1,421,125 503 1,421,628
            

Profit for the year – – – – – – – 6,224 6,224 – 6,224
Exchange differences arising on  
 translation of foreign operations – – – – – 11,469 – – 11,469 6 11,475
Reclassification of cumulative
 translation reserve to profit or loss 
 upon disposal of a subsidiary (Note 29) – – – – – 43 – – 43 – 43
            

Total comprehensive income 
 for the year – – – – – 11,512 – 6,224 17,736 6 17,742
            

Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 29) – – – – – – – – – (509) (509)
Reclassification of legal reserve to
 retained profits upon closure of 
 the Macao subsidiary – – – (49) – – – 49 – – –
            

– – – (49) – – – 49 – (509) (509)
            

At 31 December 2021 53,084 566,111 (1,922) – 50,391 21,718 12,295 737,184 1,438,861 – 1,438,861
            

Profit/(loss) for the year – – – – – – – 6,180 6,180 (446) 5,734
Exchange differences arising on  
 translation of foreign operations – – – – – (48,546) – – (48,546) – (48,546)
            

Total comprehensive (expense)/income
 for the year – – – – – (48,546) – 6,180 (42,366) (446) (42,812)
            

Contribution from a non-controlling
 shareholder of a subsidiary 
 (Note 14) – – – – – – – – – 80 80
Appropriation to statutory reserves – – – 4,708 – – – (4,708) – – –
            

– – – 4,708 – – – (4,708) – 80 80
            

At 31 December 2022 53,084 566,111 (1,922) 4,708 50,391 (26,828) 12,295 738,656 1,396,495 (366) 1,396,129
            

notes:

(i) The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of shares of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of the shares of 
Strong Petrochemical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) issued for the acquisition at the time of the corporate reorganisation to rationalise the structure 
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) prior to the listing of the Company’s shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited (the “HKEx”).

(ii) According to the law and regulation of Macao Special Administrative Region (“Macao”), a legal reserve is required to be established up to a minimum of 
50% of a company’s paid up capital and is established in any year in which a dividend is appropriated. A subsidiary of the Company established in Macao 
appropriated a final dividends for the year ended 31 March 2006 to its holding company, as a result, 50% of the issued capital of Macau Patacas 
(“MOP”) 100,000 was transferred to the legal reserve. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Macao subsidiary was closed and the legal reserve 
has been reclassified to retained profits.

The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) laws and regulations require companies registered in the PRC to provide for certain statutory reserves, which 
are to be appropriated from the profit after income tax (after offsetting accumulated losses from prior years) as reported in their respective statutory 
financial statements, before profit distributions to equity holders. All statutory reserves are created for specific purposes. A PRC company is required to 
appropriate an amount of not less than 10% of statutory profits after income tax to statutory surplus reserves, prior to distribution of its post-tax profits 
of the current year. A company may discontinue the contribution when the aggregate sum of the statutory surplus reserve is more than 50% of its 
registered capital. The statutory surplus reserves shall only be used to make up losses of the company, to expand the company’s operations, or to increase 
the capital of the company. In addition, a company may make further contribution to the discretional surplus reserve using its post-tax profits in 
accordance with resolutions of the board of directors.

(iii) Other reserve was resulted from (a) the deemed disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries without losing the Group’s control over the subsidiaries, and (b) 
the difference between the fair value of ordinary shares issued by the Company and the carrying amount of the additional interests in a subsidiary 
acquired by the Group in previous years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

2022 2021
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

    

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation 13,562 13,920
Adjustments for:
 Bank interest income 7 (922) (111)
 Interest income from trade receivables 7 (28,901) (2,378)
 Interest income from deposits placed with brokers 7 (270) –
 Finance costs 8 625 3,497
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 10 7,996 7,775
 Depreciation of investment properties 10 9,396 10,677
 Depreciation of right-of-use assets 10 4,192 4,250
 Amortisation of other assets 10 36 36
 Loss on disposal of a subsidiary 29 – 573
 Gains on disposal of property, plant and equipment 7 (14) (115)
 Loss/(gain) on financial assets at fair value 
  through profit or loss, net 17,700 (1,669)
 Gain on debt modification 7 (11,353) (26,747)
 Reversal of impairment loss on interest in an associate (4,394) (6,723)
 Impairment loss on other receivables – 1,836
 Impairment loss on investment properties – 24,910
 Share of results of associates 17 (4,281) (7,949)
    

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 3,372 21,782
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (36,419) 24,638
Decrease in trade receivables 234,495 200,270

Decrease/(increase) in other receivables, deposits and prepayments 23,863 (19,759)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 39,318 (28,945)
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and accrued charges (48,009) 32,475
Increase in contract liabilities 488 1,724
Changes in derivative financial instruments (18,173) 20,899
    

Cash generated from operations 198,935 253,084
Bank charges (527) (705)
Income tax paid (9,024) (6,012)
    

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 189,384 246,367
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

    

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Decrease/(increase) in deposits placed with brokers 53,083 (88,709)
Payment for addition of investment properties (980) –
Payment for acquisition of property, plant and equipment (56,976) (48,995)
Addition of pledged bank deposits (26,598) –
Interest received 1,192 111
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment – 627
Net cash outflow from disposal of a subsidiary 29 – (3)
Proceeds from consideration receivable – 74,960
Payment for acquisition of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – (31,200)
Net cash outflow from acquisition of a subsidiary (118) –
    

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (30,397) (93,209)
    

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank and other borrowings 38 – 20,407
Repayments of bank and other borrowings 38 – (160,579)
Repayments of lease liabilities 38 (2,775) (2,704)
Contribution from a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary 14 80 –
Interest paid 38 (98) (2,793)
    

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (2,793) (145,669)
    

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 156,194 7,489

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 158,152 144,173

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES (26,384) 6,490
    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR, 
 REPRESENTING BANK BALANCES AND CASH 287,962 158,152
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. GENERAL
The Company was incorporated as an exempted company and registered in the Cayman Islands with limited liability 
under the Companies Act, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands on 1 
February 2008. The shares of the Company have been listed on the main board of the HKEx since 12 January 2009. Its 
parent and ultimate holding company is Forever Winner International Ltd. (“Forever Winner”), a limited company 
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Mr. Wang Jian Sheng, the chairman and executive director of the Company, 
and Mr. Yao Guoliang, the chief executive officer and executive director of the Company, each holds 50% equity 
interest in Forever Winner. The Company’s addresses of the registered office and principal place of business are 
disclosed in the section of “Corporate Information” in the Company’s annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are mainly 
trading of commodities, including crude oil, petroleum products, petrochemicals and coal, and provision of petroleum 
products and petrochemicals storage services. Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in Note 
40.

The principal operations of the Group are conducted in Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“Hong Kong”), 
Macao, the PRC (other than Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan) and Singapore.

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(a) Adoption of amended HKFRSs

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants has issued a number of amended HKFRSs that are first 
effective for the current accounting period of the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018–2020
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to Conceptual Framework

None of these amendments has had a material effect on how the Group’s results and financial position for the 
current period have been prepared or presented in these consolidated financial statements. The Group has not 
applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 
(CONTINUED)
(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective

The following new or amended HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the Group’s financial statements, have been 
issued, but are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group. The Group’s current intention is 
to apply these changes on the date they become effective.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants2

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
 HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies1

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates1

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 
 Transaction1

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback2

HK Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by 
 the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment  
 on Demand Clause2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no 
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRSs”) and the provisions of the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance which concern the preparation of financial statements. In addition, the 
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities on the HKEx (the “Listing Rules”).

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except for certain 
financial instruments that are measured at fair values as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

(c) Functional and presentation currencies
The functional currency of the Company and most of its subsidiaries is United States Dollar (“US$”), as the Group 
mainly trades in US$ with its customers and suppliers. However, for the convenience of the financial statements’ 
users, the consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$”).

(d) Business combination and basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group. Inter-company transactions 
and balances between group companies together with unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence 
of impairment on the asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the dates of acquisition or up to the dates of disposal, as 
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounting policies into line with those used by other members of the Group.

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when the acquired set of activities 
and assets meets the definition of a business and control is transferred to the Group. In determining whether a 
particular set of activities and assets is a business, the Group assesses whether the set of assets and activities 
acquired includes, at a minimum, an input and substantive processes and whether the acquired set has the ability 
to produce outputs.

The cost of an acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred, 
liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed are principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree is re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or losses are 
recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure the non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary either at fair value or at the 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling interests are measured at 
fair value unless another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred are 
expensed unless they are incurred in issuing equity instruments in which case the costs are deducted from equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(d) Business combination and basis of consolidation (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair value. 
Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognised against goodwill only to the extent that they arise from 
new information obtained within the measurement period (a maximum of twelve months from the acquisition 
date) about the fair value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent adjustments to contingent consideration 
classified as an asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests that represent present ownership 
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s 
share of subsequent changes in equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of 
financial position within equity, separately from equity attributable to owners of the Company. Profit or loss and 
each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed to such non-controlling interests even if this results 
in those non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control of the subsidiary are 
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling 
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between 
the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or 
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between 
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) 
the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interests. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary 
are accounted for on the same basis as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

(e) Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to exercise control. The Company controls an investee 
if all three of the following elements are present: (i) power over the investee, (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable 
returns from the investee, and (iii) the ability to use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is reassessed 
whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of these elements of control.

De-facto control exists in situations where the Company has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of 
the investee without holding the majority of the voting rights. In determining whether de-facto control exists, the 
Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances, including:

•	 the	size	of	the	Company’s	voting	rights	relative	to	both	the	size	and	dispersion	of	other	parties	who	hold	
voting rights;

•	 substantive	potential	voting	rights	held	by	the	Company	and	other	parties	who	hold	voting	rights;

•	 other	contractual	arrangements;	and

•	 historic	patterns	in	voting	attendance.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment losses, 
if any. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and 
receivable during the year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(f) Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor a joint 
arrangement. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of 
the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method whereby they are initially recognised at cost and thereafter, 
their carrying amount are adjusted for the Group’s share of the post-acquisition change in the associates’ net 
assets except that losses in excess of the Group’s interest in the associate are not recognised unless there is an 
obligation to make good those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the Group and its associates are recognised only to the extent 
of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate. The investor’s share in the associate’s profits and losses resulting 
from these transactions are eliminated against the carrying value of the associate. Where unrealised losses provide 
evidence of impairment of the asset transferred, they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and included in the carrying amount of the associate. Any excess 
of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of investment, after 
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Where there is objective evidence that the investment in 
an associate has been impaired, the carrying amount of the investment is tested for impairment in the same way 
as other non-financial assets.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an 
associate. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate and the retained interest is a financial asset, 
the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value 
on initial recognition in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The difference between the carrying 
amount of the associate at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained 
interest and any proceeds from disposing a part interest in the associate is included in the determination of the 
gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income in relation to that associate are recognised on the same basis as would be required if that associate had 
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate but the Group continues to use the equity 
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been 
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest it that gain or loss 
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

In the Company’s consolidated statement of financial position, interests in associates are carried at cost less 
impairment losses, if any. The results of associates are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends 
received and receivable during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(g) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other 
repairs and maintenance are recognised as an expense in profit or loss during the financial period in which they 
are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to write off their cost or valuation net of expected residual 
value over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The useful lives, residual value and depreciation 
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The useful lives of 
property, plant and equipment are set out in Note 14.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less impairment losses, if any. Cost comprises direct costs of construction 
as well as borrowing costs capitalised during the periods of construction and installation. Capitalisation of these 
costs ceases and the construction in progress is transferred to the appropriate classes of property, plant and 
equipment when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the assets for their intended use are 
completed. No depreciation is provided for in respect of construction in progress until it is completed and ready 
for its intended use.

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s 
estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is the difference between the net sale 
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised as gain or loss on disposal.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(h) Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held either to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or for both.

Investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. Depreciation 
is calculated to write-off the cost of investment properties, less their residual values, if any, using straight-line 
method over their estimated useful lives of 20 years. The useful lives, residual value and depreciation method are 
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The useful lives of investment 
properties are set out in Note 15.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal.  Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the property, calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset is included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised. 

Rent receivable is recognised on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. Where an incentive (such as a 
rent-free period) is given to a tenant, the carrying value of the investment property excludes any amount reported 
as a separate asset as a result of recognising rental income on this basis.

(i) Government grant
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the 
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group 
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose 
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in 
the period in which they become receivable and are recognised as other revenue, rather than reducing the related 
expense.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(j) Leases

The Group as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the consolidated statement of financial position as right-of-use assets 
and lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases which are 
short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has elected not to 
recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which at the commencement 
date have a lease term of less than twelve months. The lease payments associated with those leases have been 
expensed on straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is initially recognised at cost and would comprise:

(i) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability (see below for the accounting policy to account 
for lease liability);

(ii) any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

(iii) any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee; and

(iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying asset to the 
condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce 
inventories.

Under the cost model, the Group measures the right-of-use assets at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and 
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability.

The right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful life and 
the lease terms.

The Group presents the right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial 
position.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(j) Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the date of 
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if 
that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the lessee’s 
incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the 
commencement date of the lease are considered to be lease payments:

(i) fixed lease payments less any lease incentives receivable;

(ii) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at 
commencement date;

(iii) amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

(iv) exercise price of a purchase option, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(v) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to 
terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability by:

(i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability;

(ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made; and

(iii) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modification, or to reflect revised in-
substance fixed lease payments.

The Group as a lessor

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the leased assets to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense on the straight-line basis over the lease term.

Any changes in the scope of the consideration for a lease that was not part of the original terms and conditions 
of the lease are accounted for as lease modifications. The Group accounts for a modification to an operating 
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the modification, recognising the remaining lease payments as 
income on a either a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the remaining lease term.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(k) Financial instruments

(i) Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) is initially 
measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. Trade receivable without a significant financing 
component is initially measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date 
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales 
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or 
convention in the marketplace.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

•	 the	financial	asset	is	held	within	a	business	model	whose	objective	is	to	collect	contractual	cash	flows;	
and

•	 the	contractual	terms	give	rise	on	specified	dates	to	cash	flows	that	are	solely	payments	of	principal	
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

•	 the	financial	asset	 is	held	within	a	business	model	whose	objective	 is	achieved	by	both	selling	and	
collecting contractual cash flows; and

•	 the	contractual	terms	give	rise	on	specified	dates	to	cash	flows	that	are	solely	payments	of	principal	
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value 
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other gains and losses” line item in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(k) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit loss (“ECL”) on trade receivables and financial 
assets measured at amortised cost and debt investments measured at FVTOCI. ECLs are measured on either 
of the following bases:

•	 12-month	ECLs:	 these	are	ECLs	that	result	 from	possible	default	events	within	the	twelve	months	
after the reporting date; and

•	 Lifetime	ECLs:	these	are	ECLs	that	result	from	all	possible	default	events	over	the	expected	 life	of	a	
financial instrument. The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum 
contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference 
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the 
cash flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted at an approximation to the 
assets’ original effective interest rate.

The Group measured loss allowances for trade receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and has 
calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on the 
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the 
economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, ECLs are based on lifetime ECLs except when there has not been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition and debt investment securities that are determined 
to have low credit risk at the reporting date, in which case the allowance will be based on the 12-month 
ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is 
relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative 
information analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and 
including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit 
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to action such as realising security (if any is 
held); or the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(k) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk 
is performed on either an individual or a collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective 
basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due 
status and credit risk ratings.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-impaired when there is:

•	 a	significant	financial	difficulty	of	the	debtor;

•	 a	breach	of	contract,	such	as	a	default	or	being	more	than	90	days	past	due;

•	 the	restructuring	of	a	 loan	or	advance	by	the	Group	on	terms	that	the	Group	would	not	consider	
otherwise;

•	 probability	that	the	debtor	will	enter	bankruptcy	or	other	financial	reorganisation;	or

•	 the	disappearance	of	an	active	market	for	a	security	because	of	financial	difficulties.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a 
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for 
investments in debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in “FVTOCI reserve (recycling)”.

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets written off may still be 
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice 
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross 
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset. For non credit-impaired financial assets, interest 
income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(k) Financial instruments (continued)

(iii) Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred. 
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are initially measured at fair value and financial liabilities at amortised costs are 
initially measured at fair value, net of directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities at FVTPL include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated 
upon initial recognition as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near 
term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless 
they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be designated 
as a financial liability at FVTPL, except where the embedded derivative does not significantly modify the cash 
flows or it is clear that separation of the embedded derivative is prohibited.

Financial liabilities may be designated upon initial recognition as at FVTPL if the following criteria are met: (i) 
the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise 
from measuring the liabilities or recognising the gains or losses on them on a different basis; (ii) the 
liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities which are managed and their performance is evaluated 
on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management strategy; or (iii) the financial 
liability contains an embedded derivative that would need to be separately recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes in fair 
value recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for the gains and losses arising 
from the Group’s own credit risk which are presented in other comprehensive income with no subsequent 
reclassification to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss does not include any interest charged on these financial 
liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and other payables are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The related interest expense is recognised in profit or 
loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the 
amortisation process.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(k) Financial instruments (continued)

(iv) Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when derivative contracts are entered into and 
are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain financial asset hosts within the scope of HKFRS 9 are 
not separated. The entire hybrid contract is classified and subsequently measured in its entirety as either 
amortised cost or fair value as appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that are not financial assets within the scope of HKFRS 
9 are treated as separate derivatives when they meet the definition of a derivative, their risks and characteristics 
are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not measured at FVTPL.

(v) Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial 
liability and of allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life 
of the financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

(vi) Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No 
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own 
equity instruments.

(vii) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to 
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria 
for derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or in 
part as a result of renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity instruments issued are the 
consideration paid and are recognised initially and measured at their fair value on the date the financial 
liability or part thereof is extinguished. If the fair value of the equity instruments issued cannot be reliably 
measured, the equity instruments are measured to reflect the fair value of the financial liability extinguished. 
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability or part thereof extinguished and the 
consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss for the year.



S T R O N G  P E T R O C H E M I C A L  H O L D I N G S  L I M I T E D   2 0 2 2  A N N U A L  R E P O R T 89

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(l) Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost 
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their 
present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method. Net realisable value 
represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion 
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

(m) Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods or services is transferred to the 
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for 
those goods or services, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value-
added taxes or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the goods or service 
may be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of the goods or service is transferred over time if the 
Group’s performance:

•	 provides	all	of	the	benefits	received	and	consumed	simultaneously	by	the	customer;

•	 creates	or	enhances	an	asset	that	the	customer	controls	as	the	Group	performs;	or

•	 does	not	create	an	asset	with	an	alternative	use	to	the	Group	and	the	Group	has	an	enforceable	right	to	
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time, revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by 
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is 
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the goods or service.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(m) Revenue recognition (continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, the Group determines whether the 
nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is 
a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an 
agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service before that good or service is transferred to a 
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the provision of the specified good or service 
by another party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified good or service provided by another party 
before that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises 
revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for 
the specified goods or services to be provided by the other party.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer services to a customer for which the Group has 
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

Contract costs

The Group recognises an asset from the costs incurred to fulfil a contract when those costs meet all of the 
following criteria:

(a) the costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract that the entity can specifically identify;

(b) the costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to 
satisfy) performance obligations in the future; and

(c) the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the 
transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the cost relate. The asset is subject to impairment 
review.

As a practical expedient, the Group may recognise the incremental costs of obtaining a contract as an expense 
when incurred if the amortisation period of the asset that the entity otherwise would have recognised is one year 
or less.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(n) Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or 
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of reporting period. The amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of 
the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty related to income tax.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except for 
goodwill not deductible for tax purposes and initial recognition of assets and liabilities that are not part of the 
business combination which affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, taxable temporary differences arising 
on investments in subsidiaries and associates where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future, deferred tax 
liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be 
utilised, provided that the deductible temporary differences are not arises from initial recognition of assets and 
liabilities in a transaction other than in a business combination that affects neither taxable profit nor the 
accounting profit. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates appropriate to the expected manner in which the 
carrying amount of the asset or liability is realised or settled and that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
at the end of reporting period, and reflects any uncertainty related to income taxes.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income tax levied by the same taxation authority and the 
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the assets to be recovered.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive 
income in which case the taxes are also recognised in other comprehensive income or when they relate to items 
recognised directly in equity in which case the taxes are also recognised directly in equity.

(o) Foreign currencies
Transactions entered into by the group entities in currencies other than the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which they operate (the “functional currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling when the 
transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the end of 
reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(o) Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items, are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of 
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising 
on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised in other 
comprehensive income, in which case, the exchange differences are also recognised in other comprehensive 
income.

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency 
of the Group (i.e. HK$) at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly 
during the period, in which case, the rates approximating to those ruling when the transactions took place are 
used. All assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the rate ruling at the end of reporting period. 
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as 
foreign exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate). Exchange differences recognised 
in profit or loss of group entities’ separate financial statements on the translation of long-term monetary items 
forming part of the Group’s net investment in the foreign operation concerned are reclassified to other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as translation reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange differences recognised in the translation reserve 
relating to that operation up to the date of disposal are reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on 
disposal.

(p) Employee benefits
(i) Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to 
be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the 
employees render the related service. Short term employee benefits are recognised in the year when the 
employees render the related service.

(ii) Defined contribution retirement plans

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are recognised as an expense in profit or loss when 
the services are rendered by the employees.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of 
those benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of termination 
benefits.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(q) Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payment to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair 
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at the grant date without taking into 
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based 
on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in share-
based payments reserve.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of equity instruments that are 
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of 
the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss, such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised 
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based payments reserve. For share options that vest 
immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed immediately to profit or 
loss.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in the share-based payments reserve will 
be transferred to share capital and share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or 
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in the share-based payments reserve 
will continue to be held in share-based payments reserve.

Share options granted to suppliers/consultants/advisers

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair value 
of the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they 
are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the 
goods or the counterparty renders the service. The fair values of the goods or services received are recognised as 
expenses (unless the goods or services qualify for recognition as assets).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(r) Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of the following assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss 
previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

•	 property,	plant	and	equipment;

•	 investment	properties	under	cost	model;	and

•	 interests	in	associates.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an asset is 
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a 
revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease 
under that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A 
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a 
revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation increase under that HKFRS.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset, discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset or cash generating unit.

(s) Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive 
obligation arising as a result of a past event, which it is probable will result in an outflow of economic benefits 
that can be reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of 
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed by the occurrence 
or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability 
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(t) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and short-term deposits and highly liquid investments with 
maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes 
in their fair value, and are used by the Group in the management of its short-term commitments. For the purpose 
of the consolidated statement of cash flows, bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an 
integral part of the Group’s cash management are included in cash and cash equivalents.

(u) Related parties
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Company;

(ii) has significant influence over the Company; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the Company or the Company’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 
member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the employees of the Group or an 
entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of key management 
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the Company or to the Company’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include (i) that person’s children and spouse or 
domestic partner; (ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and (iii) dependents of that person or 
that person’s spouse or domestic partner.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’ s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are 
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience 
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

(a) Critical judgement in applying accounting policies
Principal versus agent consideration (principal)

The Group engages in trading of commodities, mainly crude oil, petroleum products, petrochemicals and coal. 
The directors of the Company concluded that the Group acts as the principal for such transactions as the Group 
controls the specified goods before the goods are transferred to customers after taking into consideration of 
indicators such as the Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the goods, the Group has 
certain level of inventory risk before transferring the goods to customers and the Group has discretion in 
establishing the prices for the goods in the form of a premium over the market price of the goods. Before 
transferring the goods to customers, the Group has ability to direct the use of, and obtain substantially all of the 
remaining benefits from, the goods by determining the customers and the timing to which the goods will be sold. 
When the Group satisfies the performance obligation, the Group recognises revenue from trading of commodities 
in the gross amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled as specified in the contracts.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised revenue from trading of commodities amounting 
to approximately HK$879,853,000 (2021: approximately HK$772,068,000).
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Valuation of interest in an associate

The Group shares the results of an associate, Sinochem Tianjin Port Petrochemical Terminal Co., Ltd. (“Sinochem 
Port”), which is principally engaged in provision of crude oil and petrochemicals storage services. The service 
charges and demand for these storage services are influenced by the market conditions. In view of the 
unsatisfactory results of this associate in prior years up to 2019, certain impairment losses had been provided for 
the Group’s interest in this associate for the respective years.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the management of the Group has performed an impairment assessment 
and concluded that the recoverable amount of this associate exceeded its carrying value. Thus, the Group 
recognised a reversal of impairment of approximately HK$4,394,000 (2021: approximately HK$6,723,000) for the 
year. This conclusion is based on the value-in-use calculation using a discounted cash flow model developed by 
the management of the Group with the assistance of an independent qualified professional valuer engaged by 
the Group. The model requires significant estimation on growth rates and gross profit margin which form parts 
of the underlying future cash flows of this associate and the appropriate discount rate.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in this associate was approximately 
HK$71,668,000, net of nil impairment (2021: approximately HK$68,434,000, net of impairment of approximately 
HK$4,394,000), and for the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had share of profit of this associate 
amounting to approximately HK$4,281,000 (2021: approximately HK$7,949,000). 

Details of this associate and its impairment assessment are set out in Note 17.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

ECLs impairment

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9 across all categories of financial assets requires judgement. 
In particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when 
determining impairment losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk in overdue trade 
receivables and long outstanding other receivables. These estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes in 
which can result in different levels of allowances.

Details of the impairment assessment on trade and other receivables are set out in Note 34.

Fair value measurement

A number of assets and liabilities included in the Group’s consolidated financial statements require measurement 
at, and/or disclosure of, fair value.

The fair value measurement of the Group’s financial and non-financial assets and liabilities utilises market 
observable inputs and data as far as possible.

Inputs used in determining fair value measurements are categorised into different levels based on how observable 
the inputs used in the valuation technique utilised are (the “fair value hierarchy”):

•	 Level	1:	Quoted	prices	in	active	markets	for	identical	items	(unadjusted);
•	 Level	2:	Observable	direct	or	indirect	inputs	other	than	Level	1	inputs;	and
•	 Level	3:	Unobservable	inputs	(i.e.	not	derived	from	market	data).

The classification of an item into the above levels is based on the lowest level of the inputs used that has a 
significant effect on the fair value measurement of the item. Transfers of items between levels are recognised in 
the period they occur.

 The Group measures a number of items at fair value: 

•	 Financial	assets	at	FVTPL	—	unlisted	equity	investment	(Note	20);	
•	 Derivative	financial	instruments	(Note	26);	and	
•	 Financial	assets	at	FVTPL	—	listed	securities	held	for	trading	(Note	20).

For more detailed information in relation to the fair value measurement of the items above, please refer to the 
applicable notes. 
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5. REVENUE
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Segments
Trading 

business
Storage 

business Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Types of goods or services in respect of contracts 
 with customers

Trading of commodities
 Petroleum products 31,386 – 31,386
 Petrochemicals 602,587 – 602,587
 Coal 245,880 – 245,880
    

879,853 – 879,853
    

Storage and other ancillary services for petroleum 
 products and petrochemicals
 General storage services – 22,950 22,950
 Other ancillary services – 8,090 8,090
    

– 31,040 31,040
    

Total 879,853 31,040 910,893
    

Geographical markets

 The PRC 633,974 31,040 665,014
 Other regions 245,879 – 245,879
    

Total 879,853 31,040 910,893
    

Timing of revenue recognition

 A point in time 879,853 – 879,853
 Over time – 31,040 31,040
    

Total 879,853 31,040 910,893
    



S T R O N G  P E T R O C H E M I C A L  H O L D I N G S  L I M I T E D   2 0 2 2  A N N U A L  R E P O R T100

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

5. REVENUE (CONTINUED)
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Segments
Trading 

business
Storage 

business Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Types of goods or services in respect of contracts 
 with customers

Trading of commodities
 Petroleum products 118,300 – 118,300
 Petrochemicals 448,981 – 448,981
 Coal 204,787 – 204,787
    

772,068 – 772,068
    

Storage and other ancillary services for petroleum 
 products and petrochemicals
 General storage services – 16,380 16,380
 Other ancillary services – 9,576 9,576
    

– 25,956 25,956
    

Total 772,068 25,956 798,024
    

Geographical markets

 The PRC 738,356 25,956 764,312
 Other regions 33,712 – 33,712
    

Total 772,068 25,956 798,024
    

Timing of revenue recognition

 A point in time 772,068 – 772,068
 Over time – 25,956 25,956
    

Total 772,068 25,956 798,024
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5. REVENUE (CONTINUED)
(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with customers

Trading of commodities

The Group recognises revenue from the sale of crude oil, petroleum products, petrochemicals and coal in the 
period that the performance obligations are satisfied which refers to delivery of the goods to the destination 
specified by the customers. The destination may be the vessel on which the goods is shipped, destination port or 
the customer’s premises. The quantity of crude oil, petroleum products, petrochemicals and coal as specified in 
each sales contract is separately identifiable and represents a distinct performance obligation to which the 
transaction price is allocated. Performance obligations are satisfied at a point in time once control of the goods 
has been transferred to the customers. The customers have obtained control of the goods through their ability to 
direct the use of and obtain substantially all the benefits from the goods.

The sales price is determined on a provisional basis at the date of sale as the final sales price is subject to final 
assay after the goods discharged and movements of prevailing spot prices subsequent to the transfer of control 
of the goods.

The Group has no particular policy on the amounts received prior to the delivery of goods and it is negotiated 
with customers on contract by contract basis. The advance payments received from customers are recognised as 
liabilities throughout the period before the control on the goods is transferred to customers.

Storage and other ancillary services for petroleum products and petrochemicals

The Group provides general storage and other ancillary services in respect of petroleum products and 
petrochemicals to customers. Other ancillary services include truck and cargo loading and unloading, port and 
tunnel usage and cleaning services, etc. The Group charges service fees based on a pre-agreed fixed amount per 
unit of goods or per month from customers. The revenue is recognised over time as the customers simultaneously 
receive and consume the benefits in relation to services provided by the Group.

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation for contracts with customers
The Group has elected to apply the practical expedient under HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
for not to disclose the information of remaining performance obligations which are part of a contract that has an 
original expected duration of one year or less; or from satisfaction of which the Group recognises revenue in the 
amount, which the Group has the right to invoice, that corresponds directly with the value to the customers of 
the Group’s performance completed to date.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations where the aforementioned practical 
expedients are not applicable as at 31 December 2022 is approximately HK$1,625,000 (2021: approximately 
HK$14,354,000), which relates to contracts of storage and other ancillary services for petroleum products and 
petrochemicals only. This amount represents the revenue expected to be recognised by the Group in the future 
when it satisfies the remaining performance obligations and 100% (2021: 100%) is expected to be recognised as 
revenue within one year.
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5. REVENUE (CONTINUED)
(iv) Leases

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

For operating leases:
 Lease income that is fixed or depends on a rate 12,222 12,588
   

(v) Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from contracts with customers with the 
amounts disclosed in the segment information

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Trading business 879,853 772,068
Storage business 31,040 25,956
   

Revenue from contracts with customers 910,893 798,024
Leases 12,222 12,588
   

Total revenue 923,115 810,612
   

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION
Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item reported in the consolidated financial statements are 
identified from the financial information provided regularly to the executive directors of the Company for the purposes 
of allocating resources to and assessing the performance of the Group’s various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have 
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of business activities. No operating segments 
have been aggregated to form the reporting segments.

Segment revenue, expenses, and results include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be 
allocated on a reasonable basis to that segment, but exclude exceptional items. Segment assets excluding tax 
recoverable are managed on a group basis. Segment liabilities excluding tax payable are managed on a group basis. 
The Group’s operating and reportable segments are therefore as follows:

(i) Trading business (trading of commodities including crude oil (note), petroleum products, petrochemicals and coal; 
and

(ii) Storage business (provision of general storage and other ancillary services in respect of petroleum products and 
petrochemicals).

note: The Group did not conduct trades for crude oil for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 as it adopted a conservative 

approach on the trading of crude oil commodities in response to the current market condition.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment revenue and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by operating and reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Trading 
business

Storage 
business Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Revenue from contracts with customers 879,853 31,040 910,893
Leases – 12,222 12,222
    

Total revenue 879,853 43,262 923,115
    

Segment results 18,942 20,079 39,021
   

Share of results of associates 4,281
Reversal of impairment loss on interest in an associate 4,394
Loss on financial assets at FVTPL, net (17,700)
Other operating income from time chartering, net 456
Other operating income from logistics and 
 blending services, net 49
Unallocated finance costs (25)
Unallocated income and gains 6,095
Unallocated expenses and losses (note) (23,009)

 

Profit before taxation 13,562
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment revenue and results (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Trading 
business

Storage 
business Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Revenue from contracts with customers 772,068 25,956 798,024
Leases – 12,588 12,588
    

Total revenue 772,068 38,544 810,612
    

Segment results 64,214 14,665 78,879
   

Share of results of associates 7,949
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary (573)
Reversal of impairment loss on interest in an associate 6,723
Impairment loss on other receivables (1,836)
Impairment loss on investment properties (24,910)
Gain on financial assets at FVTPL, net 1,669
Other operating losses from time chartering, net (37,717)
Share of profits from a joint operation, net 7,805
Other operating income from logistics and 
 blending services, net 1,506
Unallocated finance costs (2,727)
Unallocated income and gains 4,366
Unallocated expenses and losses (note) (27,214)

 

Profit before taxation 13,920
 

note: Unallocated expenses and losses mainly comprised of depreciation of investment properties and administrative costs of the headquarter.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Other segment information
Other segment information included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss are as follows:

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Trading Storage
business business Unallocated Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Interest income (included in other income) 29,403 9 681 30,093
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (619) (6,909) (468) (7,996)
Depreciation of investment properties – – (9,396) (9,396)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (2,805) (449) (938) (4,192)
Gain on debt modification (included in other gains
 and losses) 11,353 – – 11,353
Gain on changes in fair value of derivative financial
 instruments, net 21,771 – – 21,771
Finance costs (596) (4) (25) (625)
     

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Trading Storage
business business Unallocated Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Interest income (included in other income) 2,476 6 7 2,489
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (365) (7,062) (348) (7,775)
Depreciation of investment properties – – (10,677) (10,677)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (2,720) (466) (1,064) (4,250)
Gain on debt modification (included in other gains
 and losses) 26,747 – – 26,747
Gain on changes in fair value of derivative financial
 instruments, net 72,047 – – 72,047
Finance costs (765) (5) (2,727) (3,497)
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Other segment information (continued)

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are currently carried out by the subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong, Macao, the PRC and 
Singapore.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers is categorised by (a) the locations of shipment/delivery 
as designated by the customers, (b) the locations that the customers are instructed to pick up the commodities as 
determined by the Group and (c) the locations that the general storage and other ancillary services in respect of 
petroleum products and petrochemicals are rendered by the Group. Information about the Group’s non-current assets 
is presented based on by geographical location of assets.

Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets (note)

2022 2021 2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Hong Kong – – 9,114 3,273
The PRC 677,236 776,900 143,272 152,954
Singapore – – 2,032 1,128
Indonesia 159,638 17,154 – –
India 73,841 – – –
Vietnam 12,400 16,558 – –
     

923,115 810,612 154,418 157,355
     

note: The non-current assets for the purpose of geographical information exclude financial assets at FVTPL, trade receivables, investment properties, 

rental deposit, certain right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment.

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers of the corresponding year which contributed over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are 
as follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Customer A 295,175 N/A*
Customer B 158,103 N/A*
   

* Revenue contributed less than 10% of the Group’s revenue for the corresponding year.
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7. OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, AND OTHER OPERATING INCOME
A. Other income

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Bank interest income 922 111
Interest income from deposits placed with brokers 270 –
Interest income from trade receivables (Note 19) 28,901 2,378
Rental income 3,190 1,862
Government grants 2,215 570
Service income (note (i)) 754 2,249
Others (note (ii)) 3,458 3,548
   

39,710 10,718
   

notes:

(i) The Group entered into agency agreements (the “Agreements”) as an agent with various independent third parties (the “Principal”). 

Based on the Agreements, the Group performed coal transactions with the Principal’s counterparties on behalf of the Principal and earned 

service income.

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2022, others mainly comprise written-off of aged liabilities of approximately HK$3,070,000 (2021: 

income from oil gas reclamation, bad debt recovery and written-off of excess accrued interest).

B. Other gains and losses
2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Gains on disposal of property, plant and equipment 14 115
Gain on debt modification (Note 19) 11,353 26,747
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) 515 (2,545)
Others 897 1,308
   

12,779 25,625
   

C. Other operating income
2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Income from time chartering (note (i)) 20,260 35,252
Income from logistics and blending services (note (ii)) 7,887 47,480
Share of profits from a joint operation, net – 7,805
   

28,147 90,537
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7. OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, AND OTHER OPERATING INCOME 
(CONTINUED)
C. Other operating income (continued)

notes:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group engaged in time chartering business, of which approximately HK$19,804,000 (2021: 
approximately HK$72,969,000) related expenses were recorded under distribution, selling and operating expenses. The Group has ceased 
its time chartering business upon the rental expiry of the time charter during the year ended 31 December 2022.

(ii) In view of the adverse commodities market condition with uncertain price trend and the on-going uncertainties related to the latest 
pandemic, the Group engaged in logistics and blending services during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 to 
mitigate, amongst others, inventory and cash flow risk associated with trading of commodities. Related expenses of approximately 
HK$7,838,000 (2021: approximately HK$45,974,000) for logistics and blending services, was recorded under distribution, selling and 
operating expenses for the year ended 31 December 2022.

8. FINANCE COSTS
2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Bank charges on letter of credit facilities 527 705
Interest on bank and other borrowings 3 2,703
Interest on lease liabilities 95 89
   

625 3,497
   

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Income tax expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income represents:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Current tax
 Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) in the PRC (note (i)) 7,544 7,251
 Singapore Corporate Income Tax (note (ii)) 284 445
   

7,828 7,696
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)
notes:

(i) Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Rules of the EIT Law in the PRC, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% 
for both years. On 18 March 2022, the Ministry of Finance and the State Taxation Administration implemented preferential income tax policies for 
low-profit small businesses with annual taxable income that exceeds Renminbi (“RMB”) 1 million but does not exceeds RMB3 million will be 
counted as 25% of the actual amount at a tax rate of 20% which would be retrospectively implemented from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 
2024.

(ii) The Singapore Corporate Income Tax is determined by applying the Singapore tax rate of 17%. With the approval of the Group’s application for 
Global Trader Programme by International Enterprise Singapore, certain qualified income generated by a subsidiary operating in Singapore during 
the year from physical trading of energy products is taxed at a concessionary rate of 10% until the end of year 2024.

(iii) On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which introduced 
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits of a qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable 
profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The assessable profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates 
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. The directors of the Company considered the amount involved upon implementation of 
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime is insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, Hong Kong Profits Tax for subsidiaries 
operating in Hong Kong is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years. No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been 
made for both years since tax losses are incurred for the subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong or the assessable profit is wholly absorbed by tax 
losses brought forward from previous year.

(iv) No provision for Macao Profits Tax has been made for both years since loss was incurred for the subsidiary operating in Macao.
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2022 2021

Singapore

The PRC
(including 

Hong Kong 
and Macao) Total Singapore

The PRC
(including 

Hong Kong 
and Macao) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
       

Profit/(loss) before taxation 3,187 10,375 13,562 50,319 (36,399) 13,920
       

Taxation at the domestic rate
 applicable to profits in the
 country concerned 542 7,858 8,400 8,554 (2,842) 5,712
Tax effect of income not taxable
 for tax purpose (26) (18,227) (18,253) (673) (8,278) (8,951)
Tax effect of expenses not 
 deductible for tax purpose 3 12,426 12,429 28 16,875 16,903
Tax effect of share of results of
 associates – (1,070) (1,070) – (1,987) (1,987)
Utilisation of tax losses previously
 not recognised – (420) (420) (4,178) (1,689) (5,867)
Tax effect of tax losses not
 recognised – 5,499 5,499 – 3,312 3,312
Effect of income tax on a
 concessionary rate in Singapore
 and the PRC (223) (567) (790) (3,277) – (3,277)
Withholding tax paid in respect of 
 dividend declared by subsidiaries
 in the PRC (note) – 1,935 1,935 – – –
Underprovision in prior year – 110 110 – 1,860 1,860
Others (12) – (12) (9) – (9)
       

Income tax expense for the year 284 7,544 7,828 445 7,251 7,696
       

note: The withholding tax rate was 10% on the remittance of dividends from the subsidiaries in the PRC during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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10. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
Profit before taxation is arrived after charging:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Auditor’s remuneration
 Audit services 1,939 1,861
 Non-audit services 150 150

2,089 2,011
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7,996 7,775
Depreciation of investment properties 9,396 10,677
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 4,192 4,250
Amortisation of other assets 36 36
Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses (515) 2,545
Directors’ emoluments (Note 11) 480 480
Other staff costs
 Salaries, bonus and other allowances 43,551 45,625
 Retirement benefit schemes contributions 1,813 1,576

45,844 47,681
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense (included in cost of sales) 873,716 754,724
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’ 
EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the five (2021: five) directors of the Company, including the chief executive, 
are as follows:

Executive directors
Independent 

non-executive directors
  

Wang Yao Chan Yee Deng Cheung
Jian Sheng Guoliang Kwong Heng Siu Wan Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(note)

       

Fees – – 150 150 180 480
Other emoluments: – – – – – –
 Salaries and other benefits – – – – – –
 Share-based payments – – – – – –
 Discretionary bonus – – – – – –
 Contributions to retirement benefits
  schemes – – – – – –
       

Total emoluments for the year ended
 31 December 2022 – – 150 150 180 480
       

Fees – – 150 150 180 480
Other emoluments: – – – – – –
 Salaries and other benefits – – – – – –
 Share-based payments – – – – – –
 Discretionary bonus – – – – – –
 Contributions to retirement benefits
  schemes – – – – – –
       

Total emoluments for the year ended
 31 December 2021 – – 150 150 180 480
       

note: Mr. Yao Guoliang is also the chief executive of the Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as 

the chief executive.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were paid for their services in connection with the management of 
the affairs of the Company and the Group.
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’ 
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were paid for their services as directors of the 
Company.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, no emoluments have been paid by the Group to 
the directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. 
None of the directors of the Company has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during both years.

Employees’ emoluments
For the year ended 31 December 2022, of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, none (2021: 
none) of them is the director of the Company. The emoluments of these five (2021: five) individuals are as follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Salaries and other benefits 10,116 10,012
Discretionary bonus 14,544 3,162
Contributions to retirement benefits schemes 353 251
  15,238

25,013 13,425
   

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

2022 2021
Number of Number of
employees employees

   

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 2 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 1 1
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 – 1
HK$16,000,001 to HK$16,500,000 1 –
   

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no emoluments have been paid to the five employees with the highest 
emoluments as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group (2021: Nil). No emoluments have been paid by the 
Group to them as compensation for loss of office.
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12. DIVIDENDS
No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31 December 2022, nor has any dividend been proposed 
since the end of the reporting period (2021: Nil).

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculations of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company are based on the 
following data:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Profit
Profit for the purposes of calculating basic and diluted 
 earnings per share
 Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company 6,180 6,224
   

2022 2021
   

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 
 calculating basic and diluted earnings per share 2,123,364,090 2,123,364,090
   

The computation of diluted earnings per share does not assume the exercise of the Company’s share options because 
the exercise price of those options was higher than the average market price for shares for both 2022 and 2021. 
Accordingly, the weighted average numbers of ordinary shares used as denominators in calculating the basic and 
diluted earnings per share are the same as there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares during the years ended 31 
December 2022 and 31 December 2021.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings
Storage

tanks
Leasehold

improvements
Plant and 

machinery
Furniture

and fixtures
Office

equipment
Motor

vehicles
Construction

in progress Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000          

COST
At 1 January 2021 1,698 91,995 482 26,122 842 2,639 6,656 14,411 144,845
Additions – 62 708 3,256 23 196 466 45,523 50,234
Disposals – – (456) (1,673) (243) (837) (2,645) – (5,854)
Exchange realignment – 2,704 – 769 3 30 27 424 3,957          
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 1,698 94,761 734 28,474 625 2,028 4,504 60,358 193,182          
Additions – 24 408 753 465 323 168 59,576 61,717
Disposals – – – – (7) (60) – – (67)
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note) – – – 192 – – – – 192
Transfer from construction in progress – – – 1,559 219 – – (1,778) –
Exchange realignment – (8,027) – (2,412) (10) (96) (121) (5,113) (15,779)          
At 31 December 2022 1,698 86,758 1,142 28,566 1,292 2,195 4,551 113,043 239,245          
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2021 1,380 33,692 482 16,009 777 2,047 5,577 – 59,964
Provided for the year 85 4,435 14 2,532 35 229 445 – 7,775
Eliminated on disposals – – (455) (1,257) (238) (747) (2,645) – (5,342)
Exchange realignment – 1,053 – 507 2 22 15 – 1,599          
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 1,465 39,180 41 17,791 576 1,551 3,392 – 63,996          
Provided for the year 84 4,275 245 2,629 59 225 479 – 7,996
Eliminated on disposals – – – – (7) (60) – – (67)
Exchange realignment – (3,473) – (1,596) (7) (75) (63) – (5,214)          
At 31 December 2022 1,549 39,982 286 18,824 621 1,641 3,808 – 66,711
          

CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December 2022 149 46,776 856 9,742 671 554 743 113,043 172,534
          
At 31 December 2021 233 55,581 693 10,683 49 477 1,112 60,358 129,186
          

note: In 2022, the Group entered into a shareholder agreement with an independent third party and, pursuant to which the Group agreed to subscribe 

for 120,000 news shares (equivalent to 60% of the entire issued capital) of a private company in Hong Kong at a consideration of HK$120,000 

which was settled by cash. The total share capital of the subsidiary is HK$200,000. The transaction resulted in a contribution from a non-

controlling shareholder of HK$80,000. As at the date of acquisition, the subsidiary had assets (including property, plant and equipment of 

HK$192,000) and liabilities which were not material to the Group. The major business of this subsidiary is the provision of installation and 

maintenance services of solar energy systems. The aforementioned business combination was insignificant to the Group for the year ended 31 

December 2022.

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per 
annum/over the following years:

Buildings Over the shorter of the term of the lease, or 20 years
Storage tanks Over the shorter of the term of the lease, or 20 years
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term of the lease, or 3–4 years
Plant and machinery 5%–331/3%
Furniture and fixtures 20%–331/3%
Office equipment 19%–331/3%
Motor vehicles 17%–30%
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
In accordance with the Group’s accounting policies, the Group reviews the carrying amount of its property, plant and 
equipment to determine whether there is any indication of that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. Where 
an indicator of impairment exists, a formal estimate of the recoverable amount is made at the reporting period.

During the year, the completion of the Group’s petrochemicals manufacturing plant (the “Fujian Plant”) was deferred 
to the fourth quarter of 2023 due to delays in the construction progress affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. 
Accordingly, the management of the Group considered the delay in construction is an indicator of impairment and 
performed an impairment assessment accordingly. As at 31 December 2022, construction in progress and leasehold 
land relating to the Fujian Plant of approximately HK$110,952,000 and HK$47,161,000 were respectively recorded in 
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (the “Manufacturing Plant Related Assets”).

The recoverable amount of the Manufacturing Plant Related Assets has been determined by value-in-use approach 
adopted by an independent qualified professional valuer engaged by the Group, based on a value-in-use calculation 
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by the management of the 
Group. Key inputs used in the calculation include pre-tax discount rate of 14.9%, terminal growth rate of 3%, 
utilisation rate of the Fujian Plant ranging from 50% to 90%.

The values assigned to the above key assumption on market development of petrochemicals manufacturing plants and 
the discount rates are consistent with external information sources.

Based on the impairment assessment, as at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of the Manufacturing Plant 
Related Assets is less than the recoverable amount. Accordingly, no impairment loss on the Manufacturing Plant Related 
Assets was recognised.

There were no impairment indicators for the remaining property, plant and equipment held by the Group as at 31 
December 2022.
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
HK$’000

  

COST
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 213,546

Additions 980
  

At 31 December 2022 214,526
  

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2021 3,559
Provided for the year 10,677
  

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 14,236
  

Provided for the year 9,396
  

At 31 December 2022 23,632
  

ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2021 –
Impairment loss recognised 24,910
  

At 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022 24,910
  

CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December 2022 165,984
  

At 31 December 2021 174,400
  

The Group’s investment properties comprise of a commercial property and car park spaces situated in Hong Kong. 
These properties were acquired in 2020 with estimated useful lives of 20 years. The Group assessed impairment loss for 
the investment properties by considering its recoverable amount, having regard to the change in market conditions in 
Hong Kong after the outbreak of COVID-19. The recoverable amount of the investment properties is estimated based 
on the fair value less costs of disposal of the investment properties, which is estimated reference to comparable sales 
transactions as available in the relevant market with adjustments to reflect the condition and location of the related 
properties. In assessing the fair value, the Group adopted a direct comparison method. The key unobservable inputs for 
the commercial property and car park spaces are the market prices ranging from HK$25,711 (2021: HK$28,448) to 
HK$30,632 (2021: HK$28,513) per square feet and ranging from HK$1,950,000 (2021: HK$2,250,000) to 
HK$2,180,000 (2021: HK$2,500,000) per car park space, respectively. No impairment loss on investment properties 
was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: approximately HK$24,910,000).

As at 31 December 2022, fair value of the investment properties amounted to HK$173,400,000 (2021: 
HK$174,400,000). The fair value measurement of the investment properties is classified as Level 3 of the fair value 
hierarchy. Relationships of unobservable inputs to fair value are as follows:

•	 The	higher	market	price	per	square	feet,	the	higher	fair	value;

•	 The	higher	market	price	per	car	park	space,	the	higher	fair	value;

As at 31 December 2022, management assessed whether an impairment loss recognised in prior periods might no 
longer exist or might have decreased and considered that there has been no major change in the estimates used to 
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised and there has been no major 
change in the estimated service potential of the asset.

During the year, approximately HK$3,190,000 (2021: approximately HK$1,862,000) was recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in relation to rental income from the investment properties. 
There was no direct operating expenses, including repairs and maintenance, arising from investment properties that 
generated rental income (2021: approximately HK$173,000). During the year, there were no direct operating expenses, 
including repairs and maintenance, arising from investment properties that did not generate rental income (2021: Nil).
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16. OTHER ASSETS
The amounts represent a golf club membership and an art work that are carried at cost less amortisation.

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Cost of interests in associates, unlisted 129,751 129,751
Share of post-acquisition results, net of dividend (57,935) (62,216)
Less: Impairment loss recognised (4,409) (8,803)
Exchange realignment 4,261 9,702
   

71,668 68,434
   

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group has interests in the following associates:

Name of the entity
Form of 
business structure

Place of
establishment
and principal 
place of 
business Paid up registered capital

Equity interest 
attributable to

the Group Principal activity

2022 2021 2022 2021
% %        

中化天津港石化倉儲有限公司

 Sinochem Port
Sino-foreign owned 
 enterprise

PRC RMB628,060,000 RMB628,060,000 15 
(note)

15 
(note)

Provision of crude oil 
 and petrochemicals 
 storage services

天津港中化石化碼頭有限公司

 Tianjin Port Sinochem Petrochemical 
 Dock Co., Ltd. (“Tianjin Port”)

Sino-foreign owned 
 enterprise

PRC RMB139,388,000 RMB139,388,000 15 
(note)

15 
(note)

Development and 
 operation of dock 
 and related ancillary 
 facilities

note: The Group is able to exercise significant influence over Sinochem Port and Tianjin Port because it has the power to appoint one out of the five 

directors of these entities under the provisions stated in the articles of association of these entities.

Impairment assessment on the material associate
Sinochem Port

For the year ended 31 December 2022, in view of the improvement of results of Sinochem Port in the current year, the 
management of the Group carried out an impairment review on the carrying amount of its interest in Sinochem Port by 
comparing its recoverable amount with its carrying amount with the assistance of an independent qualified professional 
valuer engaged by the Group. The recoverable amount is determined using value-in-use calculation. In determining the 
value in use of Sinochem Port, the management of the Group estimated the proceeds on ultimate disposal of Sinochem 
Port based on the estimation of the present value of the future cash flows expected to arise from the operation of 
Sinochem Port. Key inputs used in the calculation include earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortisation 
(“EBITDA”) margin of 56% (2021: 54%), pre-tax discount rate of 14.7% (2021: 13.8%) and terminal growth rate of 
3% (2021: 3%).

As the recoverable amount of Sinochem Port exceeded its carrying amount as at 31 December 2022 and Sinochem Port 
has experienced recurring profits in the last three years, a reversal of impairment loss on interest in an associate of 
approximately HK$4,394,000 (2021: HK$6,723,000) was recognised for the year.



S T R O N G  P E T R O C H E M I C A L  H O L D I N G S  L I M I T E D   2 0 2 2  A N N U A L  R E P O R T 119

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
Summarised financial information of the material associate
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s material associate is set out below. The summarised 
financial information below represents amounts shown in the associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance 
with HKFRSs.

Sinochem Port

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Non-current assets 896,064 1,013,956
   

Current assets 53,529 60,281
   

Current liabilities (90,349) (79,925)
   

Non-current liabilities (381,456) (502,466)
   

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Revenue 239,315 266,768
   

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 28,537 52,991
   

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in 
Sinochem Port recognised in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Net assets of Sinochem Port 477,788 491,846
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in Sinochem Port 15% 15%
   

The Group’s share of net assets in Sinochem Port 71,668 73,777
Less: Impairment losses recognised – (4,394)
Exchange realignment – (949)
   

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in Sinochem Port 71,668 68,434
   

The Group’s share of results of Sinochem Port for the year 4,281 7,949
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
Aggregate information of associate that is not individually material

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

The Group’s share of results of this associate for the year – –
   

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s interest in this associate – –
   

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements.

18. INVENTORIES
At 31 December 2022, the amounts mainly related to petrochemicals held for resale purposes. All inventories were sold 
subsequent to 31 December 2022.

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
A. Trade Receivables

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Trade receivables
 — contracts with customers (note) 348,411 542,787
 — lease receivables 379 –
   

348,790 542,787
   

Classified as:
 Non-current assets 119,931 310,354
 Current assets 228,859 232,433
   

348,790 542,787
   

note: At 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, all trade receivables were at amortised cost.
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 
(CONTINUED)
A. Trade Receivables (continued)

The Group allows credit periods of 30 to 90 days to its customers from the trading business and 5 to 30 days to 
its customers from the storage business.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables based on the invoice dates or goods delivery dates which 
approximated the revenue recognition dates at the end of the reporting period:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

0 to 30 days 5,399 1,716
Over 365 days 343,391 541,071
   

348,790 542,787
   

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group initiated legal proceedings to recover its outstanding debts 
from one of its customers. On 21 December 2020, Dongying Intermediate People’s Court of Shandong Province 
of the People’s Republic of China (中華人民共和國山東省東營市中級人民法院) considered the overdue sum as a 
breach of contract and that the customer has to bear the payment responsibility and compensate the economic 
loss to the Group.

On 8 December 2021, the customer and the Group entered into a debt renegotiation plan, which stipulated, 
amongst others, a monthly repayment schedule, the outstanding interest amount up to the latest practicable date 
of approximately HK$6,753,000, which is expected to be paid at the end of 2024, and a 3.85% per annum 
interest charge on the total outstanding amount henceforth. In accordance with the repayment schedule, 
monthly repayments will be made from 2022 to 2024. Since the modified contractual cash flows included 
additional interest confirmed by both parties as at 8 December 2021, being the debt modification date, a gain on 
debt modification of approximately HK$26,747,000 was recognised in other gains and losses for the year ended 
31 December 2021.

On 29 December 2022, the Group entered into a supplemental modification agreement with the customer to 
agree a revised repayment schedule, as detailed in the below, with no changes in other key terms. In accordance 
with the revised repayment schedule, repayments of principal amount shall be partially made in 2023 and the 
remaining principal amount shall be fully repaid by the end of June 2024; repayment of accumulated interest 
shall be made by the end of December 2024. Since the revised total contractual repayment amount included 
additional interest as a result of partial deferral of more principal payments to the later period, a gain on debt 
modification, being the difference of the carrying amount as at the date of supplemental modification agreement 
and the present value of revised contractual cashflow that are discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate, of approximately HK$11,353,000 was recognised in other gains and losses for the year ended 31 
December 2022.

The debt modifications represented one of the major non-cash transactions of the Group for the years ended 31 
December 2022 and 31 December 2021. 
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 
(CONTINUED)
A. Trade Receivables (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, interest income from trade receivables accrued under the effective 
interest method of approximately HK$28,901,000 (2021: approximately HK$2,378,000) was recognised in other 
income.

Details of impairment assessment and loss allowance account in respect of trade receivables at amortised cost are 
set out in Note 34.

B. Other receivables, deposits and prepayments
2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Prepayment to suppliers for purchases of petroleum products and  
 petrochemicals 12,410 7,623
Prepayments and deposits related to time chartering – 14,982
Value-added tax recoverables 5,549 2,138
Other receivables (note) 2,945 20,857
Other deposits 554 845
Other prepayments 2,202 1,844
   

23,660 48,289
   

Classified as:
 Non-current assets 533 214
 Current assets 23,127 48,075
   

23,660 48,289
   

note: The other receivables mainly comprise receivable from rent receivable (2021: joint operation and rent receivable).

These balances were expected to be realised within one year from the end of the reporting period.

Details of the impairment assessment of other receivables and refundable deposit are set out in Note 34.
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Non-current assets
 — Unlisted equity investment 152,564 197,485

Current assets
 — Listed securities held for trading 338 417
   

152,902 197,902
   

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

(Loss)/gain on financial assets at FVTPL, net:
 Dividend income from unlisted equity investment 27,300 –
 (Loss)/gain on fair value change in unlisted equity investment (44,921) 2,485
 Loss on fair value change in listed securities held for trading (79) (816)
   

(17,700) 1,669
   

Unlisted equity investment
On 31 August 2020, the Group subscribed for 2.5 million Class A Shares in SH Energy Fund 1 (“SH Energy”). SH Energy 
is an exempted company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 14 July 2020. The 
cost of such investment is US$25,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$195,000,000). As at 31 December 2021, 
unpaid amount of US$3,500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$27,300,000) was included in other payable (Note 
23B). During the year ended 31 December 2022, the amount was settled through the declaration of dividend by SH 
Energy of the same amount which was one of the major non-cash transactions of the Group for the year ended 31 
December 2022.

Fair value measurement of the Group’s investment in SH Energy is classified as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. For 
the year ended 31 December 2022, the management of the Group assessed the fair value of its investment in SH 
Energy with the assistance of an independent qualified professional valuer engaged by the Group. The fair value is 
determined using income approach calculation. In determining the fair value of its investment in SH Energy, the 
management of the Group estimated the proceeds on ultimate disposal of SH Energy based on the estimation of the 
present value of the future cash flows expected to arise from the dividends to be recovered from SH Energy. Details of 
the key unobservable inputs are disclosed on Note 33. Based on the fair value assessment, a fair value loss of 
approximately US$5,759,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$44,921,000) was recognised for the year ended 31 
December 2022 (2021: gain of approximately US$319,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,485,000)).
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)
Listed securities held for trading

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Listed securities held for trading:
 — Equity securities listed in Hong Kong 260 346
 — Equity securities listed outside Hong Kong 78 71
   

338 417
   

Fair value measurement of the Group’s investment in listed securities is classified as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy, 
as the fair value is based on quoted bid prices in active markets. For the year ended 31 December 2022, a fair value loss 
of approximately HK$79,000 (2021: approximately HK$816,000) was recognised for the year.

21. DEPOSITS PLACED WITH BROKERS AND PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT
The amounts represent margin deposits placed with brokers for trading derivative financial instruments. The amounts 
carry interest at variable interest rate of from 0.001% to 2.5% (2021: 0.001%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2022, bank deposit of approximately HK$26,598,000 was pledged for certain letter of credit facility 
provided by a bank (2021: Nil). The effective interest rate on pledged bank deposits was 0.001% per annum. The 
mature date is 26 January 2023.

22. BANK BALANCES AND CASH
Bank balances and cash comprise cash on hand, balances in savings and current accounts, and short-term bank 
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. As at 31 December 2022, the bank balances and cash of 
approximately HK$143,129,000 (2021: approximately HK$92,978,000) are denominated in RMB which is not freely 
convertible into other currencies.

Balances in savings account and short-term bank deposits carry effective interest at prevailing market rates ranging 
from 0.001% to 4.34% (2021: 0.001% to 0.50%) per annum.

23. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES
A. Trade payables

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Trade payables at amortised cost 38,855 –
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23. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES (CONTINUED)
A. Trade payables (continued)

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoice dates or goods receipt dates at the end 
of the reporting period:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

0 to 30 days 38,855 –
   

The credit period granted by suppliers on purchase of goods is normally 30 to 90 days.

B. Other payables and accrued charges
2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Accrued demurrage charges 3,879 4,046
Payable for agency costs arising from a joint operation – 7,411
Payable related to time chartering, net (note (ii)) – 31,832
Payables for purchases and construction of property, plant and equipment 7,672 2,902
Payable for an unlisted equity investment (Note 20) – 27,300
Other accrued charges (note (i)) 14,349 24,933
Other payables and deposits received 9,542 7,986
   

35,442 106,410
   

notes:

(i) Other accrued charges mainly comprise accrued bank charges for letter of credit facilities, port charges, salaries and bonus and legal and 

professional fee.

(ii) Payables related to time chartering as at 31 December 2021 mainly comprised short-term rental and other operating expenses paid on 

behalf of the Group by the agent, net of receivables collected on behalf of the Group by the agent.  During the year ended 31 December 

2022, the amount was settled on a net basis.

24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Trading of commodities 1,536 995
Storage related ancillary services for petroleum products and petrochemicals 542 761
   

2,078 1,756
   

Contract liabilities represent prepayments received from the customers prior to delivery of goods and provision of 
services. The Group has no particular policy on the amounts to be received prior to the delivery of goods and provision 
of services and it is negotiated with customers on contract by contract basis. The contract liabilities recognised at the 
end of each reporting period are normally recognised as revenue in the following financial reporting period.
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25. LEASES
The Group as a lessee
Right-of-use assets

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Carrying amount
 — Leasehold land 62,416 69,657
 — Leased properties 4,424 1,559
   

66,840 71,216
   

Depreciation provided:
 — Leasehold land 1,387 1,530
 — Leased properties 2,805 2,720
   

4,192 4,250
   

Expenses relating to short term leases (note (i)) 11,111 42,322
Total cash outflow for leases (note (ii)) 47,978 11,117

Additions to right-of-use assets:
 — Leasehold land – 3,134
 — Leased properties 5,670 1,714
   

5,670 4,848
   

note:

(i) Approximately HK$10,702,000 (2021: approximately HK$41,949,000) were short term leases in relation to a vessel for the time chartering 
operations.

(ii) No short term lease payments were paid on behalf of the Group by its agent operating the vessel for the time chartering (2021: approximately 
HK$33,998,000). The amount is included in the net payable related to time chartering under other payables. For details, please refer to Note 23B.

The Group owns several buildings, where its storage facilities are primarily located, and office buildings. The Group is 
the registered owner of these property interests, including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were 
made upfront to acquire these property interests. The leasehold land components of these owned properties are 
presented separately only if the payments made can be allocated reliably.

In addition, the Group leased various offices for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for a fixed term of 1 
year to 2 years. The Group may extend the lease beyond the initial agreed period but it is subject to mutual agreement 
between the Group and the property owner. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide 
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable 
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

Details of the impairment assessment on leasehold land related to the Fujian Plant is further disclosed in Note 14.

There were no impairment indicators for the remaining right-of-use assets held by the Group as at 31 December 2022 
and 31 December 2021. 
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25. LEASES (CONTINUED)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

Future lease payments are due as follows:

Future lease 
payments Interest

Present 
value

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

As at 31 December 2022
Within one year 2,936 96 2,840
After one year but within two years 1,712 38 1,674
After two years but within five years – – –
After five years – – –
    

4,648 134 4,514
    

As at 31 December 2021
Within one year 1,394 34 1,360
After one year but within two years 224 1 223
After two years but within five years – – –
After five years – – –
    

1,618 35 1,583
    

The present value of future lease payments are analysed as:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Current 2,840 1,360
Non-current 1,674 223
   

4,514 1,583
   

Reconciliation of lease liabilities is set out in Note 38.

The Group as a lessor
Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Within one year 5,225 17,954
In the second year 1,770 3,600
In the third year – 1,770
   

6,995 23,324
   

Minimum lease payments receivable includes rental income from investment properties of approximately HK$5,370,000 
(2021: approximately HK$8,970,000) for the period from 1 January 2023 to 27 June 2024 (2021: 1 January 2022 to 27 
June 2024).
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26. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

The carrying amount of derivative financial instruments is presented as:
 Current assets 613 59,980
 Current liabilities 514 78,054
   

The Group has the following outstanding net-settled futures, swaps and options contracts.

The major terms of these contracts are as follows:

At 31 December 2022

Notional amount Maturity date Strike prices
   

Brent futures contracts — Long position:
US$2,581,800

31 January 2023 to 
 28 February 2023

US$82.93 to US$83.47 per barrel

Brent futures contracts — Short position:
US$2,594,500

31 January 2023 to
 28 February 2023

US$83.36 to US$84.21 per barrel
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26. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
At 31 December 2021

Notional amount Maturity date Strike prices
   

Brent futures contracts — Long position:
US$1,570,800

31 January 2022 US$78.42 to US$78.68 per barrel

Brent futures contracts — Short position:
US$1,581,030

31 January 2022 US$79.02 to US$79.09 per barrel

WTI options contracts — Long position:
US$80,220

17 May 2022 US$2.66 to US$2.68 per barrel

WTI options contracts — Short position:
US$80,340

17 May 2022 US$2.63 to US$2.72 per barrel

Propane ARGUS futures contracts — Long position:
US$16,595,000

31 December 2021* US$591.00 to US$654.00 per ton

Propane ARGUS futures contracts — Short position:
US$33,826,300

31 December 2021* US$622.95 to US$740.00 per ton

Propane OPIS futures contracts — Long position:
US$16,645,650

31 December 2021* to
 31 January 2022

US$0.95 to US$1.16 per ton

Propane OPIS futures contracts — Short position:
US$11,656,260

31 December 2021* to
 31 January 2022

US$0.81 to US$1.53 per ton

Propane different futures contracts
 — Short position:
US$257,500

31 January 2022 US$51.50 per ton

Propane Saudi futures contracts — Long position:
US$827,000

31 January 2022 US$827.00 per ton

Propane ARGUS swap contracts — Long position:
US$44,467,840

31 December 2021* to
 31 January 2022

US$588.00 to US$919.63 per ton

Propane ARGUS swap contracts — Short position:
US$31,707,320

31 December 2021* to
 31 January 2022

US$487.00 to US$850.00 per ton

Fuel oil futures contracts — Long position:
US$5,800,650

31 December 2021* US$144.78 to US$581.01 per ton



S T R O N G  P E T R O C H E M I C A L  H O L D I N G S  L I M I T E D   2 0 2 2  A N N U A L  R E P O R T130

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Notional amount Maturity date Strike prices
   

Fuel oil futures contracts — Short position:
US$3,264,750

31 December 2021* US$32.75 to US$130.81 per ton

Fuel oil different futures contracts
 — Long position:
-US$209,500

31 December 2021* -US$11.00 to -US$10.00 per ton

Fuel oil different futures contracts
 — Short position:
-US$777,000

31 December 2021* -US$100.00 to -US$14.00 per ton

Gasoil futures contracts — Short position:
US$3,322,600

31 December 2021* US$89.80 per barrel

* The settlement date of these contracts was 3 January 2022.

The fair values of the derivative financial instruments are estimated based on the difference between the contracted 
strike prices and prevailing futures, swaps and options prices or published oil indexes at the end of the reporting period. 
Such prevailing futures, swaps and options prices or published oil indexes are derived from the relevant futures 
exchanges or oil prices publication as specified in the contracts.

Changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments for the year recognised in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income mainly represent the changes in fair value of all settled and unsettled trading 
futures contracts in relation to crude oil, petroleum products and liquified petroleum gas, swap contracts in relation to 
liquified petroleum gas and options contracts in relation to crude oil.

26. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
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27. DEFERRED TAX
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has estimated tax losses of approximately HK$84,872,000 (2021: 
approximately HK$56,041,000) available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised 
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams of respective entities of the Group. Included in the unrecognised tax 
losses are losses of approximately HK$3,145,000 (2021: approximately HK$4,386,000) that will expire by 2027 (2021: 
2026). Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries 
from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation in respect of temporary differences attributable to retained profits of 
the PRC subsidiaries amounting to approximately HK$14,684,000 (2021: approximately HK$22,033,000) has not been 
provided for in the consolidated financial statements as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.

Except for the above, the Group had no material unrecognised deferred tax liabilities or assets to 31 December 2022 
and 31 December 2021.

28. SHARE CAPITAL
Number of 

shares Amount
HK$’000

   

Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each

Authorised:

At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022 4,000,000,000 100,000
   

Issued and fully paid:

At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022 2,123,364,090 53,084
   

None of the Company’s subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the 
year.

The new shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all respects.
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29. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY
Disposal of Nanjing Smart Team Petrochemical Limited
On 23 July 2021, the Group disposed of its entire equity interest (i.e. 51%) in Nanjing Smart Team Petrochemical 
Limited (“Nanjing Smart Team”).

The net assets of Nanjing Smart Team at the date of disposal were as follows: 

At 
23 July 

2021
HK$’000

  

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 1,313
Bank balances 3
Other payables and accrued charges (277)
  

Net assets disposed of 1,039

Non-controlling interests (509)

Reclassification of cumulative translation reserve 43
  

573

Loss on disposal (573)
  

Total consideration –
  

Net cash outflow arising on disposal:

 Bank balances disposed of (3)
  

(3)
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30. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) under the rules and regulations of the 
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all its employees in Hong Kong. All the employees of the Group in 
Hong Kong are required to join the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ 
salaries and are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as they 
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately 
from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the 
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution 
payable in the future years at the end of the reporting period.

The Group’s subsidiary operating in Macao, in compliance with the applicable regulations of Macao, participated in a 
defined contribution pension scheme operated by the local government. The subsidiary is required to contribute a fixed 
amount for each employee. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the pension scheme is to make the 
specified contributions.

The Group’s subsidiaries operating in the PRC, in compliance with the applicable regulations of the PRC, participated in 
central pension schemes operated by the relevant local government authorities. The contribution is borne by the Group 
on a fixed percentage of the employees’ salaries.

The Group’s subsidiary operating in Singapore, in compliance with the applicable regulations of Singapore, participated 
in a defined contribution scheme operated by the local government. The subsidiary is required to contribute an amount 
based on the employees’ salaries.

During the year, the total amount contributed by the Group to these schemes and cost charged represents contribution 
paid or payable to these schemes by the Group at rates or amount specified in the rules of these schemes. The amount 
of contributions made by the Group in respect of retirement benefit schemes during the year is disclosed in Note 10.

The Group has no significant obligation apart from the contribution as above at the end of the reporting period.
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31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
Equity-settled share option schemes
The share option scheme was adopted by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders at annual general meeting of the 
Company on 15 May 2014 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme constitutes a share option scheme 
governed by Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and will remain in force for 10 years from 15 May 2014.

Share Option Scheme

Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may, in its absolute discretion, offer to grant options to any employee, 
executive and officer of the Group, any director (including non-executive director and independent non-executive 
director) and any supplier, agent, customer, distributor, business associate or partner, professional, adviser, consultant 
or contractor, and any shareholder of any member of the Group whom the Board considered have contributed or will 
contribute to the Group.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which the options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme must 
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue at the date of approval of the Share Option 
Scheme. The number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be 
exercised at any time under the Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 30% of the shares in issue of the Company from 
time to time.

The total number of shares issued and which fall to be issued upon the exercise of the options granted under the Share 
Option Scheme (including both exercised and outstanding options) to any individual in any 12-month period up to the 
date of offer to grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of offer to grant. Any 
further grant of options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to issuance of a circular by the Company and 
approval by the Company’s shareholders in accordance with the Share Option Scheme. Options granted to connected 
persons in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved 
in advance by the Company’s shareholders.

Subject to the rules of the Share Option Scheme, options may be exercised, in whole or in part, at any time during the 
period from the date of acceptance of an offer of the grant of such option to the earlier of the date on which such 
option lapses and the tenth anniversary of the Share Option Scheme. Options granted must be accepted by the 
prescribed acceptance date. Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HK$1 to the Company by way of 
consideration for the grant.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the Company, and will not be less than the higher of the nominal 
value of the share, the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer; and the average closing price of the 
shares for the five business days immediately preceding the date of offer.

On 5 September 2014, a total of 138,000,000 share options were granted to certain independent advisers under the 
Share Option Scheme entitling the holders thereof to subscribe for shares of the Company at an exercise price of 
HK$0.78. The share options granted on 5 September 2014 were fully vested upon the date of grant and are exercisable 
during the period from 6 September 2014 to 14 May 2024. The estimated fair values of the share options and each 
share option at the date of grant were HK$41,372,000 and HK$0.2998, respectively.
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31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share option schemes (continued)

Share Option Scheme (continued)

As the fair value of advisory services provided by the advisers cannot be measured reliably, the fair value of the share 
options was determined using the Black-Scholes pricing model. Where relevant, the expected life used in the model 
had been adjusted based on management’s best estimate for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions 
(including the probability of meeting market conditions attached to the share option), and behavioural considerations. 
Expected volatility was based on the historical share price volatility over the past six years upon the listing of the 
Company’s shares on the HKEx. The risk-free interest rate was based on 9.69 years yield of Hong Kong Sovereign Curve 
at the date of grant.

The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value of the share options were based on the best estimate 
of the directors of the Company. The value of an option varied with different variables of certain subjective 
assumptions.

The following table discloses the Company’s share options held by other eligible participants at the end of the reporting 
period:

Share Option Scheme

Eligible participants

Outstanding at
31 December 

2021 and 
31 December 

2022
  

Others (note) 138,000,000
  

note: Others represented advisers who had provided advisory services (mainly for business opportunity for trading of crude oil) to the Group.

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, all share options under the Share Option Scheme were exercisable. 
No share options under the Share Option Scheme were exercised during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 
December 2021.

As at 31 December 2022, the number of shares of the Company in respect of which share options had been granted 
and remained outstanding under the Share Option Scheme is 138,000,000 (2021: 138,000,000), representing 6.5% 
(2021: 6.5%) of the shares of the Company in issue at that date.
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32. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall 
strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents, and equity attributable to owners of the 
Company, comprising share capital, share premium, retained profits and other reserves as disclosed in the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity. The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a continuous basis. As at 
31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the Group had no bank and other borrowings.

33. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY  
The following table shows the carrying amount and fair value of financial assets and liabilities:

31 December 2022

Notes

Financial 
assets 

at FVTPL

Financial 
assets at 

amortised cost
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Financial assets
Trade receivables 19
 Contracts with customers – 348,790
Other receivables and deposits 19 – 3,499
Deposits placed with brokers 21 – 123,219
Pledged bank deposit 21 – 26,598
Bank balances and cash 22 – 287,962
Financial assets at FVTPL 20
 Unlisted equity investment 152,564 –
 Listed securities held for trading 338 –
Derivative financial instruments 26 613 –
    

153,515 790,068
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33. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY 
(CONTINUED)

31 December 2022

Notes

Financial 
liabilities at 

FVTPL

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Financial liabilities
Trade payables 23 – 38,855
Other payables 23 – 17,214
Lease liabilities 25 – 4,514
Derivative financial instruments 26 514 –
    

514 60,583
    

31 December 2021

Notes

Financial 
assets 

at FVTPL

Financial 
assets at 

amortised cost
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Financial assets
Trade receivables 19
 Contracts with customers – 542,787
Other receivables and deposits 19 – 35,811
Deposits placed with brokers 21 – 176,302
Bank balances and cash 22 – 158,152
Financial assets at FVTPL 20
 Unlisted equity investment 197,485 –
 Listed securities held for trading 417 –
Derivative financial instruments 26 59,980 –
    

257,882 913,052
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33. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY 
(CONTINUED)

31 December 2021

Notes

Financial 
liabilities at 

FVTPL

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Financial liabilities
Other payables 23 – 77,431
Lease liabilities 25 – 1,583
Derivative financial instruments 26 78,054 –
    

78,054 79,014
    

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
This note provides information about how the Group determines fair values of various financial assets and financial 
liabilities.

(a) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis

The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets and financial liabilities 
are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and key input(s) used).

Reconciliation for financial instruments carried at fair value based on significant unobservable inputs (level 3) is as 
follows:

Unlisted equity investment

Financial
assets

at FVTPL
HK$’000

  

At 1 January 2021 195,000
Change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL 2,485
  

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 197,485
Change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL (44,921)
  

At 31 December 2022 152,564
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33. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY 
(CONTINUED)
Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

(a) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis (continued)

Fair value hierarchy at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021

At 31 December 2022
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(note (i)) (note (iii))

     

Financial assets

Financial assets at FVTPL
 Unlisted equity investment – – 152,564 152,564
 Derivative financial instruments (note(ii)) – 613 – 613
 Listed securities held for trading 338 – – 338
     

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
 Derivative financial instruments (note(ii)) – 514 – 514
     

At 31 December 2021
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(note (i)) (note (iii))

     

Financial assets

Financial assets at FVTPL
 Unlisted equity investment – – 197,485 197,485
 Derivative financial instruments (note(ii)) – 59,980 – 59,980
 Listed securities held for trading 417 – – 417
     

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
 Derivative financial instruments (note(ii)) – 78,054 – 78,054
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33. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY 
(CONTINUED)
Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

(a) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis (continued)

Fair value hierarchy at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 (continued)

notes:

(i) Quoted bid prices in active markets.

(ii) Difference between the contracted strike prices and prevailing futures, swap and options prices or published indexes. Such prevailing 

futures, swap and options prices or published indexes are derived from the relevant futures exchanges or prices publication as specified in 

the contracts.

(iii) The underlying investment in SH Energy is an oil reserve in the PRC. The fair value valuation has adopted certain key assumptions provided 
by management of the Group, including, but not limited to, the validity of the cash flow projection. Other key inputs used in the valuation 
include average EBITDA margin of 66% (2021: 64%), pre-tax discount rate of 18.6% (2021: 21.4%), discount for lack of marketability of 
15.8% (2021: 15.8%) and discount for lack of control of 15.5% (2021: 16.7%).

There were no transfers among Level 1, 2 and 3 during the year.

(b) Fair values of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value on 
a recurring basis

The management of the Group considered that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities 
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
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33. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY 
(CONTINUED)
Financial assets and financial liabilities subject to offsetting enforceable master netting arrangements 
and similar agreements
The disclosures set out in the tables below include financial assets and financial liabilities that are subject to an 
enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement that covers similar financial instruments, irrespective of 
whether they are offset in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position.

The amounts recognised for the derivative financial assets, derivative financial liabilities and deposits placed with 
brokers in relation to futures, swap and options contracts do not meet the criteria for offsetting in the Group’s 
consolidated statement of financial position since the right of set-off of the recognised amounts is only enforceable 
upon an event of default.

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

financial assets 
(liabilities) set-off 

in the consolidated 

Net amounts 
of financial assets 

(liabilities) 
presented in the 

consolidated 

Related amounts not set off
in the consolidated statement

of financial position
financial assets statement of statement of Financial

(liabilities) financial position financial position instruments Cash collateral Net amount
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

At 31 December 2022

Financial assets
Deposits placed with brokers 123,219 – 123,219 (514) – 122,705
Derivative financial instruments
 — futures contracts 613 – 613 – – 613       

Total 123,832 – 123,832 (514) – 123,318
       

Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
 — futures contracts (514) – (514) 514 – –       

Total (514) – (514) 514 – –
       

At 31 December 2021

Financial assets
Deposits placed with brokers 176,302 – 176,302 (78,054) – 98,248
Derivative financial instruments
 — futures, swap and options contracts 59,980 – 59,980 – – 59,980       

Total 236,282 – 236,282 (78,054) – 158,228
       

Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
 — futures, swap and options contracts (78,054) – (78,054) 78,054 – –       

Total (78,054) – (78,054) 78,054 – –
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. These 
risks are limited by the Group’s financial management policies and practices described below. 

Market risks
Interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk primarily relates to its variable-rate deposits placed with brokers, pledged bank 
deposit and bank balances, as set out in Notes 21 and 22 respectively. The Group manages the interest rate exposure 
based on the interest rate level as well as potential impact on the Group’s results arising from volatility of the interest 
rate. The management of the Group monitors interest rate exposure and will consider other necessary actions when 
significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank 
balances, pledged bank deposit and deposits placed with brokers and at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is 
prepared assuming the amount of bank balances, pledged bank deposit and deposits placed with brokers outstanding 
at the end of the reporting period are outstanding for the whole year. A 10 (2021: 10) basis points increase or decrease 
is used for bank balances, pledged bank deposit and deposits placed with brokers which represents assessment of 
reasonably possible changes in interest rates by the management of the Group.

For bank balances, pledged bank deposit and deposits placed with brokers, if the interest rate increases/decrease by 10 
(2021: 10) basis points and all other variables are held constant, the Group’s profit for the year would increase/decrease 
by approximately HK$438,000 (2021: profit for the year would increase/decrease by approximately HK$334,000).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent interest rate 
risk as exposure at the end of the reporting period does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Currency risk

The companies of the Group had no material foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at 
the end of the reporting period.

The majority of the Group’s sales and purchases are denominated in the functional currency of the Group. Occasionally, 
some purchases are denominated in foreign currencies.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management of the Group 
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need 
arise.

For entities with US$ as functional currency holding monetary assets denominated in HK$ or vice versa, the directors of 
the Company consider that, as HK$ is pegged to US$, the Group is not subject to significant foreign currency risk from 
change in foreign exchange rate of HK$ against US$ and vice versa.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Market risks (continued)

Other price risks

(i) Oil price risk

The Group enters into derivative contracts for hedging and proprietary trading activities, including futures in both 
over-the-counter and different exchanges, in accordance with the respective risk management policies of the 
Group. Derivative transactions entered into for risk management purpose will be monitored for suitability in terms 
of size with reference to the corresponding inventory held/shipment involved. Under the risk management policy, 
the open derivative positions are limited and monitored by different risk tolerance thresholds, including a size 
threshold for the equivalent physical cargo quantities, a sensitivity threshold based on absolute monetary amount, 
and a group threshold on net current assets. The management of the Group closely monitors the oil price trend 
in the market and other sources and its inventory position. Based on the oil price analysis and expected trading 
period, the management of the Group reduces the risk exposure by entering the long and short position of 
respective derivative financial instruments.

The Group’s derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value provided by financial institutions with 
reference to the quoted crude oil futures prices, oil indexes or oil prices publication as specified in the contract.

Therefore, the Group is primarily exposed to oil price risk and the management of the Group monitors the price 
movements and takes appropriate actions when it is required.

Sensitivity analysis
In relation to derivative financial instruments, if the referenced oil prices/indexes have been 10% higher/lower and 
all other variables are held constant, the Group’s profit for the year would remain unchanged (2021: profit would 
decrease/increase by approximately HK$1,446,000). The sensitivity rate of 10% represents assessment of the 
reasonably possible change in the referenced oil prices/indexes by the management of the Group.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent risk of 
the oil prices/indexes as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Market risks (continued)

Other price risks (continued)

(ii) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments in equity securities measured at FVTPL. As at 31 
December 2022, the Group’s equity price risk is mainly concentrated on equity investments in listed entities 
operating in oil and gas industry and other industries. The shares of listed entities are quoted in the HKEx and 
New York Stock Exchange (2021: the HKEx and New York Stock Exchange).

The Group’s objective is to earn relatively competitive returns by investing in a diverse portfolio of high quality 
and liquid securities.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to equity price risk at the end of the reporting 
period. If the market prices of the equity securities have been 10% higher/lower and all other variables are held 
constant, the Group’s profit for the year would increase/decrease by approximately HK$34,000 (2021: profit for 
the year would increase/decrease by approximately HK$42,000).

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent risk of 
the equity price as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Liquidity risk
In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed 
adequate by the management of the Group to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations 
in cash flows.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had available unutilised short-term bank loan facilities of US$38,000,000 
(equivalent to approximately HK$296,400,000) and RMB17,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$19,031,000). As 
at 31 December 2021, the Group had available unutilised short-term bank loan facilities of US$3,000,000 (equivalent 
to approximately HK$23,400,000) and RMB17,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$20,793,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturities for its financial liabilities based on the agreed 
repayment dates. For non-derivative liabilities, the table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of 
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both 
interest and principal cash flows. For derivative financial instruments settled on a net basis, undiscounted contractual 
net cash outflow are presented. The liquidity analysis for the Group’s derivative financial instruments are prepared 
based on the contractual maturities as the management of the Group considers that the contracted maturities are 
essential for an understanding of the timing of the cash flows of derivative financial instruments.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk (continued)

To the extent that interests are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the end of the 
reporting period.

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate

On demand 
or less than 

1 year
Over 

1 year

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flows

Total 
carrying 
amount

% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

At 31 December 2022
Non-derivative financial liabilities
 Trade payables N/A 38,855 – 38,855 38,855
 Other payables N/A 17,214 – 17,214 17,214
      

56,069 – 56,069 56,069
      

Lease liabilities 3.83 2,936 1,712 4,648 4,514
Derivative financial instruments
 Futures contracts N/A 514 – 514 514
      

At 31 December 2021
Non-derivative financial liabilities
 Other payables N/A 77,431 – 77,431 77,431
      

77,431 – 77,431 77,431
      

Lease liabilities 4.37 1,394 224 1,618 1,583
Derivative financial instruments
 Futures, options and swap contracts N/A 78,054 – 78,054 78,054
      

Credit risk and impairment assessment
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge 
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as 
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade and other receivables. The management of the Group has a 
credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination 
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover 
overdue debts. In addition, the management of the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual debt at 
the end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. To 
measure ECL of trade receivables at amortised cost, the Group applies internal credit rating for its customers and they 
are assessed individually by reference to past default experience, current past due exposure of the debtors and an 
analysis of the debtors’ current financial position.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on the trade receivables. As at 31 December 2022, approximately 98% 
(2021: approximately 100%) of the Group’s outstanding trade receivables arise from a customer, which the Group had 
instituted legal proceedings against. For details, please refer to Note 19. The five largest customers are mainly large and 
established trading companies and a property development company, which purchased coal and petrochemicals from 
the Group during the year. These companies are reputable with good financial backgrounds. The management of the 
Group closely monitors the subsequent settlement by the customers. At the same time, the management of the Group 
endeavoured to diversify and expand the customer base in order to mitigate the concentration of credit risk through 
establishing new business relationships with non state-owned licensed import agents and overseas oil trading 
companies.

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, significant trade receivables were past due and the management of 
the Group has performed assessment on the recoverability of the overdue debtor balances as follows:

Past due trade receivable balance

In November 2020, the Group instituted legal proceedings against a debtor in the PRC to claim for the outstanding 
balances of approximately US$83,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$647,647,000) (the “Outstanding Sum”) 
and applied for taking possession of the Debtor’s certain physical assets as collateral (the “Collateral”). The Group’s 
claim on the Outstanding Sum and its application for the Collateral were confirmed by Dongying Intermediate People’s 
Court of Shandong Province of the People’s Republic of China on 16 November 2020. Based on the decision of 
Dongying Intermediate People’s Court of Shandong Province of the People’s Republic of China, the Collateral held by 
the Group over the Outstanding Sum is deemed to have a market value not less than approximately RMB681,000,000 
(equivalent to approximately HK$808,000,000, with interests on the Outstanding Sum included). In addition to the 
Collateral, the Outstanding Sum is secured by certain equity interest in the Debtor (the “Share Charges”).

As detailed in Note 19, the Debtor and the Group entered into a debt repayment plan and supplemental modification 
agreement in 2021 and 2022, respectively. In addition to continuous repayments during 2022 in accordance with the 
debt repayment plan, subsequent to 31 December 2022, the Group has received subsequent settlements of principal 
amount of approximately US$7.3 million (equivalent to approximately HK$57.0 million), which is in line with the 
supplemental modification agreement.

Taking into account of the above-mentioned points, the management of the Group considers that the remaining 
outstanding balance is not credit-impaired at the end of the reporting period. 



S T R O N G  P E T R O C H E M I C A L  H O L D I N G S  L I M I T E D   2 0 2 2  A N N U A L  R E P O R T 147

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost

For other receivables (excluding prepayments), the management of the Group makes periodic individual assessments on 
the recoverability of other receivables and deposits based on historical settlement records, past experience, and also 
available reasonable and supportive forward-looking information. As at 31 December 2021, based on the assessment, 
management of the Group considered that certain other receivables of approximately HK$1,836,000 were credit-
impaired and there was no realistic prospect of recovery. Accordingly, the amounts were written off for the year ended 
31 December 2021. As at 31 December 2022, management of the Group considered that no material other receivables 
were credit-impaired.

The bank balances, pledged bank deposit and deposits placed with brokers are placed in various authorised financial 
institutions either with high credit ratings or good financial background and the management of the Group considered 
the credit risk of such authorised financial institutions is low.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following categories:

Internal credit rating Description
Trade receivables and
lease receivables

Other financial assets
at amortised cost

    

Low risk The counter party has a low risk of 
default. The balance has not past-due 
or has past-due but frequently repays 
after due dates and always settles in 
full.

Lifetime ECL (not 
credit-impaired)

12m ECL

Watch list The counterparty does not frequently 
repay after due dates but usually 
settle in full.

Lifetime ECL (not 
credit-impaired)

12m ECL

Doubtful There has been significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition 
through information developed 
internally or external sources.

Lifetime ECL (not 
credit-impaired)

Lifetime ECL (not 
credit-impaired)

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is 
credit-impaired.

Lifetime ECL (credit-
impaired)

Lifetime ECL (credit-
impaired)

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the 
debtor is in severe financial difficulty 
and the company has no realistic 
prospect of recovery.

Amount is written off Amount is written off
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Other financial assets at amortised costs (continued)

The following table shows the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial asset at amortised cost and lease receivables 
which are subject to ECL assessment:

2022 2021

Notes
External
credit rating

Internal
credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL

Gross carrying 
amounts

Gross carrying 
amounts

HK$’000 HK$’000
       

Financial assets at amortised cost

Trade receivables 19 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 348,790 542,787

Other receivables and deposits 19 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 1,487 20,398

Deposits placed with brokers 21 Aa1–Ba3 N/A 12m ECL 123,219 176,302

Pledged bank deposit 21 Aa1–Baa2 N/A 12m ECL 26,598 –

Bank balances 22 Aa1–Baa2 N/A 12m ECL 287,954 158,152

Other items

Deposits from time chartering 
 arrangement

19 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL (not-credit impaired) – 14,391

Rent receivable 19 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL (not-credit impaired) 2,012 1,022

(a) Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of other receivables is as follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

At 1 January – –
Impairment losses recognised – 1,836
Amounts written off – (1,836)
   

At 31 December – –
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Transactions

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group has the following transactions 
with its related parties during the year:

Name of related party Nature of transaction 2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Strong Property Limited (note (i)) Rental expenses 1,988 1,988
Mr. Wang Jian Sheng (note (ii)) Interest expense – 1,071
Mr. Yao Guoliang (note (ii)) Interest expense – 1,071
    

notes:

(i) Strong Property Limited is owned and controlled by one key management personnel of the Group.

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group entered into shareholder loan agreements with each of Mr. Wang Jian Sheng (“Mr.

Wang”) and Mr. Yao Guoliang (“Mr. Yao”), the controlling shareholders of the Company, pursuant to which each of Mr. Wang and Mr. 

Yao agreed to provide an unsecured term loan of HK$60.0 million, in aggregate of HK$120.0 million (the “Shareholder Loans”) to the 

Group in order to support its operating activities. The Group should repay the Shareholder Loans on 10 March 2021 or upon demand. 

Each of the Shareholder Loans bore an interest of 1-month HIBOR plus 1.75% per annum. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the 

Shareholder Loans were further extended to 10 December 2021. The Shareholder Loans were fully settled in December 2021. Mr. Wang 

Jian Sheng and Mr. Yao Guoliang are executive directors of the Company. 

(b) Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of directors of the Company and the other members of key management of the Group during 
the year are set out in Note 11.

The remuneration of key management personnel is determined by the directors of the Company having regard to 
the performance of individuals and market trends.

36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided in the consolidated financial 
 statements in respect of acquisition of property, plant and equipment 403,147 40,734
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37. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
The carrying amounts of assets that have been pledged as collaterals to secure certain banking facilities are as follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Pledged bank deposit 26,598 –
Right-of-use assets 15,256 17,140
   

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the lease assets that are held by 
the lessor and the relevant leased assets may not be used as securities for borrowing purposes.

38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The following table shows changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and 
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows 
will be, classified in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Interest
payable

Lease
liabilities Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(note) (Note 25)

    

At 1 January 2022 – 1,583 1,583

Changes from financing cash flows:
Repayment of lease liabilities – (2,775) (2,775)
Interest paid (3) (95) (98)
    

Total changes from financing cash flows (3) (2,870) (2,873)
    

Other changes:
Finance costs 3 95 98
New leases entered during the year – 5,670 5,670
Foreign exchange translation – 36 36
    

Total other changes 3 5,801 5,804
    

At 31 December 2022 – 4,514 4,514
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38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
(CONTINUED)

Interest
payable

Bank
and other

borrowings
Lease

liabilities Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note) (Note 25)
     

At 1 January 2021 – 140,198 2,581 142,779

Changes from financing cash flows:
Proceeds from bank and other borrowings – 20,407 – 20,407
Repayment of bank and other borrowings – (160,579) – (160,579)
Repayment of lease liabilities – – (2,704) (2,704)
Interest paid (2,704) – (89) (2,793)
     

Total changes from financing cash flows (2,704) (140,172) (2,793) (145,669)
     

Other changes:
Finance costs 2,703 – 89 2,792
New leases entered during the year – – 1,714 1,714
Foreign exchange translation 1 (26) (8) (33)
     

Total other changes 2,704 (26) 1,795 4,473
     

At 31 December 2021 – – 1,583 1,583
     

note: Interest payable is included in other payables.



S T R O N G  P E T R O C H E M I C A L  H O L D I N G S  L I M I T E D   2 0 2 2  A N N U A L  R E P O R T152

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of the financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as 
follows:

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Non-current assets
 Interests in subsidiaries 166,962 166,962
 Amounts due from subsidiaries 1,127,819 1,061,796
   

1,294,781 1,228,758
   

Current assets
 Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 2 360
 Deposits placed with a broker 154 154
 Bank balances and cash 99,675 13,420
   

99,831 13,934
   

Current liabilities
 Other payables and accrued charges 1,952 1,744
 Amounts due to subsidiaries 333,283 175,480
   

335,235 177,224
   

Net current liabilities (235,404) (163,290)
   

Net assets 1,059,377 1,065,468
   

Capital and reserves
 Share capital 53,084 53,084
 Reserves 1,006,293 1,012,384
   

Total equity 1,059,377 1,065,468
   

Movement in the Company’s reserves:

Share 
premium

Share-based 
payments 

reserve
Contribution 

surplus
Retained 

profits Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

At 1 January 2021 566,111 50,391 118,111 286,241 1,020,854
      

Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year – – – (8,470) (8,470)
      

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 566,111 50,391 118,111 277,771 1,012,384
      

Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year – – – (6,091) (6,091)
      

At 31 December 2021 566,111 50,391 118,111 271,680 1,006,293
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40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of entity

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment

Principal
place of
business

Equity interest 
and voting 

rights attributable 
to the Company

Issued and 
fully paid 

share capital/
registered capital Principal activity

2022 2021
% %       

Wide Sea International Limited 
 (“Wide Sea”)

British Virgin 
 Islands (“BVI”)

Hong Kong 100 100 US$2 Investment holding

Saint Ocean Investment Limited 
 (“Saint Ocean”)

BVI Hong Kong 100 100 US$2 Investment holding

Strong Petrochemical Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100 100 HK$20,000,000 Trading of crude oil, petroleum 
 products and petrochemicals

南通潤德石油化工有限公司# 
Strong Petrochemical (Nantong) 
 Logistics Co., Limited*

The PRC The PRC 100 100 US$12,500,000 Provision of petroleum products 
 and petrochemicals storage 
 services

Strong Petroleum Singapore Private Ltd. Singapore Singapore 100 100 Singapore Dollar 
1,000,000

Trading of crude oil, petroleum 
 products and coal

南通海峽國際貿易有限公司# 
Nantong Strong International Trading 
 Company Limited*

The PRC The PRC 100 100 US$5,000,000 Trading of petroleum products 
 and petrochemicals

淄博海峽匯能石油化工有限公司# 
Zibo Strong Huineng Petrochemical Limited*

The PRC The PRC 100 100 RMB10,000,000 Trading of petroleum products
 and petrochemicals

Copower Properties Investments 
 Company Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong 100 100 HK$10,000 Property investment

Strong New Energy Limited (Note 14) Hong Kong Hong Kong 60 – HK$200,000 Installation and maintenance
 service of solar energy systems

The above table lists the principal subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, 
principally affect the results and net assets of the Group. To give full details of subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the 
directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

All of the subsidiaries are owned indirectly by the Company except for Wide Sea and Saint Ocean which are owned 
directly by the Company.

* The English names of these entities established in the PRC are for identification purpose only.

# Wholly foreign owned enterprise registered in the PRC.
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40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at the end of the reporting period or at any time during the 
year.

The PRC subsidiaries maintained RMB denominated bank balances. The remittance of these funds out of the PRC is 
subject to exchange restriction imposed by the PRC government.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A majority 
of these subsidiaries operate in Hong Kong. The principal activities of these subsidiaries are either investment holding or 
inactive.

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the Group had no non-wholly owned subsidiary that had material 
non-controlling interest.

41. EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD
Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the Group has no material event after the end 
of the reporting period.
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